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About

JX Energy Ltd. (formerly Persta Resources Inc.) is a 
Calgary-based oil and gas exploration and development 
company focusing on liquids-rich gas and light crude 
oil in Western Canada with two core areas of operations 
comprising: Alberta Foothills liquids-rich natural gas 
properties and Peace River light oil properties
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FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS

JX Energy Ltd.
Annual Report 2022

Financial Highlights
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000 except per share and boe 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Production revenue 6,557 6,566 (0%) 26,802 21,480 25%
Net trading revenue (loss) 4 (12) 100% 152 (11) (1,469%)
Operating netback1 2,231 1,952 14% 9,461 4,423 114%
Income (loss) per share 

(basic and diluted) 0.02 — 423% (0.01) 0.01 (163%)
Daily average sales volumes 

(boe/d) 1,772 2,159 (18%) 1,847 2,268 (19%)

(1)	 Operating netback is defined as revenue less royalties, trading cost and operating costs. Operating netback is a non-IFRS financial measure. See 

“Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for further information.

Assets and Liabilities

As at December 31, 
C$ 000 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Total assets 52,399 52,982 44,667 59,064 103,582 
Total liabilities (43,721) (47,968) (39,506) (35,395) (35,521)

Total net assets 8,678 5,014 5,161 23,668 68,061 

Share capital 219,803 215,922 213,427 210,367 204,367 
Warrants 647 647 647 647 647 
Contributed surplus 5,886 2,524 358 74 —
Accumulated deficit (217,659) (214,079) (209,270) (187,419) (136,953)

Total equity 8,678 5,014 5,161 23,668 68,061 
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Selected Annual Information

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Average Daily Production
Natural gas (mcf/d) 10,042 12,416 13,341 10,465 12,521 
Crude oil (bbls/d) 66 77 45 80 75 
NGLs and condensate (bbls/d) 70 96 94 83 91 

Total production (boe/d) 1,810 2,243 2,363 1,907 2,208 

Average Daily Trading 
Natural gas (boe/d) 37 25 44 226 190 

Total Sales Volume (boe/d) 1,847 2,268 2,406 2,133 2,398 

Financial 
C$ 000s except share amounts
Production revenue 26,802 21,480 13,269 13,627 15,364 
Net trading revenue 152 (11) 9 630 661 
Royalties (4,669) (2,663) (751) (2,447) (1,164)
Operating costs (12,825) (14,383) (10,874) (7,593) (5,353)
Operating netback1 9,461 4,423 1,652 4,217 9,509 
Net income (loss) (3,579) (4,809) (21,851) (50,466) (7,279)
Net working capital2 (36,968) (22,740) (29,938) (26,646) (1,646)
Total assets 52,399 52,982 44,667 59,064 103,582 
Long term debt2 — (17,355) (1,886) (602) (23,064)
Capital expenditures3 6,173 8,623 1,932 1,315 5,415 
Income (loss) per share 

(basic and diluted) (0.01) (0.01) (0.07) (0.17) (0.03)

(1)	 Operating netback is defined as revenue less royalties, trading cost and operating costs. Operating netback is a non-IFRS financial measure. See 

“Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for further information.

(2)	 Net working capital consists of current assets less current liabilities. As at December 31, 2022, net working capital includes C$15 million of long 

term debt which was due in May 2023. As at December 31, 2020, and 2019, net working capital includes C$24 million of long term debt which has 

been reclassified as current, as the Company was not in compliance with certain covenants of its subordinated debt facility during the year. As at 

December 31, 2022, net working capital includes C$3 million of subordinated debt payments due in 2022. As at December 31, 2021, net working 

capital includes C$3 million shareholder debt which was set to mature in June and December 2022. Subsequent to year end, the shareholder debt 

was amended and the maturity dates were moved to 2024.

(3)	 Capital expenditures consist of total expenditures for property, plant and equipment plus exploration and evaluation assets, excluding changes in 

non-cash working capital.
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Reserves Summary
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Reserve Composition (%)

As at December 31, 2022 Total Mboe Natural Gas Other1

Gross Proved Reserves 4,906 94% 6%
Gross Proved plus Probable Reserves 6,608 94% 6%

Reserve Composition (%)

As at December 31, 2021 Total Mboe Natural Gas Other1

Gross Proved Reserves 5,092 94% 6%
Gross Proved plus Probable Reserves 6,937 94% 6%

(1)	 Other reserves are comprised of crude oil, condensate and natural gas liquids.

The reserves data provided in this annual report is based upon the report of GLJ effective December 31, 2022, with an 
execution date of March 7, 2023 (the “GLJ Report”). GLJ is an independently qualified reserves evaluator and auditor 
based in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. The estimate of Gross Proved and Probable Reserves as at December 31, 2022 
and 2021 assumes forecast prices and costs as at the execution date of the GLJ Report.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

JX Energy Ltd.
Annual Report 2022

2022 was a transformative year for JX Energy Ltd. (formerly Persta Resources Inc.). The global economy continued to 
recover from the COVID-19 pandemic and the uncertainty over the Ukrainian conflict resulted in commodity prices 
reaching record highs in the first half of the year. Although the price for gas in Western Canada fell in the second half of 
2022, it stabilized at over C$2.00/mcf.

However, the outbreak of the conflict in Ukraine led to emerging global concerns over oil and natural gas supply, 
resulting in higher and more volatile benchmark commodity prices. Additionally, this conflict has contributed to 
increased inflationary pressures on governments, businesses, and communities, with costs rising since 2021. In 
response to increasing inflation, central banks around the globe began increasing interest rates, which continued 
throughout 2022. The Company was largely insulated by the increase in interest rates due to its debt having a fixed 
interest rate. Still, pricing was impacted by inflationary pressures.

Strong commodity prices were reflected in the Company’s production revenues for the year ended December 31, 2022, 
totaling C$26.8 million, a 25% increase over 2021 production revenues of C$21.5 million.

In September 2022, we successfully drilled an exploration well in our Basing area and discovered natural gas reserves 
and preserve our land position. This well extended the Company’s existing land position of five sections in Basing. 
Subject to availability of capital, the Company intends to drill more wells and develop this area in the future.

During 2022, JX arranged three equity placings to issue a total of 62 million shares at HK$0.80, HK$1.00, and HK1.11 
per share for gross proceeds of HK$56.1 million (C$9.1 million). The first closings were completed in April and July 
2022 whereby 52 million shares were issued for gross proceeds of HK$45 million (C$7.2 million). The second and final 
closing of 10 million shares for gross proceeds of HK$11.1 million (C$1.88 million) is anticipated on or before April 30, 
2023.

The Company used a portion of the equity proceeds to repay C$5 million of debt, securing a lower interest rate of 10% 
and meeting its commitments under the amended debt agreement.

Looking ahead

On March 27, 2023, JX secured new term debt and repaid its existing debt of C$15 million. Total gross proceeds of 
USD$11.4 million, net of legal fees, from an independent third party and a shareholder loan were received. The new 
debt totaling USD$11.5 million bears interest of 9.25% per annum and is repayable in equal monthly payments over 48 
months. As the debt is in USD, the Company will be exposed to foreign exchange risk, and the Company is evaluating 
its options to manage this risk.

In 2023, we plan to leverage our assets in the Basing area to explore new low-risk drilling opportunities to boost the 
company’s production, subject to capital availability. We believe that the Company is well-positioned to achieve its high 
aims, thanks to our dedicated employees and the Board of Directors’ best illustration of the Company’s determination to 
succeed.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express our sincere appreciation to our valued employees, 
shareholders, and customers for their unwavering confidence in JX Energy Ltd. and their ongoing support in advancing 
our corporate initiatives. We aim to continuously reward our shareholders by sharing our results while keeping in mind 
our long- term development. To achieve the high aims we have set, the Company must have a global vision and 
capability with utmost professionalism and efficiency. Our dedicated team of employees and the Board of Directors are 
determined to drive JX Energy’s growth and success in the years to come.

Yongtan Liu
Chairman
Calgary, AB, Canada
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND 
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Below are the brief profiles of the Directors and senior management of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and the 
date of this annual report.

Directors

The Board currently consists of five Directors, comprised of two executive Directors and three independent non- 
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position
Date of Appointment

as Director

Executive Directors
Mr. Yongtan Liu 68 Chairman of the Board and executive Director December 2019
Mr. Pingzai Wang 56 Chief Executive Officer and executive Director July 2020

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Richard Dale Orman 74 Independent non-executive Director February 2016
Mr. Peter David Robertson 71 Independent non-executive Director February 2016
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 69  Independent non-executive Director December 2020

Executive Directors

Mr. Yongtan Liu, aged 68, is the executive Director, the Chairman of the Board, the Chairman of the Nomination 
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Liu was appointed to the Board on 
December 18, 2019.

Mr. Liu is currently the chairman of Changchun City Jixing Gas Service for Auto Co., Ltd (“CCJGSA”) in the People’s 
Republic of China (the “PRC”). Mr. Liu has more than 20 years of experience in the energy industry, and extensive 
experience in corporate development, corporate management, financial investment and project development. Mr. Liu 
established CCJGSA in 2002, aiming to build a new energy enterprise and maximize customers’ values through the 
development of green energy. Under the leadership of Mr. Liu, through a well-executed growth strategy and operation 
management, CCJGSA achieved rapid growth within the energy industry, particularly in the field of natural gas 
transportation pipeline, natural gas processing plants, natural gas compression and gas stations. Presently, CCJGSA is 
a sizeable natural gas service enterprise within the northeastern region of the PRC.



7
JX Energy Ltd.

Annual Report 2022

PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pingzai Wang (王平在), aged 56, was the Senior Vice President, Exploration in charge of exploration activities of 
the Company until his resignation in December 2019. On March 4, 2020, Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and on July 1, 2020, Mr. Wang was appointed to the Board as executive Director of 
the Company.

Mr. Wang joined the Company in October 2006 and served as Vice President, Exploration of the Company since April 
2008. Mr. Wang has been involved in natural gas and oil exploration projects since joining the Company.

Mr. Wang has over 31 years of experience in the natural gas and oil industry. He began his professional career in 
various oil and gas operations of China National Petroleum Corporation (“CNPC”) in 1988 and has been the Senior 
Engineer since 1998. Mr. Wang was the Geologist, Chief Geologist and Exploration Manager of Daqing Exploration 
Company of Daqing Oilfield Company Limited (大慶油田有限責任公司), a subsidiary of CNPC for the period from July 
1988 to June 2002. Mr. Wang is experienced in energy exploration activities and was involved in several major energy 
exploration and development projects, including oil and gas projects in Hailar Basin (Inner Mongolia, China), Tarim 
Basin (Xinjiang, China) and Indonesian projects (South Sumatra, Java and Irian Jaya, etc.) from 1988 to 2006 during his 
employment under CNPC. His expertise in exploration seismic interpretation and prospects generation through his 
experience in CNPC has contributed substantially to the growth of the Company.

Mr. Wang obtained his Bachelor of Engineering degree in Petroleum Geology from Daqing Petroleum Institute (大慶石油
學院) (now known as Northeast Petroleum University (東北石油大學)) in July 1988. Mr. Wang has been a Professional 
Geoscientist of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta (“APEGA”) since August 2013.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Honorable Mr. Richard Dale Orman, aged 74, is an independent non-executive Director, the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and Risk Committee of the Board. Mr. Orman is a Corporate 
Director and Principal of PLM Consultants Ltd, and Director of Spoke Resources Ltd..

Mr. Orman is an Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee of the Board. Mr. Orman is currently Acting Chief Executive Officer and Director of Surmont 
Energy Ltd. and Chairman of CannaPharmaRX (OTC-USA).

From 1986–1993, he was elected as Member of the Alberta Legislature and served as Minister of Energy in 1989–1992.

Mr. Orman has more than 41 years of experience in the oil and natural gas and petroleum industry. Between 1993 and 
2021 he served on a number of boards including Chairman and CEO of Kappa Energy Inc (TSXV), Director of Czar 
Resources Ltd. (TSE), Director of Independent Energy Ltd. (TSE), Director of Vanguard Oil Corp., Executive Vice 
Chairman and Director of Exceed Energy Inc. (TSX), Lead Director of Daylight Energy Ltd. (TSX), and Director of 
Sinopec Daylight Ltd. He is Principal of PLM Consultants Ltd., a Calgary based advisory services company established 
in 1981.

Mr. Orman obtained his Bachelor of Arts (Honors) from the Eastern Washington University in December 1971.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Peter David Robertson, aged 71, is an independent non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee of the Board. Mr. Robertson was appointed as the Lead Director 
of the Company effective as of December 18, 2019, focusing on best practice governance and serving as a bridge 
between the chair of Board and senior management.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Robertson worked at Pembina Pipeline Corporation, a company listed on the New 
York Stock Exchange and the Toronto Stock Exchange (NYSE: PBA, TSX: PPL), and its predecessors from 1985 to 
2014. From 1985 to 1991, Mr. Robertson was the Accounting Manager before he was promoted to Controller in 1991 
until 2000. From 2000 to 2013, Mr. Robertson was the Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. 
Robertson served as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 2013 to 2014.

Mr. Robertson graduated from Hermitage Academy, Helensburgh, Scotland in 1970, after which he entered into a 5 
year Chartered Accountant program at the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland. Mr. Robertson has been a 
Chartered Accountant of Scotland since November 1975 and a Chartered Accountant of Alberta since April 1980. He 
has been a holder of the Institute of Corporate Directors, Director designation in Canada since 2015.

Mr. Larry Grant Smith, aged 69, is an independent non-executive Director and member of the Remuneration, 
Nomination and Audit and Risk Committees of the Board.

Mr. Smith has substantial experience in the oil and gas industry in Western Canada, especially in drilling, completions, 
production operations and facility construction. Mr. Smith is currently an advisor to Crest Consultants Partnership, which 
provides project management, engineering and field supervision services to the petroleum industry in Alberta. Crest 
Consultants Partnership is a successor to Crest Energy Consultants Inc., a Calgary-based company Mr. Smith founded 
in 1989.

Mr. Smith has been a Professional Engineer of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Alberta 
(APEGA) since July 1979. Mr. Smith graduated from University of Wyoming, United States in May 1977 where he 
obtained a bachelor’s of science degree (honors) in petroleum engineering. Mr. Smith also obtained a diploma in 
petroleum technology from the Southern Alberta Institute of Technology, Canada in 1974.

senior management

The following table presents certain information concerning the senior management of our Company.

Name Age Year Joined Position

Mr. Pingzai Wang (王平在) 56 2006 Vice President, Exploration, appointed 
Chief Executive Officer on March 4, 2020

Mr. Binyou Dai (代斌友) 53 2009 Vice President, Engineering, appointed 
Chief Operating Officer on May 1, 2020

Ms. Tara Leray 44 2022 Chief Financial Officer, appointed joint Company 
secretary on August 15, 2022.

Mr. Pingzai Wang (王平在), aged 56, was the Senior Vice President, Exploration in charge of exploration activities of 
the Company until his resignation in December 2019. On March 4, 2020, Mr. Wang was appointed as the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and on July 1, 2020, Mr. Wang was appointed to the Board as executive Director of 
the Company.

Please see his biographical details in the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section.
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Mr. Binyou Dai (代斌友), aged 53, joined the Company in June 2009, was appointed as Vice President, Engineering on 
March 31, 2014, and was appointed Chief Operating Officer on May 1, 2020. Mr. Dai has over 29 years of experience in 
the natural gas and oil industry and has been involved in the natural gas and oil engineering and facilities development 
of the Company.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Dai worked as a mechanical engineer for Wood Group Mustang, an engineering, 
procurement and construction management company, and was involved in the engineering and design of oil and gas 
projects in Canada, from May 2005 to May 2009. Mr. Dai has worked at CNPC since 1992 and was a Senior Engineer 
since December 2003 to February 2005. Mr. Dai has been involved in the development and upgrading of oil and gas 
facilities from engineering, construction to commissioning and start-up, project management in various projects in 
Sudan, Kuwait and China during his time at CNPC.

Mr. Dai obtained his Bachelor of Engineering degree in Petroleum Engineering from Daqing Petroleum Institute (大慶石
油學院) (now known as Northeast Petroleum University (東北石油大學)) in July 1992 and his Masters of Engineering 
degree at the University of Calgary in November 2008. Mr. Dai has been a Professional Engineer of APEGA since March 
2009, a Professional Engineer of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of British Columbia since 
April 2009 and a Professional Engineer of the Association of Professional Engineers and Geoscientists of Saskatchewan 
since May 2009.

Ms. Tara Leray, aged 44, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Ms. Leray joined the Company in August 2022, 
replacing Mr. Meidl, and is responsible for financial management of the Company. On August 15, 2022, Ms. Leray was 
appointed as joint company secretary of the Company. Ms. Leray has over 17 years of corporate finance, accounting 
and advisory experience across multiple industries, including upstream exploration and production, oilfield services, 
manufacturing and private equity, through her works in a number of private and public Canadian energy companies, 
investment company and accounting firm.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Leray was Chief Financial Officer of XACT Downhole Telemetry Inc. (“XACT”), a 
private oil field services company until September 2018 when XACT was sold to Baker Hughes Company. Ms. Leray 
continued at Baker Hughes Company as a Senior Financial Planning and Analysis Manager until July 2022.

Ms. Leray obtained a Bachelors of Arts (Business Economics) degree from the University of Saskatchewan in April 
2001, and her professional designation of Canadian Chartered Professional Accountant since 2008.
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of JX Energy Ltd., formerly Persta Resources Inc. (“JX Energy” 
or the “Company”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements and notes thereto for 
the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (the “Financial Statements”). All amounts and tabular amounts in this 
MD&A are stated in thousands of Canadian dollars (“C$ 000”) unless indicated otherwise. This MD&A is dated March 
30, 2023.

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

Certain statements in this MD&A are forward-looking statements that are, by their nature, subject to significant risks and 
uncertainties and the Company hereby cautions investors about important factors that could cause the Company’s 
actual results to differ materially from those projected in a forward-looking statement. Any statements that express, or 
involve discussions as to expectations, beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or future events or performance (often, 
but not always, through the use of words or phrases such as “will”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “believe”, “going 
forward”, “ought to”, “may”, “seek”, “should”, “intend”, “plan”, “projection”, “could”, “vision”, “goals”, “objective”, “target”, 
“schedules” and “outlook”) are not historical facts, are forward-looking and may involve estimates and assumptions and 
are subject to risks (including the risk factors detailed in this MD&A), uncertainties and other factors some of which are 
beyond the Company’s control and which are difficult to predict. Accordingly, these factors could cause actual results 
or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed in the forward-looking statements.

Since actual results or outcomes could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements, the 
Company strongly cautions investors against placing undue reliance on any such forward-looking statements. 
Statements relating to “reserves” or “resources” are deemed to be forward-looking statements, as they involve the 
implied assessment, based on estimates and assumptions that the resources and reserves described can be profitably 
produced in the future. Further, any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is 
made and the Company undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement or statements to reflect 
events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events.

All forward-looking statements in this MD&A are expressly qualified by reference to this cautionary statement.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

The financial information contained herein has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and sometimes referred to in this MD&A as Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

This MD&A also includes references to financial measures commonly used in the oil and natural gas industry. These 
financial measures are not defined by IFRS as issued by IASB and, therefore, are referred to as non-IFRS measures. 
The non-IFRS measures used by the Company may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other 
companies. See “Non-IFRS Financial Measures” of this MD&A for information regarding the following non-IFRS financial 
measures used in this MD&A: “operating netback” and “adjusted EBITDA”.
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FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Company acquired Petroleum and Natural Gas Licenses for Basing, Voyager and Kaydee in the Alberta Foothills 
and Dawson near Peace River in northern Alberta between 2006 and 2018. Approximately 90% of the Company’s 
revenue is generated from the Basing area. Voyager is geologically analogous and located approximately 30 kilometers 
(“km”) from Basing.

During 2022, commodity prices have surged as the global economy started to recover from the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the war in the Ukraine. The price for natural gas in Western Canadian recently achieved 10-year highs, and is 
forecast to stabilize through 2023. As the spot price for Western Canadian gas changes daily, there is no guarantee the 
Company will sell its gas in the future for currently forecast prices. To capitalize on the strong price environment, the 
Company is evaluating additional targets which it would look to commence drilling on during 2023 and 2024, subject to 
availability of capital.

During 2022 the Company has raised a total of C$7.23 million through two common share equity private placements. 
C$5 million of net proceeds have been applied to reduce the Company’s loan from C$20 million to C$15 million, the 
remaining net proceeds have been applied towards the Company’s general working capital. In November 2022, the 
Company entered into a private placement subscription agreement to issue 10 million common shares at a price of 
HK$1.11 per common share. As of March 30, 2023, the share proceeds have not been received.
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Selected Annual Information

Year ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Average Daily Production
Natural gas (mcf/d) 10,042 12,416 13,341 10,465 12,521 
Crude oil (bbls/d) 66 77 45 80 75 
NGLs and condensate (bbls/d) 70 96 94 83 91 

Total production (boe/d) 1,810 2,243 2,363 1,907 2,208 

Average Daily Trading 
Natural gas (boe/d) 37 25 44 226 190 

Total Sales Volume (boe/d) 1,847 2,268 2,406 2,133 2,398 

Financial 
C$ 000s except share amounts
Production revenue 26,802 21,480 13,269 13,627 15,364 
Net trading revenue 152 (11) 9 630 661 
Royalties (4,669) (2,663) (751) (2,447) (1,164)
Operating costs (12,825) (14,383) (10,874) (7,593) (5,353)
Operating netback1 9,461 4,423 1,652 4,217 9,509 
Net income (loss) (3,579) (4,809) (21,851) (50,466) (7,279)
Net working capital2 (36,968) (22,740) (29,938) (26,646) (1,646)
Total assets 52,399 52,982 44,667 59,064 103,582 
Long term debt2 — (17,355) (1,886) (602) (23,064)
Capital expenditures3 6,173 8,623 1,932 1,315 5,415 
Income (loss) per share 

(basic and diluted) (0.01) (0.01) (0.07) (0.17) (0.03)

(1)	 Operating netback is defined as revenue less royalties, trading cost and operating costs. Operating netback is a non-IFRS financial measure. See 

“Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for further information.

(2)	 Net working capital consists of current assets less current liabilities. As at December 31, 2022, net working capital includes C$15.75 million of long 

term debt which was repaid on March 27, 2023, and C$2.6 million of shareholder loans originally due for repayment in 2023 which were amended 

to be due for repayment in 2024 subsequent to year end. As at December 31, 2021, net working capital includes C$3 million shareholder debt 

which matured at December 31, 2021 and C$5 million of subordinated debt payments due in 2022.

(3)	 Capital expenditures consist of total expenditures for property, plant and equipment plus exploration and evaluation assets, excluding changes in 

non-cash working capital.
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5 Year Annual Summary

Over the past 5 years, the Company’s total production has dropped reflecting natural declines, as the Company elected 
to defer new well drilling following the collapse of the market price for natural gas in western Canada in 2017.

In 2021 and 2022 commodity prices have strengthened as reflected in the Company’s 2021 and 2022 production 
revenue achieving 5 year highs, despite lower production compared to previous years. In 2019 operating costs 
increased as the Company’s gas transport obligations commenced in the fourth quarter of 2018. These obligations are 
fixed and provide JX with transport capacity of up to 110 MMcf/d. Effective April 1, 2022, the Company transferred 47 
MMcf/d of its FT-R obligations to another issuer. In 2020 operating costs increased with the start of production at 
Voyager and commencement of the Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression agreements (refer to Note 26 of the 
Financial Statements). In 2022, the operating costs decreased due to the reduction in production, which is offset by the 
increase in the Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression agreements.

The Company’s 2022 net loss was lower than 2021 and significantly lower than 2020 and 2019, reflecting higher 
revenues and partial recoveries of the impairment losses the Company booked in 2020 and 2019. These impairment 
losses were non-cash charges resulting from assessments which indicated the carrying costs of the Company’s assets 
exceed their estimated future recoverable amounts, which have been negatively impacted by the decline in commodity 
prices over the past three years. In 2022 the value of the Company’s Basing assets increased commensurate with the 
addition of the exploration well drilled in Q4 2022 allowing a partial recovery of the previously booked losses.

In 2022 the Company’s capital expenditures are primarily comprised of costs associated with the drilling of a new well 
at its Basing area and a workover in the Voyager area.
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Selected Quarterly Information

Q4 2022 Q3 2022 Q2 2022 Q1 2022 Q4 2021 Q3 2021 Q2 2021 Q1 2021

Daily Average Production
Natural gas (mcf/d) 9,684 10,500 10,371 11,470 11,800 11,344 12,607 13,518 
Crude oil (bbls/d) 74 55 56 65 80 81 76 65 
NGLs and condensate (bbls/d) 64 74 71 77 90 99 107 90 

Total production (boe/d) 1,751 1,880 1,855 2,054 2,137 2,071 2,284 2,408 
Daily Average Trading 
Natural gas (boe/d) 21 8 8 31 22 34 33 10 

Daily Average Sales (boe/d) 1,772 1,887 1,863 2,085 2,159 2,105 2,317 2,418 

Financial
C$ 000s except share amounts
Production revenue 6,557 4,988 8,893 6,364 6,566 5,051 4,909 4,954 
Net trading revenue (loss) 4 159 1 (12) (12) (1) — 2 
Royalties (1,235) (1,083) (1,224) (1,127) (1,193) (532) (75) (863)
Operating costs (3,094) (3,129) (3,323) (3,279) (3,409) (3,607) (3,742) (3,624)
Operating netback1 2,231 935 4,347 1,946 1,952 912 1,091 469 
Net income (loss) (10,312) (1,605) 5,358 2,999 (1,549) 1,507 (1,925) (2,842)
Net working capital2 (36,968) (32,701) (27,501) (17,942) (22,740) (12,572) (8,153) (31,512)
Total assets 52,399 60,791 58,177 57,763 52,982 47,898 42,205 43,425 
Capital expenditures3 5,053 1,020 (93) 193 5,486 2,918 126 91 
Income (loss) per share 

(basic & diluted) (0.02) — 0.01 0.01 (0.00) 0.00 (0.01) (0.01)

(1)	 Operating netback is defined as revenue less royalties, trading cost and operating costs. Operating netback is a non-IFRS financial measure. See 

“Non-IFRS Financial Measures” for further information.

(2)	 Net working capital consists of current assets less current liabilities. As at March 31, 2021, net working capital includes C$24 million of long term 

debt which had been reclassified as current, as the Company was not in compliance with certain covenants of its subordinated debt facility. As at 

December 31, 2021, net working capital includes C$3 million shareholder debt which matured at December 31, 2021 and C$5 million of 

subordinated debt payments due in 2022. As at December 31, 2022, net working capital includes C$15 million of long term debt which was repaid 

on March 27, 2023.

(3)	 Capital expenditures consist of total expenditures for property, plant and equipment plus exploration and evaluation assets, excluding changes in 

non-cash working capital.

Selected Quarterly Information Summary

The Company’s total production is impacted by seasonal fluctuations experienced in western Canada. During the 
Canadian winter (October — March), demand for gas is highest as it is used for heating and power generation. The 
market price for natural gas is cyclical and follows demand, with prices generally strongest in the winter, and weakest in 
summer. Historically, the Company’s revenues have been strongest during the first and fourth quarters, and weakest in 
the second and third quarters, reflecting the demand cycle.
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Commodity prices strengthened throughout 2021 and the first half of 2022, reflecting the increased quarterly revenue 
realized from declining production experienced between Q421 and Q222. In Q322 the Company shut in select wells for 
periods of time due to a combination of market price and pipeline maintenance. In Q422, the commodity prices 
increased reflecting the seasonal demand typically seen in winter.

The Company’s higher net loss experienced in the fourth quarter of 2020 is attributable to impairment losses and write-
offs recognized during the period. These impairment losses are non-cash charges resulting from assessments which 
indicated the carrying costs of the Company’s assets exceed their estimated future recoverable amounts. In 2021 and 
2022 the market value of the Company’s assets increased commensurate with the increase in commodity prices, 
allowing a partial recovery of the previously booked impairment losses in the third quarter of 2021 and first and second 
quarters of 2022. In Q4 2022 the commodity price dropped in comparison to the first half of 2022. As a result, an 
impairment was recorded in Q4 2022 which substantially reversed the recoveries recorded in the first half of 2022.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Daily Production and Sales Volumes

Boe Conversions — Per barrel of oil equivalent amounts have been calculated using a conversion rate of six thousand 
cubic feet of natural gas to one barrel of oil equivalent (6:1). Barrel of oil equivalents (“boe”) may be misleading, 
particularly if used in isolation. A boe conversion ratio of 6 mcf:1 bbl is based on an energy equivalency conversion 
method primarily applicable at the burner tip and does not represent a value equivalency at the wellhead. In addition, 
as the value ratio between natural gas and crude oil based on current prices of natural gas and crude oil is significantly 
different from the energy equivalency of 6:1, utilizing a conversion on a 6:1 basis may be misleading as an indication of 
value.

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Production
Natural gas (mcf/d) 9,684 11,800 (18%) 10,042 12,416 (19%)
Oil (bbl/d) 74 80 (8%) 66 77 (14%)
NGLs (bbl/d) 20 29 (33%) 21 29 (28%)
Condensate (bbl/d) 43 61 (28%) 49 68 (28%)

Total production (boe/d) 1,751 2,137 (17%) 1,810 2,243 (19%)

Trading
Natural gas (mcf/d) 128 130 (1%) 225 150 50%

Total trading (boe/d) 21 22 (1%) 37 25 50%

Total sales volume (boe/d) 1,772 2,159 (18%) 1,847 2,268 (19%)

Total sales volume for the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 was 17% and 19% lower respectively, than 
the comparative period in 2021 attributable to natural declines.
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The Company did not enter into any forward sales contracts during 2021, and traded gas on days when it would not be 
able to deliver its nominated volume. As nominations are made daily, a shortfall experienced on a given day can be 
rectified the next day adjusting the nomination to reflect changes in production. As the Company’s production is stable, 
shortfalls are infrequent as demonstrated by the small quantity of gas traded in 2022 and 2021 comprising only 2% and 1% 
respectively, of the total gas sold during the year.

Natural gas liquids (“NGLs”) and condensate production are by-products of natural gas. The amount of NGL and 
condensate production varies for each well, and their production rates as a percentage of natural gas production can 
change over time. On an absolute boe/d basis, NGL and condensate production declined commensurate with natural 
declines in natural gas production.

Oil production for the three months ended December 31, 2022 was 8% lower than the comparative period in 2021 as 
the Company shut-in production of one well. Oil production for the year ended December 31, 2022 was 14% lower 
attributable to natural declines as the well shut-in in October of 2022.

Revenue

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Production
Natural gas 5,314 5,276 1% 21,537 17,010 27%
Crude oil 707 668 6% 2,786 2,089 33%
NGLs 61 80 (24%) 372 322 16%
Condensate 475 542 (12%) 2,107 2,060 2%

Total production revenue 6,557 6,566 (0%) 26,802 21,480 25%

Trading
Natural gas trading revenue 63 52 21% 383 196 95%
Natural gas trading cost (59) (64) (8%) (231) (207) 11%

Total trading revenue (loss) 4 (12) 133% 152 (11) 1,482%

Other income 37 17 118% 77 48 60%

Total revenue 6,598 6,571 0% 27,032 21,518 26%

Production revenue for year ended December 31, 2022 increased 25% over the comparative periods in 2021 as 
stronger commodity pricing offset the declines in production. Crude oil prices have strengthened materially in over the 
past twelve months, as demand has increased as the global economy started to recover from the COVID-19 pandemic 
and supply disruptions attributable to the war in the Ukraine. Pricing for NGLs and condensate are correlated to crude 
oil and have strengthened, evidenced by the decrease in production being disproportionate to the revenue for the three 
months and year ended December 31, 2022.

During the three months and year ended December 31, 2022, the Company experienced a trading gain reflecting the 
increased volatility in gas prices over the periods. Other income for the three months and year ended December 31, 
2022 consistent with the comparative periods in 2021 on an absolute revenue basis.
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Commodity Prices

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Natural gas
Producing wells 10 10 10 10 
Production volume (Mcf) 890,893 1,085,569 (18%) 3,665,256 4,532,020 (19%)

Natural gas
Trading volume (Mcf) 11,806 11,944 (1%) 82,037 54,630 50%

Crude oil
Producing wells 2 3 — 3 3 —
Production volume (Bbl) 6,769 7,377 (8%) 24,269 28,187 (14%)

NGLs 
Producing wells 10 10 10 10 
Production volume (Bbl) 1,821 2,713 (33%) 7,538 10,407 (28%)

Condensate
Producing wells 10 10 10 10 
Production volume (Bbl) 4,001 5,584 (28%) 17,847 24,720 (28%)

Total production volume
Producing wells 12 13 (8%) 13 13 
Production volume (Boe) 161,073 196,601 (18%) 660,530 818,651 (19%)

Trading volume (Boe) 1,968 1,991 –1% 13,673 9,105 50%

Realized gas price sales for the three months ended December 31, 2022 was 20% higher than the same period in 2021 
due to AECO pricing for the period increasing. The Company does not utilize forward contracts to sell its gas and daily 
trading prices do not necessarily reflect the average AECO price for the period.

Realized gas price sales for the year ended December 31, 2022 was 55% higher than the same period in 2021, 
attributable to significantly stronger AECO market pricing.

During the three months and years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company traded gas as required to meet 
shortfalls in its daily production nomination. The average trading price is a function of the gains or losses realized on the 
quantity and price of gas traded over a given time, and therefore not directly comparable to prior periods.
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NGL production is tied to natural gas production. The Company’s natural gas wells produce varying amounts of NGLs 
(propane and butane), which are sold at different prices in the market. As some wells are shut-in, the NGL production 
matrix is impacted, resulting in a changing realized price dependent on the composition of NGLs. Additionally, the 
quantity of butane and propane produced by a well can change over time. Generally the more butane produced, the 
higher the realized price for NGLs. For the three months ended December 31, 2022, realized NGL prices were above 
average market prices as the Company’s NGLs were butane weighted.

The Company’s realized condensate and crude oil prices for the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 
were higher than the average market prices over the same period attributable to the quality of the oil produced. 
Variations from the benchmark are a function of product sales occurring periodically over the quarter and year, 
compared to the average daily reference price.

Royalties

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Natural gas, NGLs and condensate 961 962 0% 3,647 2,093 74%
Crude oil 275 231 19% 1,022 570 79%

Total royalties 1,236 1,193 4% 4,669 2,663 75%

Effective average royalty rate 19% 18% 4% 17% 12% 40%

In Alberta, royalties are set by a sliding scale formula containing separate elements that account for market price and 
well production. Royalty rates will fluctuate to reflect changes in production rates, market prices and cost allowances. 
On a “per-well” basis, for the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s base royalty 
rate for natural gas ranged from 5% to 26%, the base royalty rate for NGLs (propane and butane) was 30% and the 
base royalty rate for condensate and crude oil was 40%. Effective royalty rates can differ from the base rates if the 
production qualifies for any cost allowances which offset the base amount payable.

The Company forecasts its effective royalty rate will range between 15–20% for 2023, reflecting new production from 
Basing and Voyager which benefit from the Modernizing Alberta’s Royalty Framework, under which a company will pay 
a flat royalty of 5% on a well’s early production until the well’s total revenue from all hydrocarbon products equals the 
drilling and completion cost allowance.
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Operating Costs

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Natural gas, NGLs and condensate 2,894 3,172 (9%) 12,146 13,788 (12%)
Crude oil 200 237 (16%) 679 595 14%

Total operating costs 3,094 3,409 (9%) 12,825 14,383 (11%)

Unit Cost (C$/boe)
Natural gas, NGLs and condensate 17.24 16.76 3% 19.09 17.44 9%
Crude oil 39.33 32.13 (22%) 27.97 21.11 33%
Average cost 17.89 17.34 3% 19.42 17.57 11%

Total operating costs (“opex”) for natural gas, NGLs and condensate for the three months and year ended December 
31, 2022 were 9% and 12% lower respectively than the comparative periods in 2021, attributable to the lower volume of 
production in the current periods. On a Unit Cost basis, 2022 crude oil opex for the year ended December 31, 2022 was 
higher than the comparative period reflecting increased liquids handling and water disposal charges. For the three 
months ended December 31, 2022, the crude oil operating costs was lower than 2021 by 16%, reflecting a decrease in 
production.

General and Administrative Costs

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Staff costs 207 181 14% 813 750 8%
Directors fees 30 30 — 120 120 —
Phantom Unit charges (recovery) (9) (156) (94%) 129 334 (61%)
Accounting, legal and 

consulting fees 699 735 (5%) 1,569 1,377 14%
Office 33 37 (11%) 173 125 38%
Share-based expense 19 30 (37%) 57 118 (52%)
Other 44 38 16% 148 142 4%

Total G&A costs 1,023 895 14% 3,008 2,966 1%

Capitalized staff costs 88 132 353 353 

Total general and administrative (“G&A”) costs for the three months ended December 31, 2022 was 14% higher than 
the comparative period in 2021, attributable to costs and recoveries associated with the Phantom Unit Plan reflecting 
changes in the Company’s share price over the same period.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company’s accounting, legal and consulting fees in the current period 
were approximately C$192k higher than the same period in 2021, reflecting increases in the Company’s audit and 
professional fees. For the year ended December 31, 2022, office expenses increased C$48k over the same period in 
2021 primarily due to increased insurance costs related to the Companies resources properties. Other costs include 
memberships, travel and accommodation, and the total amounts are consistent with the prior period. Capitalized G&A 
costs are comprised of qualifying expenditures in respect of geological and geophysical activities.

Finance Expenses

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Interest expense and financing 
costs:
Subordinated debt 416 892 (53%) 2,061 3,888 (47%)
Right of use assets and leases 119 75 59% 290 295 (2%)
Commitment charges 18 64 (72%) 79 129 (39%)

131 191 (31%) 131 191 (31%)
Other financing costs and bank 

charges 2 9 (78%) 7 28 (74%)
Accretion expenses:

Decommissioning liabilities 6 1 500% 75 32 134%
Shareholder loans 30 (72) (142%) 99 (26) (480%)

Amortization of debt issuance 
costs 129 141 (9%) 516 516 (0%)

Total finance expenses 851 1,300 (35%) 3,257 5,053 (36%)

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, interest expense was incurred from the Company’s 
subordinated debt and capitalized leases. Following a principal payment of C$4.3M in December 2021 which reduced 
the principal from C$24.3 million to C$20 million, the interest rate on the Company’s subordinated debt reverted from 
16% to 12%. During the first and second quarters of 2022, the Company made a further C$5 million of principal 
payments reducing the subordinated debt to C$15 million, and the interest rate has lowered to 10% for the remainder of 
the term pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring (as defined in the section titled “Capital Resources” herein).

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, accretion expenses were incurred from 
decommissioning liabilities and the fair-value adjustment of the Company’s shareholder loans. Amortization of debt 
issuance costs includes legal fees, commissions and commitment fees which were incurred for the closing and 
subsequent amendments to the subordinated debt facility (refer to Note 13 to the 2022 Audited Financial Statements). 
These costs are capitalized against the debt and amortized over the term.
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Depletion, Depreciation and Amortization

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s except per unit costs 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Depletion 1,593 1,448 10% 5,293 4,789 11%
Depreciation 10 10 — 36 38 (5%)
Amortization of right of use assets 190 190 — 760 745 2%

Total DD&A 1,793 1,648 9% 6,089 5,572 9%

Per boe 10.37 8.38 24% 9.22 6.81 35%

Depletion, depreciation and amortization (“DD&A”) expense is comprised of depletion incurred from production of the 
Company’s developed assets, the depreciation expense is comprised of the depreciation of fixed assets including 
office furniture, office equipment, vehicles, computer hardware and computer software and amortization of capitalized 
leases carried as right of use assets.

Depletion is a function of both production and the capitalized value of assets subject to depletion. The increase in 
DD&A on a per boe basis for the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 over the comparative periods in 
2021 is attributable to the reduction in Company’s reserves from production.

Impairment Recovery and Write-Offs

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

E&E write-offs 642 246 161% 781 278 181%
PP&E impairment (recovery) 8,271 (573) (1,543%) (17) (4,591) (100%)

Total impairment (recovery) 8,913 (327) (2,826%) 763 (4,313) (118%)

For the three months ended December 31, 2022, the Company identified indicators of impairment of its PP&E assets in 
the Basing and Voyager cash generating unit (“CGU”), attributable to changes in commodity prices. The recoverable 
amount of the Basing and Voyager CGU’s was estimated based upon the higher of value in use or fair value less costs 
of disposal. Fair value less costs of disposal was used, and the recoverable amount is within the Level 3 hierarchy of 
IFRS 13.
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The Company calculated the recoverable amount of the Basing CGU based on forecasted cash flows from proved plus 
probable reserves using a 12% before-tax discount rate, with escalated prices and future development costs as 
obtained from the independent reserve report. Based on the assessment, the carrying amount of the Company’s Basing 
CGU million was higher than its recoverable amount, and the Company recognized an impairment of C$7.6 million 
offsetting the prior impairment recoveries of C$4.1 million at March 31, 2022 and C$4.2 million at June 30, 2022. E&E 
write-offs of C$139k for the year ended December 31, 2022 are attributable to the expiration of undeveloped land in the 
Company’s Basing CGU.

The Company calculated the recoverable amount of the Voyager CGU based on forecasted cash flows from proved 
plus probable reserves using a 14% before-tax discount rate, with escalated prices and future development costs as 
obtained from the independent reserve report. Based on the assessment, the carrying amount of the Company’s 
Voyager CGU million was higher than its recoverable amount, and the Company recognized an impairment of C$0.7. 
E&E write-offs of C$617k for the three months ended December 31, 2022 are attributable to the expiration of 
undeveloped land in the Company’s Basing CGU.

(Loss) and Comprehensive (Loss)

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

(Loss) and comprehensive (loss) (10,312) (1,549) 566% (3,579) (4,809) 26%

Total (Loss) and  
comprehensive (loss) (10,312) (1,549) 566% (3,579) (4,809) 26%

(Loss) and comprehensive (loss) for the three months ended December 31, 2022 was 566% lower than the comparative 
period in 2021, attributable to the impairment charges on the Company’s CGUs.

(Loss) and comprehensive (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022 was 26% higher than the comparative period 
in 2021, attributable to the increase in commodity pricing during 2022 and decreased finance expenses.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

PP&E
Production facilities 3 751 (100%) 144 764 (81%)
Drilling, completion and workovers 78 7,473 (99%) 774 7,500 (90%)
G&A costs capitalized 88 95 (7%) 353 360 (2%)

Total PP&E 168 8,319 (98%) 1,270 8,624 (85%)

E&E Assets
G&A costs capitalized — (44) (100%) — — —
Drilling 4,883 — 100% 4,883 — 100%
Production facilities 1 (2,789) (100%) 21 — 100%

Total E&E 4,884 (2,833) (272%) 4,903 — 100%

Total PP&E and E&E 5,052 5,486 (8%) 6,173 8,624 (28%)
Change in non-cash working 

capital (3,852) 2,455 (257%) (5,515) 3,734 (248%)

Total 1,200 7,941 (85%) 658 12,357 (95%)

For the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 total PP&E capital expenditures (“capex”) was C$5.1 and 
C$6.2 million, respectively, compared to $C5.5 and C$8.6 million in same periods in 2021. The decrease is attributable 
to the capex in E&E assets not being brought into production and the Company was not required to complete the well 
saving approximately C$2M. In the three months and year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company 
capitalized a total of C$0.1 and C$0.4 million of G&A respectively, in accordance with its accounting policies (refer to 
Note 4 in the 2022 Audited Financial Statements).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Capital Management

The Company’s general policy is to maintain an appropriate capital base in order to manage its business in the most 
effective manner with the goal of increasing the value of its assets and thus its underlying share value. The Company’s 
objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet financial 
obligations; to maintain a capital structure that allows the Company to favor the financing of its growth strategy using 
internally-generated cash flow and its debt capacity; and to optimize the use of its capital to provide an appropriate 
investment return to its shareholders.
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The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying crude oil and natural gas assets. The Company considers its capital structure 
to include shareholders’ equity, shareholders’ loans, subordinated debt, other liabilities and working capital. To assess 
capital and operating efficiency and financial strength, the Company continually monitors its net debt. As disclosed in 
Note 3 of the Financial Statements, the Company’s future viability is dependent on its ability to source additional capital 
on acceptable terms.

Capital Structure of the Company

The Company’s capital structure is as follows:

As at As at

C$ 000s
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Long term debt(1) — 17,355 
Other liabilities 656 599 
Long-term lease liabilities(2) 862 1,636 
Net working capital deficit(2) 36,968 22,740 

Net debt 38,486 42,330 
Shareholders’ equity(3) 8,678 5,014 

Total capital 47,163 47,343 

Gearing ratio(4) 82% 89%

Notes:

1	 This is the fair value of the long-term debt.

2	 Net working capital consists of current assets less current liabilities. The current portion of lease liabilities is included in net working capital.

3	 As at December 31, 2022, the Company has 449,886,520 common shares issued and outstanding and 8 million warrants issued with a strike price 

of HK$0.58 per warrant, 3.78 million stock options issued with a strike price of HK$0.52 per option, and 0.8 million stock options issued with a 

strike price of HK$0.48 per option.

4	 Gearing ratio is defined as net debt as a percentage of total capital.

As at December 31, 2022, net working capital includes C$15.75 million of subordinated debt which matures in May 
2023 and C$2.6 million of shareholder loans which are due for repayment in 2023. Subsequent to year end, the 
shareholder loans were amended to be due for repayment in 2024. The 2021 working capital deficit includes C$3 
million shareholder debt which matured at December 31, 2021 and C$5 million of subordinated debt payments due in 
2022.
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Performance Services Guarantee (“PSG”) Facility

On April 25, 2018, the Company obtained a PSG facility from Economic Development Canada (“EDC”) totaling C$4.4 
million. On July 30, 2020 the aggregate PSG was reduced to C$1.85 million. Under the terms of the PSG facility, EDC 
will guarantee qualifying letters of credit (“L/C”) on behalf of the Company. Previously, these L/C’s were cash 
collateralized, following approval by the EDC the requirement of the Company to hold cash to underwrite the L/C is 
relieved for the duration of the PSG approval. Under the terms of the PSG facility, the L/C guarantee period is the lesser 
of one year or the term of the L/C if less than 12 months. The guarantee can be renewed annually for long term L/C’s 
subject to subsequent approval by the EDC. As at December 31, 2022 the Company has PSG coverage for the 
following L/C’s:

Amount Expiry

C$1,100,000 March 16, 2023
C$408,158 December 30, 2023

The PSG facility has a 12 month term and must be renewed annually and the current term expires on September 30, 
2023. If the facility is not approved for renewal, the PSG coverage will terminate at the expiry of the existing L/C’s and 
the Company will seek alternative insurance arrangements to guarantee the L/C’s or cash collateralize them.

On March 16, 2023 the L/C for C$1,100,000 was reduced to C$710,000 in accordance with the contract.

Capital Resources

The Company operates in a capital intensive industry. The Company’s liquidity requirements arise principally from the 
need for financing the expansion of its exploration and development activities, acquisition of land leases and petroleum 
and natural gas licenses. The Company’s principal sources of funds have been proceeds from bank borrowings, equity 
financings, shareholder loans and cash generated from operations. The Company’s liquidity primarily depends on its 
ability to generate cash flow from its operations and to obtain external financing to meet its debt obligations as they 
become due, as well as the Company’s future operating and capital expenditure requirements.

On September 1, 2021, the Company and a JX Energy director arranged a loan facility for up to C$3 million (the “2021 
Shareholder Loan”). C$1.5 million was advanced to the Company on the same day, the remaining C$1.5 million was 
advanced to the Company on October 27, 2021. The proceeds were used to fund part of the capital costs for the new 
Basing well and general corporate purposes. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company repaid C$2.998 
million of the 2021 Shareholder Loan, the balance of C$0.2k is held as a Current Liability.

On December 3, 2021, the Company completed a private placement issuing 16 million common shares at a price of 
HK$0.80 per share for gross proceeds of HK$12.8 million (C$2.05 million) with Jilin Nuoshida Energy Investment Co., 
Ltd.(“Jilin”). On June 8, 2021 the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Dalian Yongli Petrochemical Ltd. 
(“Dalian”) (as subsequently amended as detailed in the Company’s announcement on October 28, 2021) pursuant to 
which the Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Dalian conditionally agreed to subscribe for 55 million 
common shares at a minimum price of HK$0.80 per share. As Dalian is a connected person (as defined in the Listing 
Rules) of the Company, the subscription agreement, supplemental agreements and the transactions contemplated 
thereunder constitute connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are subject 
to reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. Independent Shareholders approval was obtained at a special general meeting of shareholders on October 15, 
2021. On December 13, 2021, the Company completed the first tranche of the Dalian subscription agreement issuing 
20 million common shares at a price of HK$0.80 per share for gross proceeds of HK$16 million (C$2.56 million). On 
April 29, 2022, the Company completed the second and final tranche of the Dalian subscription agreement issuing 35 
million common shares at a price of HK$0.80 per common share (“Dalian Tranche 2”) for gross proceeds of HK$28 
million (C$4.48 million).
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On May 5, 2022, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Dalian, pursuant to which the Company 
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Dalian conditionally agreed to subscribe for 17 million common shares at a 
price of HK$1.00 per common share. As Dalian is a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, 
the subscription agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder constitutes a connected transaction of the 
Company under the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. On July 18, 2022 the Company completed the placing to Dalian 
for gross proceeds of HK$17 million (C$2.75 million).

On November 18, 2022, the Company entered into a private placement subscription agreement, pursuant to which the 
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for 10 million 
common shares at a price of HK$1.11 per common share. As at March 30, 2023, the subscription proceeds have not 
been received and are expected in April 2023. Upon receipt, the funds will be used to pay outstanding accounts 
payable from the exploration well drilled in Basing in quarter four of 2023.

At December 31, 2022, the Company had a working capital deficiency of C$37.0 million and has fully drawn C$15 
million on its subordinated debt, which is subject to certain covenants and matures on May 15, 2023. As at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, the Company was in compliance with all covenants associated with the subordinated debt.

On March 11, 2022, the Company and lender agreed to restructure the loan agreement (the “2022 Restructuring”). 
Under the terms of the 2022 Restructuring, financial covenants in respect of net debt to total proved reserves and net 
debt to TTM EBITDA (as defined in Note 13 of the 2021 Audited Financial Statements) have been waived for the 
remainder of the loan term. The Company is obligated to make a principal payment of C$2.5 million on or before 
September 30, 2022, a principal payment of C$2.5 million on or before December 31, 2022 and a principal payment of 
C$1.0 million on or before March 31, 2023. During the second quarter of 2022, the Company made principal payments 
totalling C$5.0 million, satisfying the 2022 principal payment obligations pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring. The 
subordinated debt matures in May 2023, assuming the final March 2023 principal payment is made, the loan will total 
C$14.75 million at maturity.

The Company obtained new long-term debt through a combination of a shareholder loan from Jixing for US$8 million, 
and US$3.5 million from CIMC Leasing USA, Inc. (the “CIMC Loan”). As a condition of the shareholder loan and CIMC 
Loan, on March 27, 2023 the Company repaid the outstanding secured debt balance of C$15.75 million plus C$116k of 
interest. The shareholder loan will have a term of 48 months and bare interest of 9.25% per annum. The Company will 
be required to make monthly interest and principal payments of US$200,031.36.

The CIMC Loan will have a term of 48 months, bare interest of 9.25% per annum and is secured by the fixed assets 
owned by the Company, excluding its Oil and Gas assets, and a personal guarantee from Mr. Yongtan Liu, the 
Company’s Chairman. The Company will be required to make monthly interest and principal payments of US$87,513.72. 
The CIMC Loan will be senior to all other debt and equity payments, including the Jixing Gas Handling and Jixing 
Voyager Compression Agreements.

The global impact of COVID-19 has resulted in significant volatility in global stock markets and has forecasted a great 
deal of uncertainty as to the health of the global economy. These factors may have a negative impact on the Company’s 
operations and its ability to raise financing to meet its covenants. If the Company is in breach of any covenants in future 
periods the lender will have the right to demand repayment of all amounts owed under the subordinated debt.

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the ability to generate positive cash flow from 
operations, equity and/or debt financing, disposing of assets or other arrangements to fund future development capital 
and ongoing operations. There are no assurances that any transactions will be completed on terms acceptable to the 
Company. These conditions cause material uncertainty which casts significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.
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Use of Proceeds from the Dalian Tranche 2 Subscription

C$ 000,000
% of total 

net proceeds

Planned use of
net proceeds from 

the Closing Date to
December 31, 20222

Actual use of
net proceeds during 

the period from 
the Closing Date to
December 31, 20222

Proceeds
unused

Business objective as stated in 
the Circular1

Drilling new well at Basing 35% 1.51 1.51 —
SubDebt principal payment 45% 1.94 1.94 —
General working capital 20% 0.86 0.86 —

Total 100% 4.31 4.31 —

Notes:

(1)	 Refer to the Company’s shareholder proxy circular (the “Circular”) dated September 17, 2021.

(2)	 The Dalian Tranche 2 subscription was closed on July 18, 2022 (the “Closing Date”).

Use of Proceeds from the November Subscription

C$ 000,000
% of total 

net proceeds

Planned use of
net proceeds from 

the Closing Date to
December 31, 2022

Actual use of
net proceeds during 
the period from the 

Closing Date to
December 31, 2022

Proceeds
unused2

Business objective as stated in 
the announcement1

Drilling exploration well at Basing 100% 1.88 — —

Total 100% 1.88 — —

Notes:

(1)	 Refer to the Company’s announcement dated November 18, 2022.

(2)	 The subscription proceeds have not been received as of March 30, 2023.
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SHARES, WARRANTS AND STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING

Common Shares

On December 3, 2021, the Company completed a private placement issuing 16 million common shares at a price of 
HK$0.80 per share for gross proceeds of HK$12.8 million (approximately C$2.05 million). On December 13, 2021, the 
Company completed the first tranche of a private placement issuing 20 million common shares at a price of HK$0.80 
per share for gross proceeds of HK$16 million (C$2.56 million). On April 29, 2022, the Company completed the second 
and final tranche of the Dalian subscription agreement issuing 35 million common shares at a price of HK$0.80 per 
common share for gross proceeds of HK$28 million (C$4.48 million).

On May 5, 2022, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Dalian, pursuant to which the Company 
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Dalian conditionally agreed to subscribe for 17 million common shares at a 
price of HK$1.00 per common share. As Dalian is a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, 
the subscription agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder constitutes a connected transaction of the 
Company under the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval 
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. On July 18, 2022 the Company completed the placing to Dalian.

In November 2022, the Company entered into a private placement subscription agreement, pursuant to which the 
Company conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the subscriber conditionally agreed to subscribe for 10 million 
common shares at a price of HK$1.11 per common share.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has 449,886,520 common shares outstanding.

Warrants

On August 13, 2018, the Company issued 8.0 million warrants for total consideration of C$0.75 million. The warrants 
were issued with an exercise price of HK$3.16 per warrant and a term of 5 years. No warrants have been exercised for 
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2022 and 2021 and up to the date of the MD&A. As at September 30, 
2022 and as at the date of this MD&A, the Company has 8 million warrants outstanding (2021: 8 million). Pursuant to the 
2020 Restructuring (see Note 13 of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021), the 
Company has agreed to re-price the 8 million share purchase warrants previously issued to the lender. This re-pricing 
was subject to the Stock Exchange and Shareholder approval which was granted in August 2022. The new exercise 
price of the warrants was calculated at HK$0.58 based on the average price of the Common Shares on the Stock 
Exchange for the five trading days immediately preceding the date on which the re-pricing of the exercise price of the 
warrants is approved by the Shareholders. Refer to Note 16 in the Financial Statements for additional information in 
respect of the amendments to the warrants.

As part of the repayment of the subordinated debt on March 27, 2023, the warrants were forfeited unexercised.

Stock Options

The Company has a stock option plan which was approved and adopted by the shareholders of the Company by 
ordinary resolution passed on June 8, 2018 (“Stock Option Plan”). On May 18, 2020, the Company issued 3.78 million 
options with an exercise price of HK$0.52 per option and a term of 5 years. On November 30, 2022, the Company 
issued 0.8 million options with an exercise price of HK$0.48 per option and a term of 5 years. The options vest equally 
over a 3 year period, with the first tranche vesting on the first anniversary of the award, and the second and third 
tranches vesting equally on the second and third anniversary respectively. As at December 31, 2022 and as at the date 
of this MD&A, the Company has 4.58 million options outstanding (2021: 3.78 million).
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COMMITMENTS

Commitments and contingencies exist under various agreements and operations in the normal course of the Company’s 
business. Refer to Note 28 of the 2022 Audited Financial Statements for disclosure of the Company’s commitments and 
contingencies.

DIVIDEND

The Board did not approve the payment of a dividend for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Refer to Note 19 of the Financial Statements and Note 26 of the 2022 Audited Financial Statements for disclosure of the 
Company’s related party transactions.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS

The Company was not involved in any off-balance sheet transactions during the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

PLEDGED ASSETS

As disclosed in this MD&A, all assets are pledged in support of the Company’s debt arrangements and there are no 
other pledges.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this MD&A, the Company had no material undisclosed contingent 
liabilities.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this MD&A, the Company has neither any other significant investments nor significant acquisitions 
and disposals of the relevant subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the three months and year ended 
December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this MD&A.
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this MD&A, the Company did not have other plans for material investments or capital assets as of 
the date of this MD&A, as pursuant to paragraphs 32(4) and 32(9) of Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company obtained new long-term debt through a combination of a shareholder loan from Jixing for US$8 million, 
and US$3.5 million from CIMC Leasing USA, Inc. (the “CIMC Loan”). As a condition of the shareholder loan and CIMC 
Loan, on March 27, 2023 the Company repaid the outstanding SubDebt (as defined in Note 12 of the 2022 Audited 
Financial Statements) balance of C$15.75 million plus C$116k of interest. Upon repayment of the SubDebt, the warrants 
were forfeited unexercised.

The shareholder loan will have a term of 48 months and bare interest of 9.25% per annum. The Company will be 
required to make monthly interest and principal payments of US$200,031.36.

The CIMC Loan will have a term of 48 months, bare interest of 9.25% per annum and is secured by the fixed assets 
owned by the Company, excluding its Oil and Gas assets, and a personal guarantee from Mr. Yongtan Liu, the 
Company’s Chairman. The Company will be required to make monthly interest and principal payments of US$87,513.72.

The CIMC Loan will be senior to all other debt and equity payments, including the Jixing Gas Handling and Jixing 
Voyager Compression Agreements.

Mr. Liu and/or interests under his control, have loans with CIMC Capital (China), the parent company of CIMC Leasing 
USA, Inc. In the event that there is a default with the existing loans with CIMC Capital (China), it will trigger a default of 
the CIMC Loan and shareholder loan from Jixing, and the outstanding balances will immediately become due.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management 
framework. The board has implemented and monitors compliance with risk management policies. The Company’s risk 
management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the Company’s activities. The 
Company’s financial risks are discussed in Note 27 of the 2022 Audited Financial Statements.

The Company holds a number of financial instruments, the most significant of which are accounts receivable, accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities, cash and cash equivalents, subordinated debt and shareholder loans. Due to their near 
term maturities, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, cash and cash equivalents and 
shareholder loans are recorded at fair value. The subordinated debt is recorded at amortized cost.
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The Company did not enter into any financial derivatives contracts for the three months and year ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021. For the three months ended December 31, 2022, the Company experienced a foreign exchange loss of 
C$25 (2021: C$400). For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company experienced a foreign exchange gain of 
C$75 (2021: loss C$607). These foreign exchange gains and losses are related to the revaluation of monetary items 
held in Hong Kong Dollars and the value changes with the fluctuation in the Hong Kong Dollars/Canadian Dollars 
exchange rates. The Company is exposed to the financial risk related to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rates for the 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in the currencies other than the functional currencies to which they relate. 
The Company has not hedged its exposure to currency fluctuation and the Company currently does not have a foreign 
currency hedging policy, however, management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Periodically, the Company has entered into fixed price physical commodity contracts to manage commodity risk. These 
contracts are considered normal sales contracts and are not recorded at fair value in the financial statements. As the 
price for natural gas in western Canada has strengthened over the past year the Company has not entered into any 
additional contracts up to the date of this MD&A. The Company continually monitors the market for its products and will 
manage commodity risk in the future through the use of fixed physical and/or derivative contracts in periods of pricing 
weakness.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company has actively cultivated, established, and maintained positive relationships with First Nations and all 
individuals and other enterprises who are proximate to, or interested in, the Company’s projects. The Company provides 
project updates and meets with the local community on a regular basis to discuss its current and anticipated operations 
to pro-actively manage any potential concerns or issues. The Company also works closely with stakeholders at the 
municipal, provincial, and federal level to ensure that the regulatory authorities are aware of the Company’s adherence 
to all requisite rules, regulations, and laws which pertain the Company’s activities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Company had 6 employees as at December 31, 2022 (2021: 6 employees). The employees of the Company are 
employed under employment contracts which set out, among other things, their job scope and remuneration. Further 
details of their employment terms are set out in the employee handbook of the Company. The Company determines the 
employees’ salaries based on their job nature, scope of duty, and individual performance. The Company also provides 
reimbursements, allowances for site visits and a discretionary annual bonus for the employees. Employee compensation 
for the year ended December 31, 2022 totaled C$1.2 million (2021: C$1.2 million). In relation to staff training, the 
Company also provides different types of programs for its staff to improve their skills and develop their respective 
expertise.
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APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that 
affect the application of IFRS accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income and 
expenses. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates 
are revised and in any future periods affected.

Key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each reporting 
period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next twelve months are described in Note 5 of the 2022 Audited Financial Statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The IASB 
has issued a number of new and revised IFRSs effective January 1, 2022. For the purpose of preparing the financial 
statements, the Company has adopted all applicable new and revised IFRSs for the year ended December 31, 2022 (refer 
to Notes 4(r) and 4(s) of the 2022 Audited Financial Statements).

DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING

For the period starting January 1, 2022 and ending December 31, 2022, Mr. Pingzai Wang in the capacity as Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”), and Mr. Jesse Meidl, Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company until August 15, 2022 
and Ms. Tara Leray, CFO after August 15, 2022, have designed, or caused to be designed under their supervision, 
disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”) to provide reasonable assurance that: (i) material information relating to 
the Company is made known to the Company’s CEO and CFO by others, particularly during the period in which the 
annual and quarterly filings are being prepared; and (ii) information required to be disclosed by the Company in its 
annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time period specified in securities legislation.

For the period starting January 1, 2022 and ending December 31, 2022, Mr. Pingzai Wang and Mr. Jesse Meidl and Ms. 
Tara Leray, in their capacity as CEO and CFO’s of the Company respectively, have designed or caused to be designed 
under their supervision, internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable assurance that all 
assets are safeguarded, transactions are appropriately authorized and to facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable 
and timely information. A control system, no matter how well conceived or operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objective of the control system is met and it should not be expected that the disclosure 
and internal controls and procedures will prevent all errors or fraud. In reaching a reasonable level of assurance, 
management necessarily is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost/benefit relationship of possible controls 
and procedures.

There were no changes made to JX Energy’s internal controls over financial reporting during the period beginning on 
January 1, 2022 and ending on December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially 
affect, the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.

Management has concluded that JX Energy’s ICFR and DC&P was effective as of December 31, 2022. This assessment 
was based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
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RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has established a framework for identifying, evaluating and managing key risks faced by the Company. The 
Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, reviews annually the effectiveness of the internal control system of the 
Company, considering factors such as:

•	 changes, since the last annual review, in nature and extent of significant risks, and the Company’s ability to 
respond to changes in its business and the external environment;

•	 the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems;

•	 the extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the board which enables it to assess control of 
the Company and the effectiveness of risk management;

•	 the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience and training programmes;

•	 budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting functions; communication of the monitoring results to 
the Board that enables it to assess control of the Company and the effectiveness of the risk management;

•	 significant control failings or weaknesses that have been identified during the period. Also, the extent to which 
they have caused unforeseeable outcomes or contingencies that had or might have, a material impact on the 
Company’s financial performance or condition; and

•	 the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and compliance with applicable listing rules 
and securities laws.

The liquidity position of JX Energy would be expected to be improved by a material increase in future commodity prices 
and an increase in proved and probable reserves based on the Company’s drilling program. The Company is involved 
in regular discussions with its lender and is continually pursuing other financing opportunities such as alternative debt 
arrangements, joint venture opportunities, property acquisitions or divestitures and other recapitalization opportunities 
and is taking steps to manage its spending and leverage including the implementation of cost reduction and capital 
management initiatives. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing or come to some other arrangement with 
its lender, it will be required to curtail certain capital expenditure activities and/or possibly be required to liquidate 
certain assets. Ongoing exploration and development of JX Energy’s properties will require substantial additional capital 
investment. Failure to secure additional financing, and/or secure other funds from asset sales, would result in a delay or 
postponement of development of these prospective properties. There can be no assurance that additional financing will 
be available or that, if available, will be on terms favorable or acceptable to JX Energy.

JX Energy monitors and complies with current government regulations that affect its activities, although operations may 
be adversely affected by changes in government policy, regulations, royalty regime or taxation. In addition, JX Energy 
maintains a level of liability, business interruption and property insurance which is believed to be adequate for the 
Company’s size and activities, but is unable to obtain insurance to cover all risks within the business or in amounts to 
cover all possible claims. See “Forward-Looking Information” in this MD&A and “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual 
Information Form (“AIF”) for the year ended December 31, 2022. The AIF is available at the Company’s website at 
www.jxenergy.ca and also www.sedar.com.
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IMPACT OF NEW ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

The oil and gas industry is currently subject to regulation pursuant to a variety of provincial and federal environmental 
legislation, all of which is subject to governmental review and revision from time to time. Such legislation provides for, 
among other things, restrictions and prohibitions on the spill, release or emission of various substances produced in 
association with certain oil and gas industry operations, such as sulphur dioxide and nitrous oxide. In addition, such 
legislation sets out the requirements with respect to oilfield waste handling and storage, habitat protection and the 
satisfactory operation, maintenance, abandonment and reclamation of well and facility sites. Compliance with such 
legislation can require significant expenditures and a breach of such requirements may result in suspension or 
revocation of necessary licenses and authorizations, civil liability and the imposition of material fines and penalties.

The use of fracture stimulations has been ongoing safely in an environmentally responsible manner in western Canada 
for decades. With the increase in the use of fracture stimulations in horizontal wells there is increased communication 
between the oil and natural gas industry and a wider variety of stakeholders regarding the responsible use of this 
technology. This increased attention to fracture stimulations may result in increased regulation or changes of law which 
may make the conduct of the Company’s business more expensive or prevent the Company from conducting its 
business as currently conducted. JX Energy focuses on conducting transparent, safe and responsible operations in the 
communities in which its people live and work.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

This MD&A or documents referred to in this MD&A make reference to the terms “operating netback” and “adjusted 
EBITDA” which are not recognized measures under IFRS, and do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by 
IFRS. Accordingly, the Company’s use of these terms may not be comparable to similarly defined measures presented 
by other companies. Management considers operating netback an important measure to evaluate the Company’s 
operational performance, as it demonstrates its field level profitability relative to current commodity prices. Management 
uses adjusted EBITDA to measure the Company’s efficiency and its ability to generate the cash necessary to fund a 
portion of its future growth expenditures or to repay debt. Investors are cautioned that the non-IFRS measures should 
not be construed as an alternative to net income determined in accordance with IFRS as an indication of the Company’s 
performance.

Operating Netback

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

Commodity sales from production 6,557 6,566 (0%) 26,802 21,480 25%
Net trading revenue (loss) 4 (12) 133% 152 (11) 1482%
Royalties (1,236) (1,193) 4% (4,669) (2,663) 75%
Operating costs (3,094) (3,409) (9%) (12,825) (14,383) (11%)

Operating netback 2,231 1,952 14% 9,461 4,423 114%
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Adjusted EBITDA

Three months ended December 31, Year ended December 31,

C$ 000s 2022 2021 Change 2022 2021 Change

(Loss) and comprehensive (loss) (10,312) (1,549) 566% (3,579) (4,809) (26%)
Finance expenses 851 1,300 (35%) 3,257 5,053 (36%)
Depreciation and amortization 1,793 1,648 9% 6,089 5,572 9%
Non-cash share-based expense 19 30 (37%) 57 118 (52%)
Phantom unit (recovery) expense (9) (156) (94%) 129 334 (61%)
Impairment (recovery) 8,913 (327) (2,826%) 763 (4,313) (118%)

Adjusted EBITDA 1,255 947 33% 6,716 1,955 243%

SELECTED ABBREVIATIONS

In this MD&A, the abbreviations set forth below have the following meanings:

Crude oil and natural gas liquids

Bbls/d or Bbl/d barrels of oil per day
Bbls or Bbl barrels of oil or barrel of oil
Boe barrel of oil equivalent
Boe/d barrel of oil equivalent per day
C$/Bbl Canadian dollars per barrel of oil
C$/Boe Canadian dollars per barrel of oil equivalent
Mbbls or Mbbl thousand barrels
Mboe thousand barrels of oil equivalent
Mbpd thousand barrels per day
MMbbls million barrels of oil
MMbbls/d million barrels of oil per day
MMboe million barrels of oil equivalent
MMboe/d million barrels of oil equivalent per day
US$/Bbl US dollars per barrel of oil
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Natural gas

Bcf billion cubic feet
Bcm billion cubic meters
Cf cubic feet
C$/Mcf Canadian dollars per thousand cubic feet 
C$/MMbtu Canadian dollars per million British thermal units 
GJ gigajoule
GJ/d gigajoules per day
Mcf thousand cubic feet
Mcf/d thousand cubic feet per day
Mcfe thousand cubic feet of gas equivalent
Mcfe/d thousand cubic feet of gas equivalent per day
MMbtu million British thermal units
MMcf million cubic feet
MMcf/d million cubic feet per day
MMcfe million cubic feet of gas equivalent
MMcfe/d million cubic feet of gas equivalent per day
tcf trillion cubic feet
US$/MMbtu US dollars per million British thermal units

Other

km kilometres
km2 square kilometres
m metres
m3 cubic meters
mg milligrams
ºC degrees Celsius

CONVERSION FACTORS — IMPERIAL TO METRIC

Bbl = 0.1590 cubic metres (m3)

Mcf = 0.0283 cubic metres (103m3)

acres = 0.4047 hectares (ha)

Btu = 1054.615 joules (J)

feet (ft) = 0.3048 metres (m)

miles (mi) = 1.6093 kilometres (km)

pounds (Lb) = 0.4536 kilograms (kg)
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The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report in the annual report of the Company for the year 
ended December 31, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interests of 
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles and the code 
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules to ensure 
that the Company’s business activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

For the year ended December 31, 2022 (the “Year”), the Company has complied with the CG Code.

COMPANY’S CULTURE

The Board believes that corporate culture underpins the long-term business, economic success and sustainable growth 
of the Company. A strong culture enables the Company to deliver long-term sustainable performance and fulfil its role 
as a responsible corporate citizen. The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive culture that is 
built on its Purpose, Vision, Mission.

During 2022, the Company continued to strengthen its cultural framework by focusing on the following:

•	 Vision: to increase our shareholder value by continuing to exploit and develop our natural gas and oil asset base 
in our two core exploration and production areas to increase our reserves, production and cash flow.

•	 Mission: to achieve outstanding performance to maximize shareholder returns.

•	 Values: we will add value for our shareholders through the following strategies:

o	 Enhancing the value of our oil and gas assets through increased operational efficiency, effective well 
placement and field development.

o	 Upgrading our Reserves by drilling and developing our undeveloped land position.

o	 Improving our drilling and completion techniques.

o	 Pursuing potential acquisition opportunities with significant value appreciation.

o	 Exploration drilling for new pool discoveries.

The Board sets and promotes corporate culture and expects and requires all employees to reinforce. All of our new 
employees are required to attend orientation and training programs so that they may better understand our corporate 
culture, structure and policies, learn relevant laws and regulations, and raise their quality awareness. In addition, from 
time to time, the Company will invite external experts to provide training to our management personnel to improve their 
relevant knowledge and management skills.

The Board considers that the corporate culture and the purpose, values and strategy of the Company are aligned.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Company, oversees the Company’s strategic decisions and 
monitors the business and performance of the Company. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for 
day-to-day management and operation of the Company to the senior management of the Company. To oversee 
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has established three Board committees including the audit and 
risk committee (the “Audit and Risk Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and 
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The Board has 
delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good faith, in compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

Board Composition

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprised five directors, including two executive Directors and three 
independent non-executive Directors. Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Yongtan Liu (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Pingzai Wang (President and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Richard Dale Orman
Mr. Peter David Robertson
Mr. Larry Grant Smith

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Board at all times met the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of 
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one 
independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related 
financial management expertise. Among the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Peter David Robertson has 
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required by Rule 
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Board Diversity Policy

Pursuant to Listing Rules 13.92, listed issuers are required to adopt a board diversity policy. The policy specifies that in 
designing the composition of the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of aspects, including but 
not limited to age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. The 
appointment of Directors will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be evaluated against objective criteria, 
having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity 
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture, educational background, professional experience, 
knowledge and skills.

The composition of the Board will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report every year and the Nomination 
Committee will supervise the implementation of this policy. The Nomination Committee will review the effectiveness of 
this policy, discuss any revisions that may be required as appropriate, and recommend any such revisions to the Board 
for consideration and approval.
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As at the date of this annual report, the diversity of the Board is illustrated as above. Further details on the biographies 
and experience of the Directors are set out in “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the membership, structure and composition of the Board, and is of the opinion 
that the structure of the Board is reasonable, and the experiences and skills of the Directors in various aspects and 
fields can enable the Company to maintain a high standard of operation, and considered that it was in accordance with 
the board diversity policy.

Measurable Objective

The Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its 
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The Company noted that people from different backgrounds 
would likely approach problems in different ways and accordingly, members of the Board with diverse backgrounds 
would bring in different concerns and questions to the table, and allow the Board to consider a wide range of options 
and solutions when deciding on corporate issues and formulating policies for the Company.
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In determining the Board’s composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the Nomination Committee considers 
factors including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional 
experience, skills, industry knowledge and length of service, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Board has not set any measurable objectives for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Nomination Committee 
would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and 
recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender diversity is 
achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices, and the 
Board will consist of a female Director by December 31, 2024.

Workforce diversity

The gender ratio in the workforce (including senior management) for the year ended December 31, 2022 is 1:1. The 
total gender diversity of the Company is balanced and the Company will continue to maintain the gender diversity in 
workforce. For further details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity together with the relevant 
data, please refer to the disclosure corporate governance report.

Confirmation of Independence by the Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent non-executive Director of his 
independence pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non- 
executive Directors to be independent in accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other material/relevant 
relationship) with any other Director.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business 
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-
executive directors are invited to serve on the Audit and Risk Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee.

In regards to the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose the number and nature of offices held in public 
companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved to the 
issuer, Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

Board Independence

The Company recognizes that Board independence is key to good corporate governance. The Company has in place 
effective mechanisms that underpin an independent Board and that independent views. The current composition of the 
Board, comprising more than one third of the of the independent non-executive Directors and the members of the Audit 
and Risk Committee are all independent non-executive Directors exceed the independence requirements under the 
Listing Rules. The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is subject to regular reviews to maintain 
competitiveness and commensurate with their responsibilities and workload. The independence of each independent 
non-executive Director is assessed upon his appointment and annually.

Directors are requested to declare their direct or indirect interests, if any, in proposals or transactions to be considered 
by the Board at the Board meetings and abstain from voting, where appropriate. External independent professional 
advice is available to all Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, whenever deemed necessary. The 
independent non-executive Directors have consistently demonstrated strong commitment and the ability to devote 
sufficient time to discharge their responsibilities at the Board.

The Company has also established channels through formal and informal means whereby independent non-executive 
Directors can express their views in an open manner, and in a confidential manner, should circumstances arise.



41
JX Energy Ltd.

Annual Report 2022

Corporate Governance Report

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains 
informed and relevant.

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and information to ensure that he or she has a 
proper understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his or her responsibilities under relevant 
statues, laws, rules and regulations.

During the Year, each of the Directors received from the Company from time to time the updates on laws, rules and 
regulations which might be relevant to their roles, duties and functions as director of a listed company. All Directors 
have been updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory 
requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, 
continuing briefing and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer (“CEO”) are segregated and assumed by two 
separate individuals who have no relationship with each other to ensure that the power and authority are not 
concentrated in any one individual for the purpose of code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. During the Year, Mr. 
Yongtan Liu was the chairman of the Board and Mr. Pingzai Wang was the Company’s CEO.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

Mr. Yongtan Liu has entered into a service agreement as executive Director for an initial term of three years 
commencing from December 18, 2019.

Mr. Richard Dale Orman and Mr. Peter David Robertson signed an appointment letter with the Company as independent 
non-executive Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from February 26, 2017. The term of appointment 
was automatically extended for an additional three years on February 26, 2020, and the term of appointment shall be 
automatically extended under the same terms of the service contract until it is terminated.

Mr. Larry Grant Smith has entered into an appointment letter with the Company as independent non-executive Director 
for a term of three years commencing from December 4, 2020.

Mr. Pingzai Wang has entered into a service agreement with the Company as executive Director for a term of three 
years commencing from July 1, 2020. Mr. Wang is currently entitled to receive emoluments of C$330,000 (approximately 
HK$2,049,551) per annum as the CEO, as determined by the Board with reference to his duties, responsibilities, 
remuneration policy of the Company, performance of the Company as well as the prevailing market condition. Mr. Wang 
does not receive any additional emolument from the Company as an executive Director.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment 
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Company’s articles of incorporation, as amended and restated, and By-Laws, the Directors are 
subject to re-election at every annual general meeting. Shareholders of the Company entitled to vote at the annual 
general meeting for the election of Directors will elect a Board consisting of at least the minimum number of Directors 
set under the articles of the Company and all the Directors shall cease to hold office immediately before such election, 
but are eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of directors are set out in the Company’s articles 
of incorporation, as amended and restated, and By-Laws. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
Board composition, monitoring and making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-election and 
succession planning of Directors, in particular the chairman and the CEO.

Majority Voting Policy

Given the preclusion of the use of two-way voting for the election of directors under the ABCA and Canadian securities 
laws, the Company has adopted a majority voting policy, pursuant to which each Director must be elected individually 
(rather than as a slate) by a majority (50% plus one vote) of the votes cast (i.e. more votes “for” than votes “withheld”) 
with respect to his or her election. If a Director nominee is not elected by at least a majority of the votes cast with 
respect to his or her election, he or she must immediately tender his or her resignation to the Board. The Board must, 
within 90 days, determine whether or not to accept the resignation and issue an announcement in relation to the Board’s 
decision in that regard. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, a director is validly elected if he or she has any votes “for” as, 
under Canadian corporate and securities law, votes can only be “withheld”, not voted “against”. A “withheld” vote will 
be considered to be an “against” vote for the purpose of appointment of Directors on the application of the majority 
voting policy.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings regularly, at least 4 times a year, and at approximately 
quarterly intervals. Notices of not less than 14 days are given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with 
an opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee 
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are dispatched to the 
Directors or committee members at least 3 days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review 
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When directors or committee members are unable to attend a 
meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the 
Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to all 
Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered 
by the Board and the committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft 
minutes of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time 
after the date on which the meeting is held. The minutes of the board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, nine board meetings were held and the attendance of the individual 
Directors at these meetings is set out in the table below:

Directors Attended/Eligible to attend

Mr. Yongtan Liu 8/9
Mr. Pingzai Wang 9/9
Mr. Richard Dale Orman 9/9
Mr. Peter David Robertson 9/9
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 9/9
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During the year ended December 31, 2022, one annual general meeting and two special meetings of shareholders 
were held and the attendance at these meetings is set out in the table below:

Directors Attended/Eligible to attend

Mr. Yongtan Liu 3/3
Mr. Pingzai Wang 3/3
Mr. Richard Dale Orman 3/3
Mr. Peter David Robertson 3/3
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 3/3

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in 
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the 
Company by the Directors and the Company’s senior management who, because of his/her office or employment, is 
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the Year and as at 
the date of this Annual Report. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by 
senior management of the Company during the Year and as at the date of this Annual Report.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves its decision for all major matters of the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy 
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material transactions (in 
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other 
significant financial and operational matters. Directors have recourse to seek independent professional advice in 
performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s 
senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Company are delegated to senior management. The 
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the 
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of Directors which include:

(a)	 to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

(b)	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management 
of the Company;

(c)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d)	 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and 
Directors of the Company; and

(e)	 to review and ensure the Company’s compliance with the CG Code from time to time adopted by the Company 
and the disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report to be contained in the Company’s annual reports.
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The Board has performed all the above corporate governance duties during the year ended December 31, 2022.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee was comprised of Mr. Yongtan Liu 
(chairman), Mr. Larry Grant Smith and Mr. Peter David Robertson, the majority of whom are independent non-executive 
Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board at least 
annually and make recommendations on any changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, 
to make recommendation to the Board regarding candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/or in management, and 
to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and 
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination 
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. Their written terms of reference are available on the websites of 
the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held and the attendance 
record of the Nomination Committee members is set out in the table below:

Directors Attended/Eligible to attend

Mr. Yongtan Liu (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Peter David Robertson 1/1
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 1/1

The Nomination Committee assessed the independence of independent non-executive Directors, considered the 
reappointment of the retiring Directors and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.

The Company has adopted and implemented written terms of reference for the Nomination Committee to identify 
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members. The Nomination Committee would make recommendations to 
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria. The Board 
is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of new Directors.

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the qualifications, skills, experience and 
gender diversity that add to and complement the range of skills, experience and background of existing Directors by 
considering the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director candidates, proven achievement 
and competence in the nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, skills that are 
complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability to assist and support management and make significant 
contributions to the Company’s success and such other factors as it may deem are in the best interests of the Company 
and its shareholders.

The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that 
Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background, experience and knowledge in business, finance 
and management skills critical to the Company’s business to enable the Board to make sound and well considered 
decisions. Collectively, the Directors have competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Company. The 
Company shall review and reassess the terms of reference for the Nomination Committee and its effectiveness on a 
regular basis or as required.
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Procedure for Nomination of Directors

1.	 When there is a vacancy on the Board, the Nomination Committee evaluates the balance of skills, knowledge, 
experience and characteristics of the Board, and identifies any special requirements for the vacancy (e.g. 
independence status in the case of an independent non-executive Director).

2.	 Prepare a description of the role and capabilities required for the particular vacancy.

3.	 Identify a list of candidates through personal contacts/recommendations by Board members, senior management, 
business partners or investors.

4.	 Arrange interview(s) with each candidate for the Nomination Committee to evaluate whether he or she meets the 
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee for nomination of directors. One or more members of the 
Nomination Committee will attend the interview.

5.	 Conduct verification on information provided by the candidate.

6.	 Convene a Nomination Committee meeting to discuss and vote on which candidate(s) to nominate to the Board.

7.	 Make recommendations to the Board on the candidate(s) for directorship and/or for senior management.

8.	 Convene a Board meeting to discuss and vote on which candidate(s) to appoint to the Board.

Criteria for Nomination of Directors

1.	 Common criteria for all Directors

(a)	 Character and integrity.

(b)	 The willingness to assume board fiduciary responsibility.

(c)	 Present needs of the Board for particular experience or expertise and whether the candidate would satisfy 
those needs.

(d)	 Relevant experience, including experience at the strategy/policy setting level, high level managerial 
experience in a complex organization, industry experience and familiarity with the products and processes 
used by the Company.

(e)	 Significant business or public experience relevant and beneficial to the Board and the Company.

(f)	 Breadth of knowledge about issues affecting the Company.

(g)	 Ability to objectively analyse complex business problems and exercise sound business judgement.

(h)	 Ability and willingness to contribute special competencies to Board activities.

(i)	 Fit with the Company’s culture.
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2.	 Criteria applicable to non-executive Directors/independent non-executive Directors

(a)	 Willingness and ability to make a sufficient time commitment to the affairs of the Company in order to 
effectively perform the duties of a director, including attendance at and active participation in Board and 
committee meetings.

(b)	 Accomplishments of the candidate in his/her field.

(c)	 Outstanding professional and personal reputation.

(d)	 The candidate’s ability to meet the independence criteria for directors established in the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee was comprised of Mr. Richard 
Dale Orman (chairman), Mr. Yongtan Liu and Mr. Larry Grant Smith, the majority of them are independent non-executive 
Directors.

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the second model described in paragraph E.1.2(c) under of Part 2 of 
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules (i.e. make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual 
executive Directors and senior management members), and Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules (i.e. review and/or approve 
matters relating to share schemes).

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to recommend the Board on the remuneration policy and 
structure for the Directors and management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for 
developing remuneration policy, to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the 
Board’s corporate goals and objectives, and to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of 
all Directors and management.

Their written terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, one meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held and the attendance 
record of the Remuneration Committee members is set out in the table below:

Directors Attended/Eligible to attend

Mr. Richard Dale Orman (Chairman) 1/1
Mr. Yongtan Liu 1/1
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 1/1

The Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed the remuneration policy for Directors and senior management of 
the Company, considered salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and 
employment conditions elsewhere in the Company, made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 
of individual executive Directors and senior management and fulfilled duties as required aforesaid.
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Details of the remuneration by band of the 3 members of senior management of the Company, whose biographies are 
set out in “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, for the year ended December 31, 2022 
are set out below:

Remuneration band Number of individuals

Hong Kong dollars
Nil–1,000,000 1
1,000,001–1,500,000 —
1,500,001–2,000,000 1
2,000,001–2,500,000 1
2,500,001–3,000,000 —
3,500,001–4,000,000 —
4,500,001–5,000,000 —

Phantom Unit Plan

On May 2, 2016, the Board approved, effective upon the Company’s Listing on the Stock Exchange, a phantom unit 
plan (the “Phantom Unit Plan”) for the benefit of the Company’s independent non-executive Directors (the “Eligible 
Directors”) to encourage a sense of ownership and to enhance the Company’s ability to retain key personnel and 
reward significant performance achievements.

Under the Phantom Unit Plan, a percentage (the “Designated Percentage”) of the Eligible Director’s fees (the “Fee”), 
as determined by the Board, will be paid in phantom units issued thereunder (the “Phantom Units”) as part of the 
Company’s compensation plan for the Eligible Directors. Each Eligible Director shall agree in writing prior to the 
commencement of each twelve-month period commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31 (the “Fee 
Period”) to receive the applicable Designated Percentage of Fees in the form of Phantom Units. The first Fee Period will 
commence on the Listing Date and shall end on December 31 of that calendar year.

On each date in which Phantom Units are to be allotted (the “Unit Allotment Date”) to an Eligible Director participating 
in the Phantom Unit Plan (a “Participant”), a number of Phantom Units determined by dividing (i) an amount equal to 
the Designated Percentage of the Fees to have credited in Phantom Units on that Unit Allotment Date, by (ii) the Fair 
Market Value (the weighted average trading price of the Shares on any exchange where the Shares are listed including 
the Main Board for the last 5 trading days prior to such day) of a Share on that Unit Allotment Date, shall be credited to 
the Participant’s account.

As at a Participant’s termination date (being the date on which the Participant ceases to be a member of the Board by 
way of retirement, non-re-election as a director, resignation or death), the Participant (or his or her legal representative) 
is entitled to, by giving written notice to the Company, redeem all or a portion of the Phantom Units recorded on his or 
her account as at a particular date (the “Redemption Date”). The Participant is entitled on the Redemption Date to 
receive an amount equal to the number of Phantom Units to be redeemed on such Redemption Date multiplied by the 
Fair Market Value of a Share on such Redemption Date, net of any applicable deductions and withholdings. In 
December 2019, the directors agreed that any amounts due at the Redemption Date would be paid by the Company 
not less than 366 days after the Redemption Date.

The Phantom Unit Plan became effective on the Listing Date. Details of the Phantom Unit Plan are set out in Note 19 to 
the Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Audit and Risk Committee

During the Year and to the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Committee was comprised of Mr. Peter David 
Robertson (chairman), Mr. Richard Dale Orman and Mr. Larry Grant Smith, all of them being independent non-executive 
Directors.

The primary duties of the Audit and Risk Committee include overseeing the financial position of the Company, 
overseeing the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management systems, the audit process and 
proposals of internal management, and communicating independently with, monitoring and verifying the work of 
external auditors.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, 4 meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee were held and the attendance 
record of the Audit and Risk Committee members is set out in the table below:

Directors Attended/Eligible to attend

Mr. Peter David Robertson (Chairman) 4/4
Mr. Richard Dale Orman 4/4
Mr. Larry Grant Smith 4/4

The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed the financial reporting, compliance procedures, internal control (including the 
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s 
accounting and financial reporting function), risk management and the reappointment of the external auditor and fulfilled 
duties as required aforesaid. The Board had not deviated from any determination and recommendation given by the 
Audit and Risk Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Audit and Risk Committee also reviewed the final results of the Company for the fiscal year as well as the audit 
report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting issues and major findings in the course of audit. There 
are proper arrangements for employees, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial 
reporting, internal control and other matters. Their written terms of reference are available on the websites of the Stock 
Exchange and the Company.

Furthermore, the Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of the 
Company’s health, safety, environment, asset integrity management and corporate security policies.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 
2022 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and of the Company’s results and cash flows.

Management has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board to 
carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The 
Company provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, positions and 
prospects.

Material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern are disclosed in Note 3 of the audited financial statements for the year ended December 
31, 2022. The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal Controls

The Board places great importance on internal controls and is responsible for the Company’s risk management and to 
ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls. The Company’s risk management and internal 
control policies are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatements or loss 
and to help the Board identify and manage, but not eliminate, risk exposure to help the Company achieve its business 
objectives.

The Company has adopted risk management and internal control systems which manage the risks associated with its 
business and operations. The systems adopt the procedure of risk identification, analysis, evaluation, treatment, 
monitoring and reporting. The controls built into the risk management and internal control systems are intended to 
manage, not to eliminate, significant risks in the Company’s business environment.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company has complied with code provision D.2 of the CG Code by 
establishing appropriate and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Company reviews and 
monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system on an ongoing basis. 
Given the small size of the Company (6 full time employees as at December 31, 2022) and limited number of 
transactions processed annually, the Company does not have an internal audit function. In lieu, during the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board have reviewed the overall effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management and internal controls systems. In conducting such review, the Board has:(i) reviewed and 
discussed the scope and results of the annual testing with the Company’s auditor; and (ii) reviewed with management 
the results of the Company’s internal management representation process that was performed in connection with the 
preparation of the annual financial statements. Based on its review, the Board believes that the risk management and 
internal control systems of the Company are effective and adequate, and is not aware of any material defects in the 
effectiveness of internal controls.

The Company has established a code of conduct and ethics, which includes a policy on the handling of confidential 
information, information disclosure and securities dealing for all employees of the Company to comply with when they 
are in possession of confidential or inside information in relation to the Company. The code of conduct and ethics 
provides that the Company’s employees, officers, Directors and contract employees will uphold our commitment to a 
culture of honesty, integrity and accountability and that the Company requires the highest standards of professional and 
ethical conduct from its employees, officers, Directors and contract employees.

Measures have been adopted to ensure that proper safeguards are in place to prevent a breach of the disclosure 
requirement, which include restricting the access of information to a limited number of employees on a need-to-know 
basis. Employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve 
confidentiality; asking employees to sign confidentiality agreements when the Company enters into significant 
negotiations or transactions; and designating the Executive Directors to speak on behalf of the Company when 
communicating with external parties such as the media or investors.

The Company’s whistleblowing program is administered by an independent third party, and is available for use when 
someone suspects or is aware of illegal, unsafe or inappropriate activity at work. The whistleblowing program provides 
an avenue for individuals to raise concerns confidentially and anonymously.
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Annual Assessment

A review of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system covering all material 
controls, including financial, operational, compliance, and risk management controls, is conducted annually. The review 
at the end of 2021 was conducted with reference to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 Framework) internal control framework, which assesses the Company’s internal control system 
against the five components of internal control: control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and 
communication, and monitoring. The Company has also conducted an annual review to assess the adequacy of 
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function and their 
budget (for training and related programs). The approach, findings, analysis and results of this annual review have 
been reported to the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board. The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board 
considered the risk management and internal control systems effective and adequate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company incurred C$415,700 in 2022 for services provided by the external auditor in connection with financial 
statements audits, and $13,076 for non-audit services, related to canadian tax filings.

COMPANY SECRETARY AND PRIMARY CONTACT OF THE COMPANY

Mr. Jesse Meidl, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company was appointed as joint company secretary of the Company 
from December 4, 2020 to August 15, 2022. On August 15, 2022, Ms. Tara Leray was appointed as joint company 
secretary of the Company.

Pursuant to Rule 8.17 of the Listing Rules, a listed issuer must appoint a company secretary who meets the 
requirements under Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules. Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules provides that a listed issuer must 
appoint as its company secretary an individual who, in the opinion of the Stock Exchange, is capable of discharging the 
functions of company secretary of the listed issuer by virtue of his/her academic or professional qualifications or 
relevant experience.

Ms. Leray currently does not possess the academic or professional qualifications of a company secretary as required 
under Rules 3.28 and 8.17 of the Listing Rules. In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance 
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also engages Ms. Chau Hing Ling, the executive 
director of corporate services of Vistra Corporate Services (HK) Limited (a company secretarial service provider), as its 
joint company secretary assisting Mr. Jesse Meidl and Ms. Tara Leray to discharge their duties as company secretary 
of the Company. Her primary corporate contact person at the Company is Ms. Tara Leray, the joint company secretary 
of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, Ms. Chau Hing Ling, Ms. Tara Leray and Mr. Jesse Meidl have undertaken 
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations 
and understanding of the Company’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the 
importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable shareholders and investors to make 
informed investment decisions.
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The annual general meeting of the Company (the “AGM”) provides opportunity for shareholders to communicate directly 
with the Directors. The Chairman of the Company, and the chairmen of the Board Committees of the Company will 
attend the AGMs to answer shareholders’ questions. The external auditor of the Company will also attend the AGMs to 
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting 
policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholders’ communication policy which aims at 
establishing a two-way relationship and communication between the Company and its shareholders and maintains a 
website at http://www.jxenergy.ca, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and 
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices and other information are available for public 
access. The shareholders communication policy will be reviewed on a regular basis by the Board.

The Company has established a range of communication channels between itself and its Shareholders, investors, and 
other stakeholders. These include (i) the publication of interim and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, notices, 
and other announcements; (ii) the annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting providing a forum for 
Shareholders to raise comments and exchanging views with the Board; (iii) updated and key information of the 
Company available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website; (iv) the Company’s website offering 
communication channel between the Company and its stakeholders; (v) the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong 
serving the Shareholders in respect of all share registration matters; and (vi) convening investor meeting and/or analyst 
briefings, which led by our executive Directors and senior management team with existing and potential investors, as 
required.

The Company held its annual general meeting on June 22, 2022 (the “AGM”). A total number of 3 shareholders, 
including their proxies or representatives attended the AGM and shares voted is 32% of the total issued shares of the 
Company. All resolutions proposed at the AGM were passed.

The Company also held two special meetings on June 22, 2022 (the “1st SM”) and on August 15, 2022 (the “2nd SM”) 
respectively. A total number of 2 shareholders, including their proxies or representatives attended the 1st SM and 
shares voted is 8.3% of the total issued shares intitled to vote on the resolutions of the 1st SM whereas a total number of 
3 shareholders, including their proxies or representatives attended the 2nd SM and shares voted is 34.6% of the total 
issued shares of the Company. The percentage of the affirmative votes on each of the proposed resolutions was 100 % 
and all resolutions proposed at both the 1st SM and the 2nd SM were passed.

Having considered the multiple channels of communication and shareholders engagement in the general meeting held 
during the year, the Board is satisfied that the shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented 
during 2022 and is effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) (the “ABCA”), the directors of a corporation are authorized to call 
meetings of shareholders. The ABCA establishes two categories of meetings of shareholders: (i) annual meetings, and (ii) 
special meetings.

There are also specific circumstances in which shareholders may call special meetings where the directors fail to do so.

Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the ABCA, registered or beneficial holders of not less than five per cent (5%) of 
the issued voting shares may requisition the directors to call a meeting of shareholders. If the directors do not call a 
meeting within 21 days after receiving the requisition, a shareholder who signed the requisition may call the meeting. 
The ABCA mandates that such shareholders be reimbursed for expenses incurred in requisitioning, calling, and holding 
the meeting unless the shareholders resolve otherwise at the meeting.
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To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution will be proposed for each issue at shareholder 
meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results 
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each shareholder 
meeting. As regards proposing a person for election as a director, the procedures are available on the website of the 
Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and investors may send written enquiries or requests to the Company as follows:

Address:	 Suite 900, 717-7th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta T2P 0Z3, Canada

Phone:	 +1 403-355-6623

Email:	 ir@jxenergy.ca

Enquiries are dealt with in a timely and informative manner.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On June 22, 2022 following the passing of the special resolution by the Shareholders at the meeting held on June 22, 
2022, the Registrar of Corporations in Alberta issued the certificate of amendment on June 23, 2022 confirming that the 
new English name of the Company has been changed from “Persta Resources Inc.” to “JX Energy Ltd.” on June 23, 
2022. The Company’s by-laws were updated to reflect the name change.

The certificate of registration of alteration of name of registered non-Hong Kong company was issued by the Registrar 
of Companies in Hong Kong on 15 July 2022 confirming the registration of the new English name of the Company in 
Hong Kong under Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Company has 
also adopted the Chinese name of “吉星新能源有限責任公司” for identification purpose only.

The change of the English name of the Company did not affect any right of the Shareholders or the Company’s daily 
business operation and its financial position. All existing share certificates bearing the existing name of “PERSTA 
RESOURCES INC.” shall continue to be evidence of title such Shares and valid for trading, settlement, delivery and 
registration purposes.

Accordingly, there was not any arrangement for the free exchange of existing share certificates for new share 
certificates bearing the new name of the Company. With effect from August 1, 2022, new share certificates of the 
Company will be issued under the new name of the Company.

With effect from 9:00 a.m. on August 1, 2022, the stock short name of the Company for trading in the Shares on the 
Stock Exchange was be changed from “PERSTA” to “JX ENERGY” in English. The Company has not adopted a Chinese 
stock short name and the stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange remains unchanged.

Save as disclosed above, no changes were made to the Company’s By-Laws during the year ended December 31, 
2022.
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Anti-corruption Policy

The Company is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity, and accountability. In line with that 
commitment, the Company’s Employee Manual details our anti-corruption policy to provide guidance to the Board and 
employees of a zero-tolerance approach to all forms of corruption, including deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, 
conspiracy, embezzlement, fraud, money laundering and collusion.

As per the Employee Manual, employees and directors must maintain an impeccable standard of integrity in all 
transactions and carry out their work in an honest and ethical manner as outlined by the anti-corruption policy. They 
must avoid conflicts of interest and subordination of judgment in performing their duties and responsibilities for the 
Company.

Whistle Blowing Policy

Employees, customers, suppliers, and other stakeholders who have concerns about any suspected misconduct or 
malpractice within the Company are encouraged to come forward and voice those concerns. The Company will 
endeavour to respond to the concerns fairly and properly.

The Whistle Blowing Policy provides a channel for our employees to report instances they believe to be unethical or in 
breach of the code of conduct. Suspected non-compliance may be reported verbally or in writing to the department 
head, chief executive officer or compliance officer of the Company.

When a complaint is filed, dedicated compliance officers will investigate the case using an internal or external party as 
required, while protecting the whistle blower from reprisal. Our employees, agents or intermediaries found to have 
breached our Whistle Blowing Policy may be subject to termination of contract, dismissal, sanctions or criminal 
proceedings.

The Whistle Blowing Policy encourages the reporting of misconducts by assuring whistle blowers protection against 
unfair dismissal, victimization or unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns turn out to be unsubstantiated. 
The Company’s employees who victimize or retaliate against those who have raised concerns under this policy will be 
subject to disciplinary actions.

However, the Company’s employees who make a false report maliciously, with an ulterior motive, without reasonable 
grounds that the information in the report is accurate or reliable, or for personal gain, may face disciplinary action, 
including the possibility of dismissal.

During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in all material respects.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular basis, any suspected cases will be reported to the Audit and 
Risk Committee.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) 
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is principally engaged in natural gas and crude oil exploration and production, with a focus on natural 
gas. The Company focuses on long-term growth through acquisition, exploration, development and production in the 
Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin.

An analysis of the Company’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is set out in the section 
headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report and the statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss in the Financial Statements.

The Company was incorporated in Calgary, Alberta, Canada under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) in 2005 and 
has no subsidiaries.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Company’s business during the year, which includes a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties 
faced by the Company, an analysis of the Company’s performance using financial key performance indicators, 
particulars of important events affecting the Company during the year and an indication of likely future developments in 
the Company’s business, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis” in this annual report. The financial risk management objectives and activities of the Company can also be 
found in Note 27 to the Financial Statements. In addition, a discussion on relationships with its key stakeholders is 
included in the section headed “Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. The review forms part of 
this directors’ report.

RESULTS

The results of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in the section headed “Management 
Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final dividend for the year ended December 31, 2022.

DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has not paid any dividends since incorporation and does not currently have a fixed dividend policy. The 
Board of Directors will determine any future dividend policy on the basis of, among others things, the results of 
operations, cash flows and financial conditions, operating and capital requirements, the rules promulgated by the 
regulators affecting dividends in both Canada and Hong Kong, the Stock Exchange, the amount of distributable profits 
and other relevant factors.
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Subject to the Business Corporations Act (Alberta), the Directors may from time to time declare and authorise payment 
of such dividends as they may deem advisable, including the amount thereof and the time and method of payment 
provided that the record date for the purpose of determining shareholders entitled to receive payment of the dividend 
must not precede the date on which the dividend is to be paid by more than 50 days.

A dividend may be paid wholly or partly by the distribution of cash, specific assets or of fully paid shares or of bonds, 
debentures or other securities of the Company, or in any one or more of those ways. No dividend may be declared or 
paid in money or assets if there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is insolvent or the payment of 
the dividend would render the Company insolvent.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results and assets and liabilities for the last five financial years are set out in the section 
“Five-Year Financial Summary” in this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited Financial 
Statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had five active customers (2021: four active customers), of 
which three customers (2021: one customer) exceeded 10% of the Company’s revenues. The Company’s largest 
customer accounted for 61% of revenues totaling C$16.5 million, the second largest customer accounted for 19% of 
revenues totaling C$5.2 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company’s largest supplier accounted for approximately 48% of the 
Company’s total cost of sales. The Company’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 86% of the Company’s 
total cost of sales.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred C$6.2 million (approximately 48% of the Company’s 
total cost of sales) to Jixing Energy (Canada) Ltd., a private Canadian company controlled by the Company’s Chairman 
Mr. Yongtan Liu pursuant to the Jixing Gas Handling and Jixing Voyager Compression Agreements (the “Jixing 
Agreements”) as defined in Note 26 of the Financial Statements. As at December 31, 2022, the Company has a total 
balance owing to Jixing of C$10.9 million on the Jixing Agreements.

Pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring of the Company’s debt (see Note 13 in the Financial Statements), any payment 
made to a related party is subject to the Insider Payment Restrictions and prohibited unless the loan balance is equal to 
or less than C$15 million; or if the loan balance is less than C$17.5 million, but greater than C$15 million, the Debt to 
Trailing EBITDA Ratio requirement from the 2021 Restructuring was waived.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) or any 
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share 
capital) has any beneficial interest in the Company’s five largest suppliers or the Company’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 
are set out in Note 10 to the Financial Statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 
16 to the Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in the 
section headed “Statement of Changes In Shareholders’ Equity” in the Financial Statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s distributable reserves were nil.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company as at December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 13 to the 
Financial Statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for loans, 
directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its Controlling Shareholder or his/her respective connected 
persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yongtan Liu (Chairman)
Mr. Pingzai Wang (President and Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Richard Dale Orman
Mr. Peter David Robertson
Mr. Larry Grant Smith
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Company as at the date of this annual report are set 
in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS

The Company has received a confirmation of independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the 
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers such Directors to be independent during the year 
ended December 31, 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT AND LETTER OF APPOINTMENTS

Mr. Yongtan Liu has entered into a service agreement as executive Director for an initial term of three years 
commencing from December 18, 2019.

Mr. Richard Dale Orman and Mr. Peter David Robertson signed an appointment letter with the Company as independent 
non-executive Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from February 26, 2017. The term of appointment 
was automatically extended for an additional three years on February 26, 2020, and the term of appointment shall be 
automatically extended under the same terms of the service contract until it is terminated.

Mr. Larry Grant Smith has entered into an appointment letter with the Company as independent non-executive Director 
for a term of three years commencing from December 4, 2020.

Mr. Pingzai Wang has entered into a service agreement with the Company as executive Director for a term of three 
years commencing from July 1, 2020. Mr. Wang is currently entitled to receive emoluments of C$330,000 (approximately 
HK$2,049,511) per annum as the CEO, as determined by the Board with reference to his duties, responsibilities, 
remuneration policy of the Company, performance of the Company as well as the prevailing market condition. Mr. Wang 
does not receive any additional emolument from the Company as an executive Director.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment 
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of directors’ interests in contracts of significance are set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

On August 15, 2022 Mr. Jesse Meidl tendered his resignation as chief financial officer and joint company secretary, and 
Ms. Tara Suzanne Leray was appointed as Mr. Meidl’s replacement on the same day.

Other than noted above, no contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial 
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Details of controlling shareholder interests in contracts of significance are set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED SECURITIES

Dividends paid or credited or deemed to be paid or credited on the Shares to a Non-Resident Shareholder will be 
subject to a Canadian non-resident withholding tax at a rate of 25%, subject to reduction under the provisions of any 
applicable income tax treaty or convention between Canada and the country of which the Non-Resident Shareholder is 
resident.

A Non-Resident Shareholder may also be subject to tax in respect of any capital gain realized by such Shareholder on 
a disposition of Shares if the Shares constitute “taxable Canadian property” (as defined in the ITA) of the Non-Resident 
Shareholder at the time of disposition and the Non-Resident Shareholder is not entitled to relief under an applicable 
income tax treaty or convention. The Shares will generally not constitute taxable Canadian property to a Non-Resident 
Shareholder unless certain ownership thresholds and asset value tests have been satisfied.

Shareholders and potential investors should consult an independent tax adviser if they have any doubt about the 
application of Canadian federal income tax rules to their particular circumstances and the consequences to them of the 
purchase, ownership withholding tax on dividends and refund procedures as well as disposition of the Shares.

EMPLOYEES

The Company had 6 employees as at December 31, 2022. The employees of the Company are employed under 
employment contracts which set out, among other things, their job scope and remuneration. Further details of their 
employment terms are set out in the employee handbook of the Company. The Company determines the employees’ 
salaries based on their job nature, scope of duty, and individual performance. The Company also provides 
reimbursements, allowances for site visits and a discretionary annual bonus for the employees. The Company also 
provides employees with welfare benefits in accordance with the applicable laws and the internal policies of the 
Company.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Company does not have any employee who is required to participate in the Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong 
Kong. The Company is in compliance with the statutory requirements in relation to retirement and employment insurance 
contributions. Subject to very few exceptions, every person over the age of 18 who works in Canada, as well as each 
employer, must contribute to the employment insurance (“EI”) program and to the Canada Pension Plan (“CPP”). Each 
employee must pay half of the required contributions for CPP and each employer pays the remaining half. Each 
employee and employer pays their respective portion of the EI premiums. The Company contributed 3.7% of relevant 
payroll costs, to CPP, and in 2022 the annual contribution was capped at $3,499.80 per employee.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee was set up for reviewing the Company’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration 
of the directors and senior management of the Company, having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual 
performance of the directors and senior management and comparable market practices.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals are set out in Notes 20 and 21 to the 
Financial Statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS 
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in 
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to have 
under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into 
the register maintained by the Company, or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interest in Shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of Interest

Number and 
class of 
Shares(1)

Approximate 
% of 

shareholding

Yongtan Liu(2) Security interest, interest in controlled  
corporation and interest of spouse

181,194,306 40.28%

Interest in controlled corporation and  
interest of spouse

23,600,000 5.25%

Pingzai Wang(3) Beneficial owner and interest of spouse 2,093,167 0.47%

Notes:

1.	 The calculation is based on the total number of 449,886,520 Shares in issue as at December 31, 2022.

2.	 Jixing Gas Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Changchun City Jixing Gas Service for Auto Co. Ltd. (“Changchun”) which is owned as to 

66.70% and 33.30% by Mr. Yongtan Liu (“Mr. Liu”) and Ms. Lijun Zhang (“Ms. Zhang”), respectively. Jixing Gas Holdings Limited also has an 

interest in 181,194,306 Shares as security interest. Ms. Zhang is the spouse of Mr. Liu. Accordingly, Ms. Zhang is deemed, or taken to be, 

interested in the Shares which Mr. Liu is interested in for the purposes of the SFO.

3.	 Mr. Pingzai Wang holds a total of 1,500,000 stock options and 440,000 Shares of the Company. Ms. Li Wang holds 153,167 Shares. Ms. Li Wang is 

the spouse of Mr. Pingzai Wang. Accordingly, Mr. Pingzai Wang is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares which Ms. Li Wang is 

interested in for the purposes of the SFO.
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Interest in shares of the associated corporation of the Company

Name of Approximate
associated Capacity/Nature Long/Short Number of % of issued

Name of Director corporation of interest position shares share capital

Yongtan Liu(1) Changchun Security interest Long N/A 66.70%
Jixing Gas 

Holding Limited
Beneficial owners Long N/A 66.70%

Note:

1.	 Jixing Gas Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Changchun which is owned as to approximately 66.70% and 33.30% by Mr. Liu and Ms. 

Zhang, respectively. Jixing Gas Holdings Limited also has an interest in 181,194,306 shares as security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at December 31, 2022, none of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company had 
or was deemed to have any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or 
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be recorded in the register of 
the Company required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following persons (not being a Director or chief 
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which are to be disclosed 
by the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register required to 
be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

Approximate
Number of % of issued

Name of Substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares(1) share capital

Aspen Investment Holdings Ltd.(2) 
(“Aspen”)

Beneficial owner and parties acting 
in concert

181,194,306
(Long Position)

40.28%

Yuan Jing (“Mr. Jing”)(3) Interest in controlled corporation and 
parties acting in concert

181,194,306
(Long Position)

40.28%

Ji Lin Hong Yuan Trade Group 
Limited (吉林省弘原經貿集團 
有限公司) (“JLHY”)(2)(4)

Interest in controlled corporation and 
parties acting in concert

181,194,306
(Long Position)

40.28%

Changchun Liyuan Investment 
Co., Ltd.(長春市麗源投資有限公司) 
(“Liyuan”)(5)

Interest in controlled corporation and 
parties acting in concert

181,194,306
(Long Position)

40.28%

Guang Jing(6) Interest in controlled corporation 181,194,306
(Long Position)

40.28%
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Approximate
Number of % of issued

Name of Substantial Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest shares(1) share capital

Jixing Gas Holding Limited(7) Security interest 181,194,306 40.28%
Beneficial owner 23,600,000

(Long Position)
5.25%

Changchun(7) Security interest 181,194,306 40.28%
Interest in controlled corporation 23,600,000

(Long Position)
5.25%

Ms. Zhang(7)(8) Security interest, interest in controlled  
corporation and interest of spouse

181,194,306 40.28%

Interest in controlled corporation and 
interest of spouse

23,600,000
(Long Position)

5.25%

Dalian Yongli Petrochemical Ltd.  
(大連永力石油化工有限公司) 
(“Dalian”)(9)

Beneficial owner 132,000,000
(Long Position)

29.34%

Zhang Zhong(9) Interest in controlled corporation 132,000,000
(Long Position)

29.34%

Notes:

1.	 The calculation is based on the total number of 449,886,520 Shares in issue as at December 31, 2022.

2.	 Aspen holds 181,194,306 Shares and is owned as to approximately 80.78% and 19.22% by JLHY and Liyuan respectively. Pursuant to the 

unanimous shareholders agreement dated December 18, 2015 (the “Unanimous Shareholders Agreement”) as amended on September 3, 2021 (the 

“Amended USA”), Aspen, Mr. Jing, JLHY and Liyuan became parties acting in concert and therefore Aspen is deemed to be interested in all the 

Shares in which Mr. Jing is interested in under the SFO, which in aggregate represent approximately 40.28% of the total number of the issued 

Shares of the Company.

3.	 Mr. Jing is interested in 60% of the equity interest in JLHY. Pursuant to the Unanimous Shareholders Agreement and the Amended USA, Mr. Jing is 

deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Aspen, JLHY and Liyuan are interested in under the SFO, which in aggregate represent 

approximately 40.28% of the total number of the issued Shares of the Company.

4.	 JLHY is held as to 60% by Mr. Jing and 40% by Guang Jing, Mr. Jing’s brother. Pursuant to the Unanimous Shareholders Agreement and the 

Amended USA, JLHY is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Aspen, Mr. Jing and Liyuan are interested in under the SFO, which in 

aggregate represent approximately 40.28% of the total number of the issued Shares of the Company.

5.	 Liyuan is owned as to approximately 98%, 1% and 1% by JLHY, Zhou Li Mei and Jing Yue Li, respectively. In addition, pursuant to the Unanimous 

Shareholders Agreement and the Amended USA, Liyuan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Aspen, Mr. Jing and JLHY are 

interested in under the SFO, which in aggregate represent approximately 40.28% of the total number of the issued Shares of the Company.

6.	 Guang Jing holds 40% of the equity interest in JLHY and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which JLHY is interested in under 

the SFO.

7.	 Jixing Gas Holdings Limited is owned as to 100% by Changchun which is owned as to 66.70% and 33.30% by Mr. Liu and Ms. Zhang, 

respectively. Jixing Gas Holdings Limited also has an interest in 181,194,306 shares as security interest. Ms. Zhang is the spouse of Mr. Liu. 

Accordingly, Ms. Zhang is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares which Mr. Liu is interested in for the purposes of the SFO.

8.	 Ms. Zhang is the spouse of Mr. Liu. Accordingly, Ms. Zhang is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the Shares which Mr. Liu is interested in for 

the purposes of the SFO.

9.	 Zhang Zhong holds 100% of the equity interest in Dalian and is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Dalian is interested in 

under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, and as at December 31, 2022, the Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not 
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of 
the Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be 
required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended December 31, 2022 was the Company or its holding company, a party to any 
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities 
including debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

On April 29, 2002, the Company completed a private placement issuing 35 million common shares at a price of 
HK$0.80 per common share for gross proceeds of HK$28 million (C$4.48 million). On July 18, 2022, the Company 
completed a private placement issuing 17 million common shares at a price of HK$1.00 per common share (C$2.8 
million).

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not purchased, redeemed or sold any of its listed securities during the 
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles, by-laws of the Company or the ABCA, 
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On September 3, 2021 the Company was notified by Aspen, 164 Co, JLHY, Mr. Jing, Liyuan and Mr. Bo that they have 
entered into an agreement (the “Aspen Restructuring”) pursuant to which JLHY shall purchase, and Mr. Bo shall sell, 
all of the shares in Aspen held by 164 Co.

Prior to the Aspen Restructuring it was owned as to approximately 41.09%, 39.69% and 19.22% by JLHY, 164 Co and 
Liyuan respectively. Upon completion of the Aspen Restructuring on October 28, 2021, JLHY became the owner of 
approximately 80.78% of the total issued shares in Aspen, and the remaining 19.22% of the total issued shares in 
Aspen are continued to be held by Liyuan. Immediately before and after the completion of the Aspen Restructuring, it 
held 181,194,306 Shares, representing approximately 50.07% of the issued share capital of the Company. As such, Mr. 
Jing continued to retain shareholding control of Aspen, and Aspen remains as the controlling shareholder of the 
Company.
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Prior to the Aspen Restructuring, Aspen, 164 Co, JLHY, Mr. Jing, Liyuan, Mr. Bo and Ms. Hou were considered as a 
group of controlling shareholders of the Company acting in concert as defined under the Listing Rules (the “Concert 
Parties”),and were party to the Unanimous Shareholder Agreement. On September 3, 2021 the Concert Parties notified 
the Company that they considered it unnecessary to maintain their acting in concert arrangement after completion of 
the Aspen Restructuring and agreed to amend the Unanimous Shareholder Agreement (the “Amended USA”) pursuant 
to which, among other things, the acting-in-concert arrangement under the Unanimous Shareholder Agreement was 
terminated; and Mr. Jing replaced Mr. Bo as Aspen’s sole director. Immediately upon the execution of the Amended 
USA, the Concert Parties were no longer deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Jing and Mr. Bo were 
interested in under the SFO, and the Concert Parties were no longer a group of shareholders of the Company acting-in-
concert under the Code on Takeovers and Mergers issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. As such, 
following completion of the Aspen Restructuring, Aspen, JLHY, Mr. Jing and Liyuan are deemed the Controlling 
Shareholders of the Company.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the Controlling Shareholders, namely Aspen, JLHY, Mr. Jing and Liyuan has executed a deed of non-
competition through which they have irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that, during the period 
that the Deed of Non-competition remains effective, he/she/it shall not, and shall procure that his/her/its close associates 
(other than any member of the Company) shall not, directly or indirectly, develop, acquire, participate in, hold any right 
or interest or invest in or engage in, render any services for or otherwise be involved in any business in competition with 
or likely to be in competition with the existing business activities of the Company in Alberta, Canada or any other area in 
which the Company carries on business.

Each of the Controlling Shareholders further undertakes to and covenants with the Company that if he/she/it or his/her/
its associates other than the Company is offered or becomes aware of any business opportunity directly or indirectly to 
engage or become interested in the business of the Company, he/she/it shall (and he/she/it shall procure his/her/its 
close associates to) notify the Company in writing and the Company shall have a right of first refusal to take up such 
business opportunity. The Company shall, within 30 days after receipt of the written notice (or such longer period if the 
Company is required to complete any approval procedures as set out under the Listing Rules from time to time), notify 
the Controlling Shareholders as to whether the Company will exercise the right of first refusal or not. Each of the 
Controlling Shareholders undertakes and covenants with the Company that he/she/it or his/her/its close associates may 
only take up such business opportunity if the Company has decided not to exercise the right of first refusal.

The details of the Deed of Non-competition have been disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed 
“Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at December 31, 2022, none of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in 
any business which competes or may compete with the businesses of the Company.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company and Jixing Energy (Canada) Ltd. entered into gas handling 
agreements, which subsequently became continuing connected transactions of the Company following the appointment 
of Mr. Liu as an executive Director under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the connected transactions and/or 
continuing connected transactions entered into during the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 26 of the 
Financial Statements.

Details of the above continuing connected transactions have been disclosed in accordance with Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules and are set out in the announcements of the Company dated December 19, 2019 and December 23, 
2019, which are available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Confirmations from the Company

The Company has conducted a review of its continuing connected transactions and confirmed that such transactions 
had complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Confirmations from the independent non-executive directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed 
the continuing connected transactions for the year ended December 31, 2022 and confirmed that they had been 
entered into:

(i)	 in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Company;

(ii)	 on normal or better commercial terms; and

(iii)	 in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

CONFIRMATIONS FROM THE AUDITORS

As to the requirement set forth in Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor of the Company has written to the Board 
to confirm that it has not been aware of any matter which leads it to believe the aforesaid continuing connected 
transactions:

(i)	 have not been approved by the Board; and

(ii)	 are not carried out in accordance with the related transaction agreement in any material respects.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 26 to 
the Financial Statements.
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The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of directors and chief executive of the Company constitute 
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, these transactions are 
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. The related party transactions in respect of the remuneration of key management personnel (other than 
directors and chief executive) of the Company did not fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related party transaction in respect of the 
Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression Agreements (refer to Note 26 of the Financial Statements) became 
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules upon the appointment of Mr. Liu as an 
executive Director on December 18, 2019. None of the other related party transactions fall under the definition of 
“connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company made no charitable or any other donations.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee had reviewed together with management and the external auditor the accounting 
principles and policies adopted by the Company and the audited Financial Statements for the year ended December 
31, 2022.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company 
by the Directors and the Company’s senior management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to 
possess inside information in relation to the Company or the Company’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code during the year ended 
December 31, 2022. In addition, the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by senior 
management of the Company during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

The ABCA provides that except in respect of an action by or on behalf of the Company to procure a judgment in the 
favor of the Company, the Company may indemnify a Director or officer of the Company, a former Director or officer of 
the Company or a person who acts or acted at the request of the Company as a Director or officer of a body corporate 
of which the Company is or was a shareholder or creditor, and the Director’s or officer’s heirs and legal representatives, 
against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action or satisfy a judgment, reasonably 
incurred by the Director or officer in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which the 
Director or officer is made a party by reason of being or having been a Director or officer of the Company or body 
corporate if: (a) the Director or officer acted honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company; 
and (b) in the case of a criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, the 
Director or officer had reasonable grounds for believing that the Director’s or officer’s conduct was lawful.
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The Company may with the approval of the Court, indemnify a person referred to above in respect of an action by or on 
behalf of the Company or body corporate to procure a judgment in its favor, to which the person is made a party by 
reason of being or having been a Director or an officer of the Company or body corporate, against all costs, charges 
and expenses reasonably incurred by the person in connection with the action if the person fulfils the conditions set out 
above.

A person referred to above is entitled to and the Company has provided each of the independent non-executive 
directors an indemnity from the Company in respect of all costs, charges and expenses reasonably incurred by the 
person in connection with the defence of any civil, criminal or administrative action or proceeding to which the person is 
made a party by reason of being or having been a Director or officer of the Company or body corporate, if the person 
seeking indemnity: (a) was substantially successful on the merits in the person’s defence of the action or proceeding; (b) 
fulfils the conditions set out above; and (c) is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnity.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard of corporate governance practices. Information on the 
corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report section of this 
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock 
Exchange and permitted under the Listing Rules, are held by the public at all times as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The shares of the Company were listed on the Stock Exchange on March 10, 2017. KPMG LLP (“KPMG”) were 
Company’s auditors from the listing date until their resignation on August 25, 2020. On March 26, 2021 the Company 
announced that, with the recommendation from the Audit and Risk Committee, it has resolved to appoint BDO Limited 
(“BDO”) as the auditors of the Company with effect from 26 March 2021, and to hold office until the conclusion of the 
AGM of the Company held on August 2, 2021 and was re-appointed as auditor of the Company by the Shareholders.

The Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 have been audited by BDO, who are proposed for 
reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not changed its auditor during any of the past three years.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the year ended December 31, 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that would have an impact thereon.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Information on the environmental policies and performance of the Company is set out in the section headed 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

STOCK OPTION PLAN

The Board and the Shareholders have approved the adoption of a stock option plan (the “Option Plan”). The purpose 
of the Option Plan is to permit the granting of options to purchase Common Shares (“Options”) to directors, officers, 
employees of, and consultants to, the Company.

The Option Plan is a “rolling” plan and provides that the number of Common Shares issuable under the Option Plan, 
together with all of the Company’s other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, may 
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued and outstanding Common Shares, on a non-diluted basis, as of the date 
on which the Option Plan is approved by the Shareholders. In addition, the following restrictions apply to the Option 
Plan:

(a)	 the aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any one 
individual under the Option Plan within any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares (on a non-diluted basis). Where any further grant of Options to an individual under the Option 
Plan would result in the Common Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options granted and to be 
granted to such individual (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) in the 12-month period up to 
and including the date of such further grant representing in aggregate over 1% of the Common Shares, such 
further grant must be separately approved by the Shareholders at a special meeting with such individual and his 
close associates abstaining from voting, and the number and terms of Options to be granted to such individual 
must be fixed before the Shareholders’ approval. In such event, the Company must send a circular to the 
Shareholders containing the identity of the individual, the number and terms of Options to be granted (and Options 
previously granted to such individual) and all other information required by the Stock Exchange. The date of the 
Board meeting proposing such further grant should be taken as the grant date for the purpose of calculating the 
Exercise Price (as defined in the Option Plan) under Article 6;

(b)	 the aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to Related Persons (as 
defined in the Option Plan) (as a group) may not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (on 
a non-diluted basis) unless disinterested Shareholder approval is obtained;

(c)	 the grant to Related Persons (as a group) within a 12-month period of an aggregate number of Options may not 
exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares (on a non-diluted basis) unless disinterested 
Shareholder approval is obtained;

(d)	 the aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any consultants 
or persons conducting investor relations activities may not exceed 2% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares (on a non-diluted basis) unless disinterested Shareholder approval is obtained; and

(e)	 each grant of Options to a director, executive officer or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their 
respective associates, under the Option Plan shall comply with the requirements of the Stock Exchange. 
Specifically, each grant of Options to any of the foregoing persons shall be approved by independent 
non-executive directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director that is an individual 
participating in the Option Plan).
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Where any grant of Options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or 
any of their respective associates, would result in the securities issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options 
already granted and to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to such person in the 
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

(i)	 representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the Common Shares; and

(ii)	 where the securities listed on the Stock Exchange, having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the 
Common Shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options must be 
approved by Shareholders at a special meeting, with voting to be taken by way of poll. The Company shall send a 
circular to the Shareholders containing all information as required under the Stock Exchange rules in this regard. 
All core connected persons of the Company shall abstain from voting (except where any core connected person 
intends to vote against the proposed grant and his intention to do so has been stated in the aforesaid circular). 
Any change in the terms of an Option granted to a substantial shareholder of the Company or an independent 
non-executive director, or any of their respective close associates, is also required to be approved by 
Shareholders in the aforesaid manner.

Each Option and all rights thereunder will expire on the date set out in the applicable option agreement and will be 
subject to the earlier termination provisions of the Option Plan, provided that in no circumstances will the duration of an 
Option exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Under the Option Plan, in the event of the death of a participant, the 
Options previously granted to such participant will be exercisable only within one year after such death and then only to 
the extent that such deceased participant was entitled to exercise his Option at the date of his death.

Pursuant to the Option Plan, the Exercise Price shall be fixed by the Board at the time that the Option is granted and 
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Common Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheet on the grant date, which must be a business day; or (ii) the average closing price as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately preceding the grant date. The Option 
Plan also provides that the Board may, in its sole discretion, determine the time during which Options shall vest and the 
method of vesting.

The Option Plan is administered by the Board, which has authority and discretion, subject to the express provisions of 
the Option Plan, to interpret the Option Plan, to amend the Option Plan and to make all other determinations deemed 
necessary or advisable for the administration of the Option Plan. The Board has the right, in its sole discretion, to 
amend, suspend or terminate the Option Plan or any portion thereof at any time, in accordance with applicable 
legislation, without obtaining the approval of shareholders; provided that any amendment to any provision of the Option 
Plan will be subject to any required regulatory approval, stock exchange rules and the provisions of applicable law, if 
any, that require the approval of shareholders. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will be required to obtain 
the approval of disinterested Shareholders for any amendment related to: (i) the issuance to any one individual within a 
12-month period a number of Common Shares exceeding 1% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares; and (ii) 
reducing the Exercise Price for outstanding Options granted to an insider of the Company.

On May 18, 2020, the Company granted 3.78 million options with an exercise price of HK$0.52 per option and a term of 
5 years (the “2020 Option Grant”). The options vest equally over a 3 year period, with the first tranche vesting on the 
first anniversary of the date of grant, and the second and third tranches vesting equally on the second and third 
anniversary respectively. The closing price of the Company’s common shares on May 15, 2020, being the last day of 
trading before the 2020 Option Grant was HK$0.50 per share.
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On November 30, 2022, the Company granted 0.8 million options with an exercise price of HK$0.48 per option and a 
term of 5 years (the “2022 Option Grant”). The options vest equally over a 3 year period, with the first tranche vesting 
on the first anniversary of the date of grant, and the second and third tranches vesting equally on the second and third 
anniversary respectively. The closing price of the Company’s common shares on November 29, 2022, being the last 
day of trading before the 2022 Option Grant was HK$0.445 per share.

Details of the options granted under the Stock Option Plan and those remained outstanding as at December 31, 2022 
are set out below:

Options Granted Number of options

As of Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed As of
Name and category January 1, during the during the during the during the December 31,
of participant Date Amount 2022 Period Period Period Period 2022

Director(s) and their 
associate(s)

Mr. Pingzai Wang May 18, 2020 1,500,000 1,500,000 — — — — 1,500,000 
Other employees May 18, 2020 2,280,000 2,280,000 — — — — 2,280,000 
Other employees Nov 30, 2022 800,200 — 800,200 — — — 800,200 

Total 4,580,200 3,780,000 800,200 — — — 4,580,200 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any disclosure obligations under rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CHANGES IN THE BOARD AND THE DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

There is no change in the information of the Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing 
Rules.
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1	 ABOUT THIS REPORT

1.1	O verview

This is the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) of JX Energy Ltd. (hereinafter “JX”, 
the “Company”, “we”, “our” or “us”), for the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the “Reporting 
Period”).

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance 
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”), Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx”). An “HKEX ESG Content Index” that maps the information 
contained in the report to the ESG Guide, along with a summary list of ‘Material Environmental Key 
Performance Indicators’, is provided in the Appendixes to this ESG Report.

1.2	 Core Business of the Company

Founded in 2005, JX is a Calgary-based public oil and gas company focusing on the exploration, 
development and production of liquids-rich natural gas and light oil resources in Canada.

During the Reporting Period, the Company focused on two core areas of operation — Alberta Foothills and 
Peace River — with a daily average production volume of 1,847 BOE per day.

1.3	 Report Boundary

This ESG Report covers the Company’s policies, initiatives and environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) 
performance in Canada during the Reporting Period. The environmental data of our office is considered 
immaterial and is not included in the data disclosure of this ESG Report.

1.4	 Endorsement

This ESG Report has been reviewed and approved by the board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company.

1.5	 Contact

We welcome any comments and suggestions you may have on this ESG Report. For any feedback, please 
feel free to contact us by email to ir@jxenergy.ca.

2	 ESG MANAGEMENT

2.1	O ur Approach

The Company recognises corporate responsibility as integral to the successful achievement of its wider 
business objectives and strategies while creating value for stakeholders with integrity and accountability. We 
operate our business in a responsible manner and within our operations in Canada, we work to foster a 
corporate culture that embraces a high standard of corporate governance, environmental protection and 
social development.
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The Company’s directors are responsible for developing board policies and procedures related to:

•	 environmental management and sustainability;

•	 employment and labour practice;

•	 operating practices; and

•	 community.

To assist the Board in managing ESG-related issues, the Company has established an executive leadership 
team (“ELT”) comprising its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The 
ELT ensures proper communication of ESG-related matters between the Company’s Board and employees 
is in place, which is aimed at improving the overall ESG performance in the long term.

2.2	 Environmental and Social Management

Based on our business nature, our major concerns with regard to environmental and social considerations 
are the health, safety and environmental aspects.

The Company is committed to ensuring safe and healthy working locations and work practices, as well as 
protecting the environment. We believe that safety and protecting the environment is vital to our business 
and that all work-related injuries and illnesses, property losses and adverse environmental impacts are 
preventable.

Below are the six goals set forth in our health, safety and environmental (“HSE”) policy which we have 
achieved:

Regulatory and HSE Programme Compliance
All personnel are knowledgeable of, and have complied with applicable regulatory requirements, with 
industry best practices and with the requirements of their HSE programme as implemented at the Company’s 
worksites.

Environmental Protection
Protection of the environment is an integral part of the Company’s operations and has been managed at all 
stages during the planning and execution of projects.

Hazard Reporting and Right to Refuse Unsafe Work
Worksite hazards must be immediately reported and eliminated or controlled. Worksite personnel have the 
right and the responsibility to refuse to conduct assigned work when unsafe conditions exist or where they 
are insufficiently trained to safely complete the work.

Work Procedures
Only approved work procedures have been used. Worksite personnel (including the Company’s employees 
and contractors) must be suitably trained in the procedures applicable to their work and must be supervised 
where required.
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Employee Awareness and Training
Our employees have been trained in the content and implementation of the Company’s Health, Safety and 
Environment Management System and in procedures applicable to their work. Contractors who are 
responsible for their personnel assigned to the Company’s worksites are trained in applicable work 
procedures, and in the requirements of their specific HSE programmes, as implemented at the Company’s 
worksites.

Emergency Planning and Response
The Company maintains documented emergency response procedures to ensure a prompt and efficient 
response to foreseeable emergencies as well as to ensure its employees and contractors are trained in this 
area.

2.3	M ateriality Assessment

With regard to the ESG considerations and their associated HSE aspects, the following materials are 
identified:

Material aspect Relevance

Wastewater discharge It includes the water produced from wellheads during the production 
process. Wastewater is collected by the Company and sent to the 
authorised third parties for treatment and discharge.

Carbon emissions Carbon emissions arise from the fuel-operated machinery, flaring in well 
tests and methane emissions during production operations.

Hazardous waste Hazardous wastes are produced in the production process and 
maintenance activities.

Non-hazardous waste Non-hazardous wastes are produced in our production sites.

Use of resources Resources such as electricity, water, diesel and natural gas are used to 
support our production and maintenance processes.

Maintaining a good relationship with stakeholders is crucial to the long-term success of the Company. 
Therefore, for the purpose of further understanding any particular ESG aspects that are material to both the 
Company and its stakeholders, we plan to conduct a series of stakeholder engagement work in future.

In the future, we plan to concentrate our efforts on internal stakeholders. We would identify representative 
internal stakeholders and invite them for interviews. The findings would then be used to support a materiality 
assessment. Subject to the findings of the materiality assessment, representative external stakeholders 
would be identified and invited for interview to further enhance the stakeholder engagement programme and 
materiality assessment results.
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3	 ENVIRONMENT

3.1	 Emissions

We are aware of the impact of our operations on the surrounding environment, and conduct our operations 
in an environmentally conscious and responsible manner. We adhere to, and are compliant with the relevant 
laws and regulations of Alberta and adopt generally accepted industry safety standards in managing 
emissions from crude oil and natural gas exploration, production and transportation operations.

Air Emission
The main sources of air emissions in our operations are from gas-engine compressors, gas-engine 
pumpjacks and flaring.

Under the Alberta Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, we are subject to strict air quality 
standards and have to comply with the Ambient Air Quality Objectives set forth by the Government of Alberta 
for managing and protecting air quality.

Statutory emission limits of various pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide and particulate 
matter, are set, and we are obligated to design and operate facilities to prevent any exceedance, e.g. we 
conserved most of the solution gas as fuel gas and limited venting with the combined flaring and venting 
volume.

Carbon Emissions
One of our major sources of carbon emissions are various machines such as compressors and pumpjacks 
that consume fuel. In addition, nominal amounts of methane gas may be released during the normal 
operation of some hardware such as condensate tanks, dehydration packages, pneumatic devices and 
safety relief valves.

To reduce carbon emissions, we have installed some solar panels to reduce the use of thermal electricity 
generators at our well sites. Recovery of methane emission and reduction of flaring during well tests are 
undertaken to avoid unnecessary carbon emissions.

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste
A limited amount of hazardous waste is generated from our production process. Hazardous waste is handled 
in strict compliance to all the applicable laws such as Waste Control Regulation and Alberta Energy 
Regulator’s Directive 58: Oilfield Waste Management Requirements for the Upstream Petroleum Industry. 
During the production processes and drilling and completion operations, the hazardous waste including 
water, oil and solids, drilling cuttings and fluids, and produced water are collected on site and delivered to 
authorized third parties for treatment and disposal.

We seek to reduce the generation of non-hazardous waste at source. The “3R” principle is widely adopted, 
i.e. reduce, reuse and recycle whenever possible. Waste segregation is also undertaken to further enhance 
the recycling performance. For paper, we encourage the use of duplex printing to reduce waste generation. 
In 2022, one flare system was installed in one gas wellsite to reduce benzene emission.
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Wastewater Management
During the production process, wastewater is generated from wellheads along with oil and gas. It contains 
elevated levels of dissolved ions (salts), hydrocarbons and trace elements. We are fully aware that any 
improper discharge of the wastewater would harm the surrounding environment.

To reduce the impact to the water quality, all wastewater is stored on-site temporarily. A third party 
authorised by the local government is engaged for the collection, treatment and disposal in accordance with 
local statutory requirement. We also implement all necessary measures to reduce the generation of 
wastewater, e.g. reuse of fracturing water in the production process.

Noise
As required by the relevant laws and regulations, we conduct a noise impact assessment when we install 
new rotating equipment. The purpose of the assessment is to ensure the noise from the machines is below a 
specific level, which would not harm operators. As there were no new installations in the reporting year, 
noise assessment was not necessary to be conducted.

At the existing well sites, we continue to implement various mitigation measures such as the use of mufflers, 
noise and vibration dampening and absorbing materials, and isolation and enclosure of noisy equipment. 
Noise is hence mitigated to a lower level, which complies with relevant laws and regulation.

Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with relevant local laws 
and regulations related to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and 
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

3.2	U se of Resources

We are committed to conserving resources within our operations, for it is part of our corporate social 
responsibility and reduces our operating cost. At our production sites, we adopt local power generation so 
electricity from power company was not purchased. Throughout our business operations, we implement 
different resource-saving measures to conserve energy, water, paper and other office supplies. The 
measures taken range from equipment efficiency improvement, the reuse and recycling of materials and 
changing the behavior of our people.

To conserve resources, the Company continuously implements various measures including:

—	 procuring energy efficient-equipment when possible;

—	 installing solar panels at production sites;

—	 monitoring the temperature of air-conditioned rooms;

—	 encouraging our employees to switch off lighting when leaving a room and shut down computers after 
working hours;
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—	 encouraging duplex printing in our offices;

—	 promoting the use of electronic communication means over paper handouts; and

—	 reusing fracturing water.

We believe improving our resource efficiency is one of the best ways to demonstrate our commitment to 
protecting the environment. Details of the key performance data are shown in the Appendix I — 
Environmental Performance Indicators. We shall continue to enhance resource utilisation by applying new 
technology, as well as improving our management expertise and employee awareness.

3.3	 Environment and Natural Resources

Environmental Planning and Monitoring
It is acknowledged that oil and gas production has potential negative impact on the environment from 
emission of various substances generated from operations, drilling/production waste handling and 
development/maintenance of surface leases and right of ways. Therefore in all our projects, we incorporate 
environmental considerations, policies and planning in different phases and work co-operatively and 
effectively with communities, government agencies and stakeholders to reduce the potential impacts of our 
operations.

We are subject to and comply with environmental legislation which provides for, among other things, 
restrictions and prohibitions on emissions, requirements with respect to waste handling and storage, habitat 
protection and the satisfactory operation, maintenance, abandonment and reclamation of well and facility 
sites.

With regards to environmental planning, we conduct Environmental Effect Evaluation (“EEE”) to thoroughly 
understand the potential impact of our projects. Through EEE, we develop long-term management and 
mitigation strategies to ensure our major activities meet our environmental, social and economic 
commitments, which are developed in consultation with the Company’s stakeholders.

The EEE is an important tool in our regulatory applications that support our growth and development plans 
by highlighting any regional risks to be addressed in project planning. For example, we document traditional 
ecological knowledge shared by aboriginal communities and consider its use when compiling baseline 
environmental information, developing monitoring programmes and planning mitigation (e.g. reclamation).

During the planning stage of new projects, we recognise environmental and historical aspects associated 
with operating in or near these areas, and work very closely with the respective administrative authorities of 
these areas, following our corporate statement regarding the environment. Our approach includes:

—	 Title search — this identifies ownership of the lands for the proposed development, as to whether or 
not our proposed development is on crown land, freehold land, provincial or federal park, etc.

—	 Review of the provincial “Listing of Historic Resources” to determine if a proposed development may 
affect historic resources, including archaeological and paleontological sites, aboriginal traditional use 
sites of a historic resource nature (burial, ceremonial sites etc.), and/or historic structures.
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—	 If the proposed development falls on provincial or federal park lands, we will work closely with 
provincial parks or Parks Canada to determine the steps involved, including EEEs as required.

—	 If the proposed development falls on any historic lands identified in the listing, we will work with the 
provincial culture and tourism authorities, and perform Historic Resources Effect evaluations with 
professional archaeologists as required.

—	 In some cases, we are required to consult with respective aboriginal communities for the development 
on these lands.

—	 In all cases, efforts are committed to minimising our footprint.

We also work with government, industry and other stakeholders to implement and advance environmental 
policy and initiatives involving air, land and water.

The province of Alberta has established frameworks for the management of air, land and water. As part of 
our commitment to protect the environment, we adopt these frameworks into our operating practices to 
implement comprehensive mitigation plans for sensitive landscapes, wildlife and aquatic systems. We also 
participate in research programmes for land planning, caribou restoration and reclaimed land. These 
environmental frameworks establish, for instance, limits on emissions to protect the air, restrictions on water 
use to protect water quality and water withdrawals, tailing reclamation timelines and increasing the amount 
of conserved land.

We support environmental monitoring as part of managing development in a responsible manner. We 
support openness, transparency and the generation of scientifically reliable data that addresses the public/
stakeholder concerns related to natural gas operations. Environmental monitoring allows us to continually 
measure our performance, establish targets and work towards improvement. Monitoring of air emissions, 
water use and land disturbance occurs at our larger facilities.

Risk and Incident Management
Our management systems are designed to ensure we evaluate, prevent and mitigate the risk of incidents 
occurring. Response plans are documented within the Emergency Response Plan (“ERP”) to predict the 
extent and magnitude of all risks. Rare events, such as an equipment malfunction that results in an incident, 
are managed quickly in accordance to our structured ERPs. These procedures help manage the event as 
systematically and thoroughly as possible to mitigate any additional impacts and facilitate the safe return to 
normal operations in a timely manner. Protocols are in place to identify the sequence of response actions to 
potential incidents such as the shutdown of the incident source, communication to government and public, 
and clean-up of any effects.

We continue to develop strategies that are planned to enable us to deal with the risks and opportunities 
associated with new greenhouse gas and air emission policies. In addition, we will work with relevant parties 
to ensure that the new policies encourage technological innovation, energy efficiency, and targeted research 
and development while not impacting our competitiveness.
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4	 CLIMATE CHANGE

4.1	 Climate-related Risk Identification and Mitigation

Climate-related risks can affect every aspect of the Company’s business. The Board and ELT are 
responsible for identifying climate-related risks inherent to the Company’s operations and assets on an 
annual basis, and are responsible for approving and implementing strategies to mitigate these risks. The 
Board and ELT collectively establishes the strategic financial direction and operational objectives of the 
Company, integrating climate change and other sustainability considerations into business planning and 
monitoring the effectiveness and integrity of the Company’s internal controls related to operational risks of 
physical assets and other sustainability matters.

Carbon Emissions
The Board and ELT have identified carbon emissions as a key climate-related risk of the Company’s 
business and operations. To mitigate this risk, the Board and ELT have assessed the carbon emissions 
associated with the Company’s operations, and identified and implemented policies to reduce carbon 
emissions and eliminate unnecessary carbon emissions when possible.

The Company’s major sources of carbon emissions are various machines such as compressors and 
pumpjacks that consume fuel. In addition, nominal amounts of methane gas may be released during the 
normal operation of some hardware such as condensate tanks, pneumatic devices and safety relief valves. 
To reduce carbon emissions, we have installed some solar panels to reduce the use of thermal electricity 
generators at our well sites. Recovery of methane emission and reduction of flaring during well tests are 
undertaken to avoid unnecessary carbon emissions.

On a quarterly basis the Board and ELT will review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
controls in respect of carbon emissions and will continue to develop strategies to enable the Company to 
deal with the risks and opportunities associated with climate change. The Company will continue to ensure 
that the new policies encourage technological innovation, energy efficiency, and targeted research and 
development while not impacting its competitiveness.

5	SO CIAL

5.1	 Employment and Labour Standards

Employees are important assets to the Company. To attract and retain talents, we have a holistic policy 
regarding the recruitment, employment, promotion and retention of our employees.

5.1.1	Equal Opportunity Policies
We are committed to providing a work environment in which all individuals are treated with respect and 
dignity. Each individual has the right to work in a professional workplace that promotes equal 
opportunities and prohibits discriminatory practices or remarks.
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As an equal opportunity employer, we ensure the fair treatment of both our potential and existing 
employees, and strive to provide a diverse work environment. Recruitment and promotion decisions 
are based on the qualification, work experience, suitability and skills of candidates. We will not 
discriminate, harass or vilify any applicants or employees on the grounds of their gender, age, marital 
status, pregnancy, nationality, ethnicity, sexual orientation, disability, race, ethnic origins or religion.

All employees at JX are subject to a three-month probationary period, which begins on the first day of 
employment. This probationary period provides an opportunity for the employees to assess their desire 
to be part of the JX team and for the Company to assess the employees’ ability to meet the 
performance standards and requirements of the role.

JX is committed to and strongly encourages employee growth and development through regular 
coaching and feedback. Formal performance reviews are an important part of this process. Each year, 
in discussion with their supervisors, employees will establish objectives, discuss their performance and 
accomplishments, review their skills and behaviors, and discuss their career development needs. 
Performance reviews are conducted at least annually, in conjunction with salary and bonus reviews.

5.1.2	Employee Benefits
As part of providing an engaging work environment, we are dedicated to providing fair remuneration, 
reasonable working hours and rest periods for our employees to maintain work-life balance.

In compliance with the Alberta Employment Standards Regulation, the usual work schedule is 40 hours 
per week, Monday to Friday from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm. We observe the statutory holidays each year and 
in cases where a statutory holiday falls on a weekend, an alternate work day will be announced for 
observation of the holiday.

To provide our employees with a period of rest and relaxation away from work, and as a means of 
recognising their years of services, permanent full-time employees are entitled to annual vacation with 
pay. The entitlement of vacation is mainly based on employees’ length of service with JX, and prior 
work experience in industries relevant to their position may be recognised.

All vacation requests are to be made in writing to the employee’s immediate supervisor by using the 
vacation request form adopted by the Company. Approval of vacation requests are at the discretion of 
the manager/supervisor who will review the request to determine if there are adequate resources 
available, competing requests for vacation or other operational concerns that may impact the ability to 
grant the vacation during the time requests.

Besides annual vacations, our employees are also entitled to the following leave of absence:

—	 Paid sick leave
Paid time off is provided when an employee is personally ill and unable to attend work. For 
absence that last three or more consecutive working/business days, employees may be asked to 
provide a medical certificate to the Company indicating their fitness to return to work.

—	 Bereavement
Bereavement, or compassionate leave, applies to the loss of a family member. Depending on an 
employee’s relationship with the deceased, paid leave ranging from one day to three days would 
be granted.
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—	 Jury duty leave
Employees who are subpoenaed for jury duty will continue to receive their normal salary and 
benefits during the period of jury duty service.

—	 Family compassionate leave
Family compassionate leave may be granted to employees whose parent, spouse or dependent 
child is terminally ill. A six-week unpaid leave of absence and a guarantee that the position will 
be held on return would be provided.

—	 Maternity leave and parental leave
All employees who have completed at least 52 consecutive weeks of employment with JX are 
eligible for maternity and/or parental leave. Birth mothers are entitled to a 15-week unpaid 
maternity leave, while fathers and adoptive parents are eligible to request up to 37 consecutive 
weeks of unpaid parental leave. All employee benefits (e.g. life insurance, extended health and 
dental coverage, health spending account) will be maintained by JX for the duration of an 
employee’s maternity leave.

Through the Employee Manual and other documents, we communicate our human resources policies 
to all employees to ensure they understand the rights and obligations in relation to the terms and 
conditions of their employment.

5.1.3	Employee Relationship
The Company aims to promote a culture of trust, mutual respect and dialogue in the working 
environment. It is important that all employees play a role and make the office a harmonious place 
through their daily interactions with others. The Company’s senior management in particular plays a 
key role by:

—	 partnering with and supporting employees to resolve issues that arise;

—	 encouraging employees to report inappropriate behavior of any nature and investigating every 
complaint of workplace harassment with the utmost sensitivity and confidentiality; and

—	 imposing strict disciplinary measures if a complaint is founded.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had a total of 6 full-time (no part-time) employees, all located 
at the Calgary head office with the following attributes:

No. Employees
Female Male

Position
Staff 3
Executive 1 2

Age Group
20–30 1
31–40 2
41–50 1
51–60 2

During the Reporting Period, there was no turnover of any employee, and there has not been any 
incidence of work strikes or labour disputes that had adversely impacted the Company’s operations.
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Handling Conflicts
From time to time, conflicts inevitably happen. However, when handled effectively, they are 
opportunities to improve the relationships and systems within the Company. We encourage our 
employees to handle conflicts as soon as they arise by speaking directly with those involved in the 
conflict.

If the conflict cannot be resolved directly by those involved, our employees may ask their immediate 
supervisor for assistance. However, as a matter of principle and practice, both parties should be 
present in all discussions whenever possible.

Workplace Harassment
The Company is committed to ensuring that no worker is subjected to harassment in the workplace. 
Harassment is a form of discrimination. It is prohibited by the Individual Rights Protection Act. 
Harassment is considered a degrading and threatening workplace behavior, and it will not be tolerated 
at any of the Company’s worksites.

To fulfil the commitment, the Company has developed a harassment policy, which establishes control 
measures to effectively address any harassment issue. The Company is further committed to dealing 
promptly and effectively with any incident that may occur with regard to harassment. While 
discriminatory acts are not precisely defined, they include:

—	 unwelcome verbal or physical conduct, comments, gestures or contact concerning a person’s 
race, religious beliefs, colour, place of origin, gender, mental or physical disability, ancestry, 
marital status and family status or source of income;

—	 is either implicitly or explicitly utilised as a basis for any employment decision (e.g. condition of 
employment/hire, promotion, determining compensation, job security, evaluation of performance, 
etc.); and/or

—	 has the purpose or the effect of interfering with the person’s work performance or creating an 
intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment.

We encourage employees to voice their complaint when they believe they are being harassed. Our 
Employee Manual has clear instructions on how to handle harassment before escalating the incident to 
managers or the human resources department. When the incident is sufficiently serious and cannot be 
resolved by bringing the matter to the other person’s attention, they shall report the incident 
immediately to their manager or human resources department.

All complaints are to be taken seriously, involving a thorough and objective investigation of the facts. 
To protect the involved employees, all pertinent information regarding a complaint is kept confidential. 
The human resources department is to assist with the investigation and work with all relevant parties to 
determine the best method of resolution of the concerns. If an investigation reveals evidence of 
inappropriate behavior, appropriate follow-up and disciplinary action would be initiated and 
documented accordingly.
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Violence in Workplace
JX believes in the prevention of violence and promotes an abuse-free environment in which all people 
respect one another and work together to achieve common goals. Any act of violence committed by or 
against any worker or member of the public is unacceptable conduct and is not tolerated.

The Company is committed to:

—	 developing and maintaining a suitable control programme;

—	 investigating reported incidents of violence in an objective and timely manner;

—	 taking necessary actions; and

—	 providing appropriate support to victims.

No action shall be taken against an individual for making a complaint unless the complaint is made 
maliciously or without reasonable and probable grounds.

Disciplinary Action and Dismissal
JX believes in the merits of a “progressive discipline” approach for dealing with workplace-related 
issues (i.e. discuss/clarify expectations and concerns, identify opportunities for improvement, etc.). 
Notwithstanding, the management retains the discretion to determine the nature and extent of any 
disciplinary actions (up to and including dismissal) based on a review of the specific circumstances. A 
copy of all written warnings will remain in the employee’s personnel file and receipt of such warnings 
without commensurate performance improvement could result in the dismissal of the employee.

Disciplinary actions and dismissals are subject to Canadian employment regulations at both the federal 
and provincial level. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not undertake any disciplinary 
action or dismiss any of its employees.

Employee Privacy Policy
JX is committed to maintaining the accuracy, confidentiality and security of employee personal 
information and will make every reasonable effort to ensure that the collection, use, disclosure, access 
to, and retention and copying of, employee personal information is limited to that necessary for specific 
legal and business purposes.

Employees who collects, holds and has access to, or uses employee personal information must be 
thoroughly familiar with our privacy policy and take all necessary precautions to protect against 
unauthorised access, disclosure, copying, use, modification, destruction, loss or theft of such 
information, regardless of the format in which it is held.

Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with the 
relevant laws and regulations related to compensation, dismissal, recruitment, promotion, working 
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, as well as other benefits and 
welfare.
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5.2	 Health and Safety

JX is committed to ensuring the health and safety of our employees and all others involved in our operations. 
As a company that produces oil and gas, the health and safety of employees is our top priority.

We recognise the potential hazards and that controlling these hazards is critical to avoiding any potential 
injuries. A Health, Safety and Environment Manual, which also applies to our contractors and consultants, is 
in place and it documents the generally accepted industry safety standards adopted for the exploration, 
production, transportation and sale of crude oil and natural gas. It provides guidelines with respect to 
occupational safety, covering drilling and completions, well servicing, transportation of dangerous goods, 
procedures for handling chemicals and explosive materials and emergency plans.

Safety programme management is a constantly evolving process, and to help monitor our performance. We 
have implemented a Safety Management System to monitor and record employee occupational health and 
safety statistics. During the three most recent year including the Reporting Period, there were no material 
accidents in the course of operations, no accidents related to the health or safety of our employees or 
contractors and no lost days due to injury. We had neither received any claims for personal or property 
damage by employees nor paid any compensation as a result.

5.2.1	Risk Assessment
We believe that recognition of risk is the first step towards reducing it. We regularly perform risk 
assessments to prevent the development of unsafe and unhealthy working conditions. Employees are 
expected to be familiar with risk assessment principles and procedures, with the Company Risk Matrix 
and with applying these tools to the work that they perform.

Through annual training and hazard identification/assessments, we ensure that the employees are 
competent to perform their tasks in a safe manner. Such competency is to be verified before 
employees are permitted to perform their tasks independently.

5.2.2	Safety Training
We provide safety training to ensure employees are competent in performing their jobs in a safe 
manner. Through these training, workers are adequately qualified, suitably trained and provided with 
sufficient experience, to safely perform work with a minimal degree of supervision.

On entering an active site, all individuals are required to participate in an orientation session. During 
this session, all locations of the spill plan and spill kits are provided. An overview of the plan is 
provided by the site supervisor leading the orientation session.

In addition to site orientations, all employees and contractors are required to have their basic first aid 
training, as well as Workplace Hazardous Materials Information System (WHMIS) training, before 
working at the site. Supervisors are required to have advanced level first aid training, as well as 
transport of dangerous goods training.



83
JX Energy Ltd.

Annual Report 2022

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

During drilling and construction operations, workers may be exposed to hydrogen sulphide (H2S), 
which occurs naturally in the earth in crude petroleum, natural gas reservoirs, volcanic gases and hot 
springs. When inhaled in high concentration, H2S is poisonous to humans with a toxicity that can be 
compared to that of carbon monoxide or cyanide. It can quickly cause paralysis to the respiratory 
system and unconsciousness.

Because of the risks of H2S exposure to workers in the petroleum industry, workers must successfully 
complete the H2S course before working in the field. We provide H2S Alive® course for all employees 
and it is a mandatory for all workers who may come into contact with H2S gas. Employees will learn 
how to work safely in and around H2S environments and receive a three-year certificate.

5.2.3	Emergency Response Plan
JX strives to provide and maintain a workplace free of incidents, but despite our best efforts to prevent 
incidents, there may be occasions where our actions, the actions of others or natural occurrences 
result in the need for emergency response actions. In the unfortunate case of accidents, proper ERP 
can ensure that all necessary actions are taken by the Company for the protection of the environment, 
the surrounding community and the Company’s personnel and assets.

If an unplanned operational event occurs, the employee or contractor detecting the incident shall 
determine if the incident has the potential to cause:

—	 a threat to worker or public health, and safety;

—	 loss of property;

—	 a negative impact on the environment; and

—	 a perception of risk by the public and neighbouring stakeholders.

If it is determined that there is an actual emergency situation (or the perception of an emergency by 
the public), the Company’s employee or contractor must take appropriate response action to address 
the incident. This includes the authority to activate and implement any part of the ERP to prevent the 
emergency situation from escalating. Once the ERP is activated, it is of utmost importance and 
urgency that the appropriate person in charge and government agencies are notified as outlined in the 
ERP.

We regularly conduct emergency response training to ensure that employees and contractors are 
capable of handling the situation and make the right decisions when responding to real emergencies. 
Through simulated emergency response exercises, such as a table top exercise and fire drills, we 
examined our emergency plan in a structured way to reveal mistakes and omissions that will be 
subsequently corrected.
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Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant 
laws and regulations related to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards.

5.3	 Development and training

JX recognises the value that training and development programmes bring to the organisation. We see the 
self-development of employees as an important component of our continued success. Not only are we 
seeking to enhance the knowledge and skills of our associates, we are also helping our associates with their 
personal development through our policies.

At JX, the continuing education for existing employees is just as important as the new hire training. As part of 
the annual performance review process, employees are encouraged to identify and discuss with their 
supervisor appropriate professional development and educational opportunities related to their present 
position and/or future career opportunities.

We encourage employees to learn more and get the designation or certification in their fields, such as 
Professional Engineer (P.Eng) in the engineering department and Certificate of Professional Accountant (CPA) 
in the financial department. JX also provides support on tuition and member fees to help employees achieve 
and extend their designations. As a general guideline, educational courses required to maintain professional 
designations or certifications will be considered for reimbursement as well as expenses related to 
participation in relevant local, national or international workshops and conferences may be covered.

In addition, eligible courses should generally be sanctioned by a diploma, degree, certificate or trade ticket 
that is approved by relevant professional or government authorities. Any time away from work required to 
attend and/or complete the course needs to be identified prior to approval being granted.

During the Reporting Period, 100% of the Company’s employees received training pursuant to their 
professional development. The following table summarises the average training hours completed per 
employee by gender and position during the Reporting Period:

Average Training Hours 
Female Male

Position
Staff 30
Executive 34

5.4	 Labour Standards

It is our ethical responsibility to meet the minimum labour standards. To fulfil that responsibility and 
safeguard our reputation, we maintain a clear policy of no child or forced labour across our operations in 
accordance with the principles of Alberta Employment Standards Regulation.

During the recruitment process, we perform ID checks to screen out all underage applicants. We comply 
with all relevant legal and other requirements to prevent poor labour treatment. This extends to all our key 
contractors, sub-contractors and suppliers, and we ensure that they are aware of the employment policy 
through communication.
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Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws 
and regulations related to child or forced labour.

5.5	S upply Chain Management

For JX, suppliers and contractors are indispensable parts of our business. During the Reporting Period, the 
Company utilised the services of approximately 230 suppliers all located in western Canada for its operating 
and capital expenditures. We believe effective management of supply chain is crucial for maintaining our 
high business performance. To provide our colleagues with guidelines and procedures that are to be 
adhered to in conducting procurement activities, we have in place the Procurement Policy and Procedures 
Manual.

Under the Procurement Policy, we maintain an Approved Vendor List of suppliers and contractors and 
reviews it annually after assessing each of them, among others, to ensure their policies are in line with the 
Company’s requirements on occupational health, safety and environment protection. New vendors have to 
pass the due diligence checks done by JX or professionals enlisted by JX before they are included in the 
Approved Vendor List.

All procurement of equipment, facilities, goods, materials, supplies and services must be conducted in 
compliance with the procurement procedure, to ensure that every procurement decision is aligned to JX’s 
objectives, policies and principles for managing environmental and social risk of our supply chain. 
Procurements should take into consideration safety management and environmental protection, and shall be 
the result of competitive bidding, technically and commercially. All purchase orders and contracts are 
approved by the Company’s management with relative levels of authorities defined in the procurement 
procedure.

5.6	 Product Responsibility

JX’s main products are natural gas and light crude oil which are not packaged or labelled. Production from 
our wells is processed to remove contaminates, and sold directly to purchasers via gas pipeline or oil 
receiving terminal. During the Reporting Period, our marketing activities were comprised of our continuous 
disclosure obligations (press releases, financial statements and other filings and announcements as 
required), and management presentations with shareholders, prospective investors and brokers. Personal 
and corporate information and data is collected through any aspect of the Company’s business is gathered 
and maintained in accordance with the requisite legislation governing these activities. With all our business 
operations conducted within Alberta, the Company is committed to high ethical standards, and the 
protection of health, safety and environment.

JX’s Employee Manual and Code of Conduct details the Company’s policies in respect of observing and 
protecting intellectual property rights, including defined and strict confidentiality provisions. Additionally, the 
Company’s employment contracts for staff and executives, service contracts for directors and consulting 
contracts for consultants all include specific language safeguarding confidential information and intellectual 
property rights. If any employee, executive, director or consultant was found to be in breach of their 
obligations pursuant to any agreement, the Company would have legal remedies available under the terms 
of the contract and under applicable Alberta provincial, and Canadian federal legislation.
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Reliable conduct within the Alberta oil and gas industry is critical for the Company’s consistent long-term 
operations. We comply with Alberta’s safety and environmental laws related to product responsibility, as well 
as other applicable laws and regulations. As we are only engaged in the exploration, development and 
production phase of oil and gas, we rely on external transportation services and processing plants to refine 
our products to reach relevant standards and deliver our products to points of sales. During the Reporting 
Period, there were no incidents of product recall due to safety and quality issues, and the Company did not 
receive any service related complaints.

Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to product responsibility, and the Company was not party to any legal cases regarding 
corrupt practices.

5.7	 Anti-corruption

The Company is committed to the highest possible standards of openness, probity and accountability. In 
line with that commitment, the Company’s Employee Manual details our anti-corruption policy to provide 
guidance to the Board and employees of a zero-tolerance approach to all forms of corruption, including 
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy, embezzlement, fraud, money laundering and collusion.

As per the Employee Manual, employees and directors must maintain an impeccable standard of integrity in 
all transactions and carry out their work in an honest and ethical manner as outlined by the anti-corruption 
policy. They must avoid conflicts of interest and subordination of judgment in performing their duties and 
responsibilities for the Company.

Whistle Blowing Policy
Employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders who have concerns about any suspected 
misconduct or malpractice within the Company are encouraged to come forward and voice those concerns. 
The Company will endeavour to respond to the concerns fairly and properly.

The Whistle Blowing Policy provides a channel for our employees to report instances they believe to be 
unethical or in breach of the code of conduct. Suspected non-compliance may be reported verbally or in 
writing to the department head, chief executive officer or compliance officer of the Company.

When a complaint is filed, dedicated compliance officers will investigate the case using an internal or 
external party as required, while protecting the whistle blower from reprisal. Our employees, agents or 
intermediaries found to have breached our Whistle Blowing Policy may be subject to termination of contract, 
dismissal, sanctions or criminal proceedings.

The Whistle Blowing Policy encourages the reporting of misconducts by assuring whistle blowers protection 
against unfair dismissal, victimisation or unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns turn out to be 
unsubstantiated. The Company’s employees who victimise or retaliate against those who have raised 
concerns under this policy will be subject to disciplinary actions.
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However, the Company’s employees who make a false report maliciously, with an ulterior motive, without 
reasonable grounds that the information in the report is accurate or reliable, or for personal gain, may face 
disciplinary action, including the possibility of dismissal.

Compliance Status
During the Reporting Period, the Company was not aware of any material non-compliance with the relevant 
laws and regulations related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in all material respects.

5.8	 Community Investment

With site development in the regions of the Alberta Foothills and the Peace River area, the Company 
understands the potentially disruptive impacts that its drilling projects and facilities may have on the nearby 
communities, in particular the potential environmental and cultural impact on Aboriginal Canadians living in 
the areas in which the Company operates. Therefore, we strive to minimise such impacts and seek to 
ethically conduct our business to protect the interest of all stakeholders.

We respect the history, heritage and culture of the communities. Through effective management of 
stakeholder relationships, we enhance trust and confidence of the communities where we operate. Prior to 
the launch of any site development, a series of public consultation will be conducted. Relevant stakeholders 
will include members of the public, regulatory bodies and local and aboriginal communities who are, or may 
be, affected by the proposed exploration and/or development activities. The Company ensures that a 
transparent and respectful relationship is built and maintained with the local community and relevant 
stakeholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Company incurred approximately C$3,200 in costs, and dedicated 
approximately 40 man-hours associated with stakeholder and community engagement comprised of 
consultation with Aboriginal Canadians and landowners who would potentially be impacted by the drilling of 
the Company’s Basing well which occurred between September and December of 2022.
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A	 APPENDIX I — ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

KPI Unit 2021

Use of Resources
Water use (for well completions) m3 0
Natural gas use m3 3,880,029

Per boe1 m3/boe 5.87
Propane use Litres 141,640

Per boe1 Litres/boe 0.21
Diesel use Litres 115,991

Per boe1 Litres/boe 0.18
Emissions

Drilling cuttings and drilling fluids m3 60
Produced water m3 5,669

Per boe1 m3/boe 0.0086
Production wastewater/oil/solid m3 40

Per boe1 m3/boe 0.0001
Methane emission m3 197,587

Per boe1 m3/boe 0.30
Non-hazardous waste disposed tonnes 0
Air emissions

Sulphur oxides (SOx) tonnes 0.04
Particulate matter (PM) tonnes 0.47
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) tonnes 6.17
Volatile organic compound (VOC) tonnes 0.39
Carbon monoxide (CO) tonnes 3.40

Total carbon emissions tonnes CO2 7,612
Total carbon emissions (Scope 1 and 2) per boe1 tonnes CO2/boe 0.0115

1	 Based on 2022 total Company production of 660,530 barrels of oil equivalent (“boe”)
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B	 APPENDIX II — HKEX ESG CONTENT INDEX

Aspects Section Remarks

A Environmental

A1 Emissions 3.1

(a)	 Policies and
(b)	 Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 

significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water 
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste

A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emission data Appendix I

A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

Appendix I

A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

Appendix I

A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility)

Appendix I

A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and result achieved 3.1

A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved

3.1

A2 Use of Resources 3.2
Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 
other raw materials

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, 
gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility)

Appendix I

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 
volume, per facility)

Appendix I

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved 3.2

A2.4  Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit 
for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

3.2 There are no 
significant 
issues 
identified in 
sourcing water 
that is fit for 
purpose.

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 
applicable, with reference to per unit produced

— Packaging 
material is not 
identified as 
material to the 
Company.
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Aspects Section Remarks

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources 3.3
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 
environment and natural resources

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them

3.3

A4 Climate Change 4.1
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related 
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer

A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions 
taken to manage them.

4.1

B Social

B1 Employment and Labour Practices 5.1
Policies on employment and compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer on the 
following aspects:
•	 Compensation and dismissal
•	 Recruitment and promotion
•	 Working hours and rest periods
•	 Equal opportunity and anti-discrimination
•	 Diversity
•	 Other benefits and welfare

B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or 
parttime), age group and geographical region.

5.1

B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical 
region.

5.1

B2 Health and Safety 5.2
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer related to providing a safe working 
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards

B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the 
past three years including the reporting year.

5.2

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 5.2

B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

5.3
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Aspects Section Remarks

B3 Development and Training 5.3
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for 
discharging duties at work; description of training activities

B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

5.3

B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and 
employee category.

5.3

B4 Labour Standards 5.4
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer related to preventing child and 
forced labour

B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid 
child and forced labour.

5.4

B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when 
discovered.

5.4

B5 Supply Chain Management 5.5
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 
chain

B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 5.5

B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of 
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

5.5

B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social 
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and 
monitored.

5.5

B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable 
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

5.5
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Aspects Section Remarks

B6 Product Responsibility 5.6
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer related to health and safety, 
advertising, labelling and privacy matters related to products and 
services provided and methods of redress

B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for 
safety and health reasons.

5.6

B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and 
how they are dealt with.

5.6

B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 
intellectual property rights.

5.6

B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 5.6

B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and 
how they are implemented and monitored.

5.6

B7 Anti-corruption 5.7
Policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the issuer related to bribery, extortion, fraud 
and money laundering

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 
brought against the issuer or its employees during the reporting 
period and the outcomes of the cases.

5.7

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, 
and how they are implemented and monitored.

5.7

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 5.7

B8 Community Investment
Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities 
take into consideration the communities’ interests

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, 
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

5.8

B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 5.8
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF JX ENERGY LTD (FORMERLY KNOWN AS “PERSTA RESOURCES INC.”) 
(incorporated in Canada with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of JX Energy Ltd (formerly known as “Persta Resources Inc., “the Company”) 
set out on pages 97 to 156 which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, and 
the statement of loss and comprehensive loss, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and the statement of 
cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Company as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standard Board and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3 to the financial statements, which indicates that as at December 31, 2022, the Company’s 
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by C$37.0 million and incurred a loss of C$3.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3 to the financial statements, 
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
In addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern” section, we have determined 
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment
(Refer to notes 5, 10, and 18 to the financial statements)

As at December 31, 2022, the Company recorded an impairment recovery of approximately C$17,000 on its property, 
plant and equipment. The estimated recoverable amount of the cash generating units involves numerous estimates 
including the future discounted cash flows associated with estimated oil and gas reserves. The estimation of oil and gas 
reserves involves the expertise of qualified reserve evaluators engaged by the Company.

We have identified the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment as a key audit matter because of its 
significance to the financial statements of the Company and is a judgemental process which requires estimates 
concerning the forecast future cash flows associated with the assets in determining the recoverable amount.

The selection of a valuation model, adoption of key assumptions and input data may be subject to management bias 
and changes in these assumptions and inputs to the valuation model may result in significant financial impact.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment included:

—	 Examining and challenging management’s assessment of impairment indicators and the methodology adopted by 
management in the impairment assessments with reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting 
standards;

—	 Assessing management’s determination of cash generating units (“CGU”) for the respective stand alone cash-
generating units and noted that they are reasonable based on our understanding of the Company’s business;

—	 Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and objectivity of the independent qualified reserves evaluators engaged 
by the Company, and the methodology used by the independent qualified reserves evaluators;

—	 Comparing the 2022 actual production, operating, royalty and capital costs of the Company to those estimates 
used in the prior year’s estimate of proved reserves to assess the Company’s ability to accurately forecast;

—	 Comparing the forecasted commodity prices used in the estimate of proved and probable reserves to those 
published by other reserve engineering companies;

—	 Comparing estimates of forecasted production, forecasted operating, royalty and capital cost assumptions used 
in the estimate of proved and probable reserves to historical results;

—	 Examining the impairment test completed by the Company, with the assistance of a valuation specialist with 
specialized skill and knowledge who assisted in evaluating the Company’s discount rate, by comparing it against 
market data and other external data. The valuation specialist estimated the recoverable amount of the CGUs using 
the estimate of the cash flows associated with the CGUs’ reserves and the discount rate evaluated by the 
specialist and compared the results to market data and other external pricing data; and

—	 Evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements in respect of the impairment assessment of the CGUs and 
the key assumptions adopted with reference to the requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the information included in 
the JX Energy Ltd Annual Report 2022 (the “annual report”) other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. We obtained Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The remaining 
other information, including Financial and Operating Highlights, Five-Year Financial Summary, Reserve Summary, 
Chairman’s Statement, Profiles of Directors and Senior Management, Corporate Governance Report, Directors’ Report, 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, Corporate Profile and the other sections (if any) to be included in the 
annual report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit and remain alert for indications that the other information appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take 
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged With Governance 
for the Financial Statements

Management of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements in 
accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Li Yin Fan
Practising Certificate Number P03113

Hong Kong, March 30, 2023
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Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

As at As at

Note
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 7 333,227 587,933 
Accounts receivable 8 2,629,405 2,345,510 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 664,525 454,460 

Total current assets 3,627,157 3,387,903 
Exploration and evaluation assets 9 10,257,507 6,696,957 
Property, plant and equipment 10 37,086,262 40,744,552 
Right of use assets 11 1,427,937 2,152,765 

Total Assets 52,398,863 52,982,177 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12 20,882,800 17,144,921 
Current portion of long term debt 13 18,137,430 8,000,000 
Current portion of lease liabilities 11 868,595 812,355 
Decommissioning liabilities 14 706,300 170,526 

Total current liabilities 40,595,125 26,127,802 
Other liabilities 15 655,764 598,850 
Lease liabilities 11 861,879 1,635,918 
Long term debt 13 — 17,354,961 
Decommissioning liabilities 14 1,608,545 2,250,837 

Total liabilities 43,721,313 47,968,368 
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As at December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Statement of Financial Position

As at As at

Note
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 16 219,802,889 215,922,331 
Warrants 16 647,034 647,034 
Contributed surplus 16 5,886,146 2,523,642 
Accumulated deficit (217,658,519) (214,079,198)

Total shareholders’ equity 8,677,550 5,013,809 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 52,398,863 52,982,177 

Going concern 3
Commitments 28
Subsequent Event 29

The accompanying notes form part of these annual financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board:

Signed “Yongtan Liu”, Director

Signed “Peter Robertson”, Director
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Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year ended December 31,

Note 2022 2021

Revenue
Commodity sales from production 17 26,802,105 21,480,284 
Trading revenue (loss) 17 152,191 (11,117)
Other income 17 77,414 48,392 
Royalty expense (4,668,861) (2,663,408)

Total net revenue 22,362,849 18,854,151 

Expenses
Operating costs (12,824,666) (14,382,786)
General and administrative costs (3,007,629) (2,966,068)
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 10,11 (6,089,437) (5,572,190)
(Write-offs) and impairment recovery 18 (763,280) 4,312,670 

Total expenses (22,685,012) (18,608,374)

(Loss) income from operations (322,163) 245,777 
Finance expenses 22 (3,257,158) (5,054,592)

(Loss) before taxes (3,579,321) (4,808,815)
Income taxes 23 — —

Loss and comprehensive loss (3,579,321) (4,808,815)

(Loss) per share
Basic and diluted 24 (0.01) (0.01)

The accompanying notes form part of these annual financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Share Contributed Accumulated Total
Note Capital Warrants Surplus Deficit Equity

At January 1, 2022 16 215,922,331 647,034 2,523,642 (214,079,198) 5,013,809 
Shares issued for cash 7,233,985 — — — 7,233,985 
Allocation for shares issued 

above market value (3,305,584) — 3,305,584 — —
Share issue costs (47,843) — — — (47,843)
Share-based expenses — — 56,920 — 56,920 
Income for the period — — — (3,579,321) (3,579,321)

At December 31, 2022 219,802,889 647,034 5,886,146 (217,658,519) 8,677,550 

At January 1, 2021 16 213,426,683 647,034 358,042 (209,270,383) 5,161,376 
Shares issued for cash 4,608,100 — — — 4,608,100 
Allocation for shares issued 

above market value (2,048,000) — 2,048,000 — —
Share issue costs (64,452) — — — (64,452)
Share-based expenses — — 117,600 — 117,600 
Loss for the year — — — (4,808,815) (4,808,815)

At December 31, 2021 215,922,331 647,034 2,523,642 (214,079,198) 5,013,809 

The accompanying notes form part of these annual financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2022

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Year ended December 31,

Note 2022 2021

Cash provided by (used in):
Operations
Net income (loss) (3,579,321) (4,808,814)
Items not involving cash:

Depletion, depreciation and amortization 6,089,437 5,572,190 
Share-based expenses 56,920 117,600 
Non-cash finance expenses 1,129,137 1,383,813 
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss (75) 607 
Impairment (recovery) and write-offs 763,280 (4,312,670)

Funds from operations 4,459,378 (2,047,275)
Changes in non-cash working capital 7 8,819,881 4,308,621 

Total cash from operations 13,279,259 2,261,346 

Investing
Expenditures on property, plant and equipment (9,828,738) (4,889,600)
Expenditures on exploration and evaluation assets (1,866,017) — 

Net cash (used in) investing (11,694,755) (4,889,600)

Financing
Shares issued for cash, net share issuance costs 7,186,142 4,543,648 
Proceeds from Jixing Energy 458,254 — 
Repayment of shareholders’ loans (3,440,567) — 
Principal portion of lease payments (753,261) (726,083)
Interest portion of lease payments (289,854) (295,333)
Repayment of debt (5,000,000) (4,377,011)
Proceeds from debt — 3,000,000 

Net cash (used in) generated from financing (1,839,285) 2,145,221 

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (254,781) (483,033)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 75 (607)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 587,933 1,071,573 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 333,227 587,933 

Supplementary information:
Interest paid 1,910,794 3,295,811 

The accompanying notes form part of these annual financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1	 CORPORATE INFORMATION

JX Energy Ltd., formerly Persta Resources Inc. (the “Company” or “JX”) was incorporated in Calgary, Alberta, 
Canada under the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) in 2005. JX is an exploration and development company 
pursuing petroleum and natural gas production in Alberta, Canada. The Company’s registered office is located at 
15th Floor, Bankers Court, 850-2nd Street SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 0R8, Canada, and its head office is located 
at Suite 900, 717-7th Avenue SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 0Z3, Canada.

Pursuant to an initial public offering on March 10, 2017, the Company’s shares were listed on The Stock Exchange 
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and traded under the stock code of “3395”. The Company has 
been a reporting issuer under the Securities Act (Alberta) since October 2, 2018. On June 22, 2022, shareholders 
of the Company (“Shareholders”) approved the change of the Company’s name from Persta Resources Inc. to JX 
Energy Ltd.

2	B ASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)	S tatement of compliance

The financial statements set out in this report have been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). The IASB has issued a number of revised IFRSs effective January 1, 2022. For the purpose 
of preparing these financial statements, the Company has adopted all applicable revised IFRSs for the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (refer to Note 4).

The financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently in all years presented in the financial 
statements. See Notes 4(r) and 4(s).

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board on March 30, 2023.

(b)	B asis of measurement

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the forward contracts for trading 
of natural gases which are measured at fair value as explained in accounting policies set out in Note 4. The 
Company held no outstanding forward contracts as at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

(c)	 Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars (“C$”), which is the Company’s functional 
currency.

(d)	U se of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form 
the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

2	B ASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(d)	U se of estimates and judgments (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 5.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The going concern basis of 
presentation assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.

3	GO ING CONCERN

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company will 
be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. As at December 31, 
2022, the Company had a working capital deficiency of C$37.0 million, generated funds from operations of C$13.2 
million for the year ended December 31, 2022, and has fully drawn on its C$15 million subordinated debt facility 
which matures on May 16, 2023.

On March 11, 2022, the Company and lender agreed to restructure the aforesaid subordinated debt facility (the “2022 
Restructuring”). Under the terms of the 2022 Restructuring, financial covenants in respect of net debt to total 
proved reserves and net debt to TTM EBITDA (as defined in Note 13) have been waived for the remainder of the 
loan term. The Company has settled principal payment as agreed in the 2022 Restructuring as of the date of 
approval of the financial statements. On 27 March 2023, the Company repaid the outstanding subordinated debt 
balance of C$15.75 million plus interest of C$115,958.91.

The global impact of COVID-19 has resulted in significant volatility in global stock markets has created a great 
deal of uncertainty in the global economy and specifically volatility of natural gas price has significantly affected 
the operating performance of the Company. These factors may have a significant impact on the Company’s 
operations and its ability to raise financing to meet its debt covenants.

The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the ability to generate positive cash flow 
from operations, obtain equity financing, dispose of assets or other arrangements to fund operating and investing 
activities. There are no assurances that any waivers will be obtained or transactions will be completed, on terms 
acceptable to the Company. These conditions cause material uncertainty which cast significant doubt on the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding this, based on the cash flow projection, the 
directors of the Company consider that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis.

Should the use of the going concern basis in preparation of the financial statements be determined to be not 
appropriate, adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying amounts of the Company’s assets to 
their realizable values, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current assets 
and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these adjustments 
have not been reflected in the financial statements. If the Company is unable to continue as a going concern, it 
may be forced to seek relief under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency legislation.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies have been applied consistently in all years presented in these financial statements.

(a)	 Joint arrangements

Joint arrangements are contractual arrangements classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. Joint 
operations exist when the Company has rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating to an 
arrangement. As such, the financial statements only include the Company’s share of its assets, liabilities and 
transactions associated with its joint operations.

(b)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in 
exchange for those goods or services, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods or 
service may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over 
time if the Company’s performance:

•	 provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

•	 creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Company performs; or

•	 does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable 
right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period of the contract 
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, 
revenue is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the customer a significant benefit of 
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at 
the present value of the amounts receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a 
separate financing transaction between the Company and the customer at contract inception. Where the 
contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Company, 
revenue recognized under that contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under 
the effective interest method. For contracts where the period between the payment and the transfer of the 
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a 
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(b)	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids
Revenue from the sale of crude oil and natural gas is recognized when title to the products passes to the 
purchasers based on volumes delivered at contracted delivery points and prices and are recorded gross of 
transportation charges incurred by the Company. The costs associated with the delivery, including 
transportation and production-based royalty expenses, are recognized in the same period in which the 
related revenue is earned and recorded.

Trading revenue
Trading revenue is realized when the Company purchases natural gas on the open market to meet its 
forward sale obligations. It is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of 
the costs incurred to purchase the natural gas.

Other income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis on the principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate under 
the effective interest method.

(c)	 Finance income and expenses

Finance income is comprised of interest income. Finance expenses are recognized as the interest accrues, 
using the effective interest method. The effective interest method uses the rate that discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset.

Finance expense comprises interest expense and other fees on the bank loan and various other loans, 
amortization of debt issue costs, accretion of the discount on decommissioning liabilities, commitment 
charges and foreign exchange gains and losses on foreign currency transactions.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Financial instruments

The Company recognizes financial assets and financial liabilities on the statement of financial position when 
the Company becomes a party to the contract. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive 
cash flows from the assets have expired or when the Company has transferred substantially all risks and 
rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized from the financial statements when the liability is 
extinguished either through settlement of or release from the obligation of the underlying liability.

Financial assets, financial liabilities and derivatives are measured at fair value on initial recognition. 
Measurement in subsequent periods depends on the financial instrument’s classification, as described 
below.

(i)	 Financial assets
•	 Amortized cost

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if the objective of the business model is to hold 
the financial asset for the collection of the cash flows; and all contractual cash flows represent 
only principal and interest on that principal. All financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method except for liabilities incurred for the purposes of selling or 
repurchasing in the short-term liabilities, if they are held-for trading and those that meet the 
definition of a derivative.

•	 Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
A financial asset shall be measured at FVTOCI if the financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial 
assets; and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows 
that are Solely Payment of Principal and Interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding.

•	 Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
All financial assets that do not meet the definition of being measured at amortized cost or FVTOCI 
are measured at FVTPL, this includes all derivative financial assets. A financial liability is 
classified as measured at FVTPL if it is held-for-trading, a derivative, or designated as FVTPL on 
initial recognition. For financial assets and liabilities, the Company may make an irrevocable 
election to designate an asset at FVTPL. If the election is made it is irrevocable, meaning that 
asset, liability, or group of financial instruments must be recorded at FVTPL until that asset, 
liability or group of financial instruments are derecognized.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported on the balance sheet 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts, and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Commodity contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt 
or delivery of commodity in accordance with the Company’s expected purchase, sale or usage 
fall within the normal purchase or sale exemption and are accounted for as executory contracts.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (Continued)
•	 Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed with an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model. The new impairment 
model applies to financial assets measured at amortized cost, a lease receivable, a contract 
asset or a loan commitment and a financial guarantee contract.

The Company recognizes loss allowances for ECL on trade receivables and financial assets at 
amortized cost. ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

•	 12-months ECLs: these are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 
months after the reporting date; and

•	 Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the 
maximum contractual period over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Company in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive. The shortfall is then 
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Company measured loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified 
approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Company has established a 
provision matrix that is based on the Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, ECLs are based on lifetime ECLs except when there has not been 
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the allowance will be 
based on the 12-months ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Company considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the Company’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is 
more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to action such as 
realizing security (if any is held); or the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (Continued)
•	 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The Company writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example when the 
debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the 
case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 12 months past due, whichever occurs 
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the 
Company’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any 
recoveries made are recognized in profit or loss.

(ii)	 Financial liabilities
The Company classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities were 
incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value and financial liabilities at 
amortized costs are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

•	 Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities at FVTPL include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in 
the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held 
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on 
liabilities held for trading are recognized in profit or loss.

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract may be 
designated as a financial liability at FVTPL, except where the embedded derivative does not 
significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative is 
prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as at FVTPL if the following criteria 
are met: (i) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that 
would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities or recognizing the gains or losses on them on 
a different basis; (ii) the liabilities are part of a Company of financial liabilities which are managed 
and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk 
management strategy; or (iii) the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would 
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with 
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for the 
gains and losses arising from the Company’s own credit risk which are presented in other 
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the statement of loss and 
comprehensive loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognized in the statement of profit or loss 
does not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)	 Financial liabilities (Continued)
•	 Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the 
effective interest method. The related interest expense is recognized in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as 
through the amortization process.

•	 Effective Interest methods
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset or 
financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or 
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a 
shorter period.

(e)	 Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets include costs capitalized by the Company in connection with the 
exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources before the technical feasibility and commercial viability of 
extracting a mineral resource are demonstrable. E&E expenditures, including the costs of acquiring licenses 
and directly attributable general and administrative costs (“G&A”), geological and geophysical costs, other 
direct costs of exploration (drilling, trenching, sampling and evaluating the technical feasibility and 
commercial viability of extraction) and appraisal are accumulated and capitalized as E&E assets. Costs 
incurred before the Company has obtained the legal rights to explore an area are expensed.

E&E assets are initially capitalized as intangible assets and are not amortized. E&E assets are assessed for 
impairment when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may exceed the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss and separately disclosed.

Once the technical feasibility and commercial viability is determined, E&E assets attributable to that area are 
assessed for impairment with any impairment loss recognized in profit or loss. The remaining carrying value 
of the relevant E&E assets is then reclassified as development and production assets within property, plant 
and equipment. Technical feasibility and commercial viability is generally considered to be determined when 
proved plus probable reserves are determined to exist and commercial production of oil and gas has 
commenced on the license or field.

For divestitures of E&E assets, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss for the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. Exchanges of properties are measured at fair 
value, unless the transaction lacks commercial substance or fair value cannot be reliably measured. Where 
the exchange is measured at fair value, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) of the Company consists of development and production assets 
and office equipment.

Development and production assets
Development and production assets are carried at cost less accumulated depletion, depreciation, 
amortization and impairment losses. The cost of a development and production asset includes the initial 
purchase price and directly attributable expenditures to develop, construct and complete an asset. These 
costs include property acquisitions, development drilling, completion, gathering and infrastructure, asset 
retirement costs and transfers from E&E assets. Any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary to operate as intended by management, and which result in an identifiable 
future benefit, are capitalized, including directly attributable G&A costs. Improvements that increase the 
capacity or extend the useful lives of related assets are also capitalized.

For divestitures of properties, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss for the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. Exchanges of properties are measured at fair 
value, unless the transaction lacks commercial substance or fair value cannot be reliably measured. Where 
the exchange is measured at fair value, a gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss.

(g)	 Impairments

Development and production assets and right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment when facts and 
circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may exceed the recoverable amount. For the purposes of 
impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of 
assets (the “cash-generating unit” or “CGU”).

The recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of 
disposal (“FVLCD”).

Value in use is estimated by consideration of the following:

(i)	 net present value of the proved plus probable reserves as determined annually by independent 
reservoir engineers using future prices and costs using a pre-tax discount rate; and

(ii)	 management’s estimate of net present value of additional asset development not included in (i) above, 
using a pre-tax discount rate.

FVLCD is estimated by consideration of the following:

(i)	 net present value of proved plus probable reserves as determined annually by independent reservoir 
engineers using future prices and costs using a pre-tax discount rate;

(ii)	 management’s estimate of fair value of undeveloped land;

(iii)	 a review of the values indicated by the metrics of recent market transactions of similar assets within the 
oil and gas industry; and
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g)	 Impairments (Continued)

(iv)	 management’s estimate of additional fair value from asset development not included in (i) above.

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

(h)	 Reversal of impairment

An impairment loss may be reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and depletion, if no impairment loss 
had been recognized and circumstances indicate the loss no longer exists or is decreased. An impairment 
loss reversal is recognized in profit or loss.

(i)	 Depletion and depreciation

Depletion of development and production assets is provided using the unit-of-production method based on 
production volumes before royalties in relation to total estimated proved plus probable reserves as 
determined annually by independent reservoir engineers using future prices and costs. Natural gas reserves 
and production are converted at the energy equivalent of six thousand cubic feet to one barrel of oil. 
Calculations for depletion and depreciation are based on total capitalized costs plus estimated future 
development costs of proved plus probable reserves.

Depreciation of other assets is provided for on a 20%–100% declining balance basis.

(j)	 Decommissioning liability

The Company records a liability for the legal obligation associated with the retirement of long-lived tangible 
assets at the time the liability is incurred, normally when a long-lived tangible asset is purchased or 
developed, discounted to its present value using a risk-free interest rate. On recognition of the liability there 
is a corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related asset known as the decommissioning 
liability cost, which is depleted on a unit-of-production basis over the life of the estimated proved plus 
probable reserves, before royalties. The liability amount is increased each reporting period due to the 
passage of time and the amount of accretion is charged to profit or loss in the period. The decommissioning 
liability obligation can also increase or decrease due to changes in estimates of timing of cash flow, changes 
in the original estimated undiscounted cost or changes in the discount rate. The decommissioning liability 
obligation is re-measured at each reporting date using the risk-free rate in effect at that time and the 
changes in fair value are capitalized as property, plant and equipment. Actual costs incurred upon 
settlement of the obligations are charged against the liability.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(k)	S hare capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common 
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

The Company may incur various costs when issuing or acquiring its own equity instruments. Those costs 
might include registration and other regulatory fees, amounts paid to legal, accounting and other 
professional advisers, printing costs and stamp duties. The transaction costs of an equity transaction are 
accounted for as a deduction from equity (net of any related income tax benefit) to the extent they are 
incremental costs directly attributable to the equity transaction that otherwise would have been avoided. 
Costs related to a planned equity offering not completed at the financial statement date are recorded as 
deferred financing costs until the offering is either completed or abandoned. The costs of an equity 
transaction that is abandoned are recognized as an expense.

(l)	 Income taxes

Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in 
shareholders’ equity, in which case the income tax is recognized directly in shareholders’ equity.

Current income taxes payable are based on taxable earnings for the year. Taxable earnings differs from 
profit before income taxes as reported in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in different years and items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Current taxes are recognized in profit or loss.

The Company follows the statement of financial position method of accounting for income taxes. Under this 
method, deferred income taxes are recorded for the effect of any temporary difference between the 
accounting and income tax basis of an asset or liability.

Deferred income tax is calculated using the enacted or substantively enacted income tax rates expected to 
apply when the assets are realized or the liabilities are settled. The effect of a change in the enacted or 
substantively enacted tax rates is recognized in profit or loss or shareholders’ equity depending on the item 
to which the adjustment relates.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable earnings will be 
available against which the assets can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is not 
probable that sufficient tax earnings will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only when a legally enforceable right of offset exists and the 
deferred tax assets and liabilities arose in the same tax jurisdiction and relate to the same taxable entity.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m)	 Related party transactions

(a)	 A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Company if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the Company’s parent.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company 
or an entity related to the Company.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly-controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, 
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity. A transaction is considered to be a 
related party transaction when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.

(n)	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents can consist of cash in bank and short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less.

(o)	 Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company by 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted loss per share is determined 
by adjusting the loss attributable to shareholders and the weighted average number of shares outstanding 
for the effects of all potential shares, which is comprised of any outstanding awards, options or warrants.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(p)	 Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. The Company applies judgement when reviewing each of its contractual 
arrangements to determine whether the arrangement contains a lease. Contractual arrangements containing 
a lease are then subject to various areas of judgement including the lease term and discount rate.

The Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The 
right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying 
asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The 
estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property, plant, 
and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the minimum lease payments that are not yet 
paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate for that asset. Generally, the Company 
uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. The lease liability is subsequently increased by the 
interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease payments made. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, a change in estimate of the 
amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, changes in the assessment of whether a 
purchase or extension option is reasonably certain to be exercised or a termination option is reasonably 
certain not to be exercised.

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leased 
assets that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets defined as leases with an 
annual obligation of C$5,000 or less. The Company recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(q)	S hare-based payments

The Company applies the fair-value method for valuing share option grants. Under this method, 
compensation cost attributable to all share options granted are measured at fair value at the grant date and 
expensed over the vesting period with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus. A forfeiture rate is 
estimated on the grant date and is adjusted to reflect the actual number of options that vest. Upon the 
exercise of the share options, consideration received, together with the amount previously recognized in 
contributed surplus, is recorded as an increase to share capital.

The Company has a cash-settled incentive award plan (the “Phantom Unit Plan”) pursuant to which 
incentive awards may be granted to eligible directors as detailed in Note 19. Each incentive award entitles 
the holder to receive a cash payment equal to the value of one JX common share. The cumulative expense 
is recognized at fair value at each period end and is included in trade and other payables.
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4	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(r)	 Adoption of revised standards and interpretations

The following new IFRS standards and interpretations were adopted by the Company on January 1, 2022:

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRS 1, IFRS 9, 

IFRS 16 and IAS 41
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018–2020

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

There have been no new IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that have a material impact on the Company’s results 
and financial position for the year ended December 31, 2022. The Company has not early applied any new 
or amended IFRSs that is not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(s)	S tandards issued but not yet effective

The following new and revised IFRSs, potentially relevant to the Company’s financial statements have been 
issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Company:

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current2

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies1

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates1

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising 
From a Single Transaction1

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework1

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease liability on a sale and Leaseback2

(1)	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023.
(2)	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2024.

The Company is in the process of assessing what the impact of these amendments and new standards is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely 
to have a significant impact on the financial statements.
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5	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of IFRS accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities and income 
and expenses. Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are critical judgments that management has made in the process of applying the Company’s IFRS 
accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

(i)	 Identification of CGUs
The Company’s assets are aggregated into CGUs for the purpose of calculating impairment based on their 
ability to generate largely independent cash inflows. CGUs have been determined based on similar 
geological structure, shared infrastructure, geographical proximity, operating structure, commodity type and 
similar exposures to market risks. By their nature, these assumptions are subject to management’s judgment 
and may impact the carrying value of the Company’s assets in future periods.

(ii)	 Identification of impairment indicators, assessment of impairment and impairment recovery
IFRS requires the Company to assess, at each reporting date, whether there are any indicators that its non-
financial assets may be impaired. The Company is required to consider information from both external 
sources (such as a negative downturn in commodity prices and significant adverse changes in the 
technological, market, economic or legal environment in which the entity operates) and internal sources (such 
as downward revisions in reserves, significant adverse effect on the financial and operational performance 
of a CGU and evidence of obsolescence or physical damage to the asset). By their nature, these 
assumptions are subject to management’s judgment and may impact the carrying value of the Company’s 
assets in future periods.

(iii)	 Lease arrangements
The Company applies judgement when reviewing each of its contractual arrangements to determine whether 
the arrangement contains a lease. Contractual arrangements containing a lease are then subject to various 
areas of judgement including the lease term and lessee incremental borrowing rate.
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5	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the sources of estimation uncertainty for the year ended 
December 31, 2022 that have a significant risk of causing adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities:

(i)	 Reserves
Reported recoverable quantities of proved and probable reserves requires estimation regarding production 
profile, commodity prices, exchange rates, remediation costs, timing and amount of future development 
costs, and production, transportation and marketing costs for future cash flows. It also requires interpretation 
of geological and geophysical models in order to make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality 
of the reservoir, and the anticipated recoveries. The economical, geological and technical factors used to 
estimate reserves may change from period to period. Changes in reported reserves can impact the carrying 
values of the Company’s petroleum and natural gas properties and equipment, the calculation of depletion 
and depreciation, the provision for decommissioning obligations, and the recognition of deferred tax assets 
due to changes in expected future cash flows. The recoverable quantities of reserves and estimated cash 
flows from JX’s petroleum and natural gas interests are evaluated by independent reserve engineers at least 
annually.

The Company’s petroleum and natural gas reserves represent the estimated quantities of petroleum, natural 
gas and NGLs which geological, geophysical and engineering data demonstrate with a specified degree of 
certainty to be economically recoverable in future years from known reservoirs and which are considered 
commercially producible. Such reserves may be considered commercially producible if management has 
the intention of developing and producing them and such intention is based upon (i) a reasonable 
assessment of the future economics of such production; (ii) a reasonable expectation that there is a market 
for all or substantially all the expected petroleum and natural gas production; and (iii) evidence that the 
necessary production, transmission and transportation facilities are available or can be made available. 
Reserves may only be considered proved and probable if supported by either production or conclusive 
formation tests. JX’s oil and gas reserves are determined in accordance with the standards contained in 
National Instrument 51–101 Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities and the Canadian Oil and Gas 
Evaluation Handbook.

(ii)	 Decommissioning obligations
The Company estimates future remediation costs of production facilities, well sites and gathering systems at 
different stages of development and construction of assets. In most instances, removal of assets occurs 
many years into the future. This requires an estimate regarding abandonment date, environmental and 
regulatory legislation, the extent of reclamation activities, the engineering methodology for estimating cost, 
technologies in determining the removal cost and liability-specific discount rates to determine the present 
value of these cash flows.

(iii)	 Impairment of non-financial assets
For the purposes of determining the extent of any impairment or its reversal, estimates must be made 
regarding future cash flows taking into account key assumptions including future petroleum and natural gas 
prices, expected forecasted production volumes and anticipated recoverable quantities of proved and 
probable reserves. These assumptions are subject to change as new information becomes available. 
Changes in economic conditions can also affect the rate used to discount future cash flow estimates. 
Changes in the aforementioned assumptions could affect the carrying amount of the Company’s assets, and 
impairment charges and reversals will affect income or loss.
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5	S IGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)	 Going concern assumption
The directors of the Company have prepared the financial statements on the assumption that the Company 
will be able to operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future, which is a critical judgement that has 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements. The assessment of the 
going concern assumption involves making a judgement by the directors about the future outcome of events 
or conditions which are inherently uncertain. The directors consider that, after taking into account of all major 
events or conditions, which may give rise to business risks, that individually or collectively may cast 
significant doubt upon the going concern assumption as set out in Note 3 to the financial statements, the 
Company has the capability to continue as a going concern.

(v)	 Taxes
The Company files corporate income tax, goods and service tax and other tax returns with various provincial 
and federal taxation authorities in Canada. There can be differing interpretations of applicable tax laws and 
regulations. The resolution of any differing tax positions through negotiations or litigation with tax authorities 
can take several years to complete. The Company does not anticipate that there will be any material impact 
upon the results of its operations, financial position or liquidity.

Tax provisions are based on enacted or substantively enacted laws. Changes in those laws could affect 
amounts recognized in income or loss both in the period of change, which would include any impact on 
cumulative provisions, and in future periods.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent it is considered probable that those assets will be 
recoverable. This involves an assessment of when those deferred tax assets are likely to reverse and a 
judgment as to whether or not there will be sufficient taxable profits available to offset the tax assets when 
they do reverse. This requires assumptions regarding future profitability and is therefore inherently uncertain. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecasted funds from operations. During the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has not recorded any deferred tax assets or liabilities due to 
the uncertainty of future taxable profits.

(vi)	 Share-based expenses
All equity-settled, share-based awards issued by the Company are recorded at fair value using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. In assessing the fair value of equity-based compensation, estimates have to 
be made regarding the expected volatility in share price, option life, dividend yield, risk-free rate and 
estimated forfeitures at the initial grant date.
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6	SUMM ARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts presented in the statement of financial position related to the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities:

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Financial assets
Financial assets measured at amortised cost:
Cash and cash equivalents 333,227 587,933 
Accounts receivable 2,629,405 2,345,510 

2,962,632 2,933,443 

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 20,882,800 17,144,921 
Long term debt 18,137,430 25,354,961 
Lease liabilities 1,730,474 2,448,273 
Decommissioning liabilities 2,314,845 2,421,363 
Other liabilities 655,764 598,850 

43,721,313 47,968,368 

Due to their short-term nature, the carrying value of short term financial assets and liabilities approximates to their 
fair value.



JX Energy Ltd.
Annual Report 2022120

For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

7	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(a)	 Cash and cash equivalents

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 3,181 585,928 
Cash on hand 330,046 2,005 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position  
and statement of cash flows 333,227 587,933 

(b)	S upplementary cash flows information

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Change in non-cash working capital:
Accounts receivable (283,895) (358,660)
Prepaid expenses and deposits (210,065) 26,333 
Trade accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,794,793 9,196,441 

3,300,833 8,864,114 

Change in non-cash working capital included  
in investing and financing activities (5,519,048) 4,555,493 

Change in non-cash working capital included 
in operating activities 8,819,881 4,308,621 

3,300,833 8,864,114 
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7	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

(c)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Lease Shareholder Subordinated
C$ liabilities loans debt Total

At January 1, 2021 2,631,628 2,533,290 23,142,661 28,307,579 
Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from debt — 3,000,000 — 3,000,000 
Interest paid — — (3,295,811) (3,295,811)
Principal repayment of lease liabilities (726,083) — (4,377,011) (5,103,094)
Interest repayment of lease liabilities (295,333) — — (295,333)

Changes from financing cash flows (1,021,416) 3,000,000 (7,672,822) (5,694,238)

Other charges:
Lease additions 542,728 — — 542,728 
Interest expenses 295,333 — 3,295,811 3,591,144 
Accrued and unpaid debt interest — — 591,711 591,711 
Change in deferred debt costs — — 490,593 490,593 
Accretion expense — (26,283) — (26,283)

Other charges 838,061 (26,283) 4,378,115 5,189,893 

At December 31, 2021 2,448,273 5,507,007 19,847,954 27,803,234 

At January 1, 2022 2,448,273 5,507,007 19,847,954 27,803,234 
Changes from financing cash flows:
Proceeds from debt — 458,254 — 458,254 
Interest paid — — (1,910,794) (1,910,794)
Principal repayment (753,261) (3,440,567) (5,000,000) (9,193,828)
Interest repayment of lease liabilities (289,854) — — (289,854)

Changes from financing cash flows (1,043,115) (2,982,313) (6,910,794) (10,936,222)

Other charges:
Lease additions 35,462 — — 35,462 
Interest expenses 289,854 — 1,910,794 2,200,648 
Change in accrued and unpaid debt interest — — 150,000 150,000 
Change in deferred debt costs — — 515,777 515,777 
Accretion expense — 99,005 — 99,005 

Other charges 325,316 99,005 2,576,571 3,000,892 

At December 31, 2022 1,730,474 2,623,699 15,513,731 19,867,904 
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8	 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Trade receivables 2,627,332 2,054,942 
Other receivables 2,073 290,568 

Total 2,629,405 2,345,510 

(a)	 Aging analysis of trade receivables

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade receivables (included in accounts 
receivable), based on the invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier) and net of allowance for 
doubtful debts, is as follows:

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Within 1 month 2,627,332 2,054,942 
1 to 3 months — — 
Over 3 months — — 

Total 2,627,332 2,054,942 

Trade receivables are generally collected within 25 days from the date of billing.

(b)	 Impairment of accounts receivable

Impairment losses in respect of trade and other receivables are recorded using an allowance account 
unless the Company determines that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is 
written off against account receivables directly. No accounts receivable are considered individually nor 
collectively to be impaired. No material balances of trade or other receivables are past due, and no 
impairment loss has been recognized for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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9	 EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Balance, beginning of period 6,696,957 6,974,847 
Additions 4,903,163 — 
Transfer to PP&E (Note 10) (561,874) — 
Write-offs (Note 18) (780,739) (277,890)

Balance, end of period 10,257,507 6,696,957 

Exploration and evaluation (“E&E”) assets consist of undeveloped lands, unevaluated seismic data and 
unevaluated drilling and completion costs on the Company’s exploration projects which are pending the 
determination of proven or probable reserves in sufficient quantity to warrant commercial development. Transfers 
are made to property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) as proven or probable reserves are determined. E&E assets 
are expensed due to uneconomic drilling and completion activities and write-offs of lease expiries. Impairment is 
assessed based on the recoverable amount compared with the asset’s carrying amount to measure the amount of 
the impairment (refer to Note 18).

For the year ended December 31, 2022, general and administrative (“G&A”) costs of C$nil (2021—C$nil) were 
capitalized and included in E&E additions as they were directly attributable to exploration and development 
activities. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company wrote-off C$0.8 million (2021—C$0.3 million) of 
E&E assets attributable to land lease expiries.

2022 PP&E transfer

In December 2022, the Company transferred the land value of one of its Voyager properties to PP&E. In 
accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, all costs were assessed for impairment at the date of transfer 
to PP&E. As natural gas prices in the western Canadian market weakened throughout the latter half of the year, 
indications of impairment were identified for the 2022 Voyager PP&E transfer, and the land value was impaired as 
part of the impairment test on the Voyager area at the end of the year.
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10	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accumulated
Depletion,

Depreciation,
Impairment 

and
Impairment Net 

C$ Cost Recovery Book Value

At January 1, 2021 159,205,444 (127,407,871) 31,797,573 
Additions 8,623,277 — 8,623,277 
Change in decommissioning obligations 560,072 — 560,072 
Depletion and depreciation — (4,826,930) (4,826,930)
Impairment recovery (Note 18) — 4,590,560 4,590,560 

At December 31, 2021 168,388,793 (127,644,241) 40,744,552 

At January 1, 2022 168,388,793 (127,644,241) 40,744,552 
Additions 1,272,509 — 1,272,509 
Transfer from E&E (Note 9) 561,874 — 561,874 
Change in decommissioning obligations (181,021) — (181,021)
Depletion and depreciation — (5,329,111) (5,329,111)
Impairment recovery (Note 18) — 17,459 17,459 

At December 31, 2022 170,042,155 (132,955,893) 37,086,262 

Substantially all of PP&E consists of development and production assets. During the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021, the Company’s PP&E additions were comprised of expenditures at Basing and Voyager. In the 
fourth quarter of 2022, the Company transferred an additional C$0.6 million of E&E assets to PP&E. Included in 
PP&E additions for the year ended December 31, 2022 are G&A costs of C$0.4 million (2021: C$0.2 million) which 
were capitalized in accordance with the Company’s accounting policies.

Depletion, depreciation, impairment and impairment recovery

Depletion and depreciation, impairment of PP&E, and any reversal thereof, are recognized as separate line items 
in the statement of loss and other comprehensive loss. The depletion calculation for the year ended December 31, 
2022 includes estimated future development costs of C$11.7 million (2021: C$6.2 million) associated with the 
development of the Company’s proved plus probable reserves. Impairment and impairment recovery is assessed 
based on the recoverable amount compared with the asset’s carrying amount to measure the amount of the 
impairment and/or impairment recovery (refer to Note 18).
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11	 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a)	 Right of use assets

Oil and Gas Office
C$ Production Space Vehicles Total

At January 1, 2021 507,510 1,834,761 13,026 2,355,297 
Additions 542,728 — — 542,728 
Amortization (296,858) (440,343) (8,059) (745,260)

At December 31, 2021 753,380 1,394,418 4,967 2,152,765 

At January 1, 2022 753,380 1,394,418 4,967 2,152,765 
Additions — — 35,498 35,498 
Amortization (311,934) (440,343) (8,049) (760,326)

At December 31, 2022 441,446 954,075 32,416 1,427,937 

(b)	 Lease liabilities

Oil and Gas Office
C$ Production Space Vehicles Total

At January 1, 2021 509,222 2,108,569 13,837 2,631,628 
Additions 542,728 — — 542,728 
Lease payment, net of interest (271,765) (446,855) (7,463) (726,083)

At December 31, 2021 780,185 1,661,714 6,374 2,448,273 

At January 1, 2022 780,185 1,661,714 6,374 2,448,273 
Additions — — 35,462 35,462 
Lease payment, net of interest (262,385) (482,603) (8,273) (753,261)

At December 31, 2022 517,800 1,179,111 33,563 1,730,474 

Future lease payments are due as follows:

C$
Future lease 

payments Interest
Present

value

At December 31, 2022
Within 1 year 1,027,040 158,445 868,595 
1 to 2 years 759,540 75,795 683,745 
2–5 years 195,173 17,039 178,134 
Over 5 years — — — 

Total 1,981,753 251,279 1,730,474 



JX Energy Ltd.
Annual Report 2022126

For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

12	 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Trade payables 628,339 304,751 
Accrued liabilities 2,435,828 3,182,820 

Total trade payables and accrued liabilities 3,064,167 3,487,571 
Due to related party 10,945,782 4,977,058 
Capital payables 6,366,066 8,081,434 
Other payables 506,785 598,858 

Total 20,882,800 17,144,921 

All trade payables, accrued liabilities, capital payables and other payables are expected to be settled within one 
year or are payable on demand. C$10.9 million (2021: C$4.8 million) of related party payables owed to Jixing 
Energy (Canada) Inc. (“Jixing”) which are unsecured, interest free pursuant to the Jixing Gas Handling and 
Voyager Compression Agreements (Note 26b) and C$Nil (2021: C$0.1 million) are amounts owed pursuant to the 
Company’s Phantom Unit Plan (Note 20). For the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, capital payables are 
primarily comprised of costs incurred for the drilling of new wells at Basing and costs incurred pursuant to the 
Contract (as defined below). For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, other payables are primarily 
comprised of office renovation and rent inducement expenditures.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company entered into the Master Turnkey Drilling and Completion 
Contract (the “Contract”) with an arm’s length private company. Based on the Contract, the Company shall pay 
the invoices either within 90 days from the date of the invoice, or by installments as follows: (i) 15% due six months 
from the date of invoice, (ii) 35% due 12 months from the date of invoice and (iii) 50% due 24 months from the 
date of invoice. Any invoice balance outstanding for more than 90 days will bear interest at 4.24% per annum, 
calculated annually and prorated for the number of months outstanding with no compounding. For the year ended 
December 31, 2022, the Company accrued interest of C$0.15 million (2021: C$0.19 million) in respect of the 
Contract. The outstanding balances are unsecured. The Company has committed to use the services of the 
private company to drill and complete a minimum of five wells or certain penalties would be incurred should the 
Company fail to do so. There were no penalties incurred up to December 31, 2022.

Aging analysis of trade payables and accrued liabilities

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade payables and accrued liabilities is as follows:

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Within 1 month 1,838,725 2,745,472 
1 to 3 months 554,264 717,485 
Over 3 months but within 6 months 671,178 24,614 

Total 3,064,167 3,487,571 
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13	 CURRENT AND LONG-TERM DEBT

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Shareholder loans (net) 2,623,698 5,507,007 
Subordinated debt 15,000,000 20,000,000 
Accrued and unpaid interest and charges on subordinated debt 700,000 550,000 
Less: deferred financing costs (186,268) (702,046)

Total 18,137,430 25,354,961 

Current 18,137,430 8,000,000 
Long term — 17,354,961 

(a)	S ubordinated debt

On May 16, 2018, the Company completed a subordinated debt (the “SubDebt”) financing with an arm’s 
length lender (the “SubLender”) totaling C$25 million. The SubDebt has a term of 60 months and bears 
interest at 12% per annum (the “Base Interest”), compounded and payable monthly. The SubDebt is 
secured by a general security agreement over all present and after-acquired property of the Company 
subject to the fixed and floating first priority held by the SubLender. An exit fee of C$0.75 million is payable 
when the SubDebt facility is repaid or at maturity on May 16, 2023. As further defined below, the SubDebt is 
subject to financial and operating covenants. In connection with the SubDebt, the Company sold 8 million 
share purchase warrants to the SubLender for C$0.75 million.

As at December 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, the Company was not in compliance with its net debt to total 
proved reserves covenant (as defined below) and therefore the debt was due on demand. Accordingly, the 
SubDebt was classified as a current liability as at December 31, 2020.

On April 28, 2020, the Company and SubLender agreed to restructure the loan agreement (the “2020 
Restructuring”). Under the terms of the 2020 Restructuring, the SubLender waived the December 31, 2019 
and March 31, 2020 covenant breaches, and waived financial covenants in respect of working capital, net 
debt to total proved reserves and net debt to trailing twelve months earnings before interest, taxes and 
depreciation (“TTM EBITDA”) for the remainder of 2020. Pursuant to the 2020 Restructuring, the SubDebt 
was subject to the following covenants for 2020: (a) the Company must secure additional capital in the form 
of new equity and/or subordinate debt for a cumulative amount equal to or greater than C$2 million on or 
before June 30, 2020 (“2020 Funding Covenant”) and; (b) measured at the end of each fiscal quarter 
maintaining the Company’s Alberta Energy liability management ratio above 2.0/1.0 (“LMR Covenant”).

Under the terms of the 2020 Restructuring, the following covenants are effective for the fiscal quarter ending 
March 31, 2021 and for all periods thereafter until the SubDebt is repaid in full: (a) net debt to TTM EBITDA 
not to exceed 4.5:1.0 for each fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2021 through December 31, 2021 and not to 
exceed 4.0:1.0 for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2022 and at all times thereafter; and (b) net debt to 
total proved reserves ratio not to exceed 0.75:1.0 as at March 31, 2021 and at all time thereafter; and (c) 
working capital of not less than 1.2:1.0 as at March 31, 2021 and at all times thereafter; and (d) the LMR 
Covenant.
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13	 CURRENT AND LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

(a)	S ubordinated debt (Continued)

Under the terms of the SubDebt and 2020 Restructuring Agreements, net debt is defined as the consolidated 
debt of the Company, less cash held, and excluding debt defined as capital payables (Note 12). TTM 
EBITDA is defined as the annualized earnings before deduction of interest expenses/income, income taxes, 
depletion and depreciation, write-offs, unrealized hedging gains/losses and share-based compensation for 
the four most recent fiscal quarters. Working capital is defined as the ratio of current assets to current 
liabilities. Current assets include the current assets as per the Company’s financial statements excluding any 
unrealized hedging gains. Current liabilities include the current liabilities as per the Company’s financial 
statements excluding any unrealized hedging losses, and excluding any amounts held in current liabilities 
for the SubDebt principal amount owing (amounts held in current liabilities for the SubDebt accrued and 
unpaid interest are included).

Pursuant to the 2020 Restructuring, starting April 1, 2020 the Company will incur an additional 2% per 
annum interest charge, which is due until the TTM EBITDA ratio is below 3.0 (the “PIK Interest”). PIK Interest 
fees will be paid-in-kind, with the fee being added to the principal of the loan on a monthly basis. The PIK 
Interest does not create any incremental cash obligations until the loan balance is repaid. A further 2% per 
annum additional interest is also due effective April 1, 2020 (the “Penalty Interest”). The Penalty Interest is 
to be paid in cash monthly, and is due while the balance of the loan exceeds C$20 million. There is also an 
instalment payment plan whereby the Company would be required to make monthly payments if the amount 
of the loan exceeds C$20 million after July 1, 2021, or if the loan exceeds C$15 million after January 1, 2022 
(the “Installment Plan”). The Company further agreed to re-price the 8 million warrants previously issued to 
the SubLender, subject to shareholder approval. This re-pricing is subject to the Stock Exchange and 
Shareholder approval which was obtained on August 15, 2022. The new exercise price of HK$0.58 was 
calculated based on the average price of the Common Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading 
days immediately preceding August 15, 2022.

As at December 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all covenants associated with the 
subordinated debt. However, there is no genuine possibility that the Company will succeed in compliance 
with the net debt to TTM EBITDA, working capital and net debt to total proved reserves covenants as at 
March 31, 2021 and thereafter. Accordingly, the debt is classified as a current liability as at December 31, 
2020. On June 30, 2021, the Company received a waiver in respect of this covenant breach.

On June 30, 2021, the Company and SubLender agreed to restructure the loan agreement (the “2021 
Restructuring”). Under the terms of the 2021 Restructuring, the SubLender waived financial covenants in 
respect of net debt to total proved reserves and net debt to TTM EBITDA for the remainder of 2021. Financial 
covenants in respect of working capital have been eliminated for the remainder of the loan term. Pursuant to 
the 2021 Restructuring, the SubDebt is subject to the following covenants for 2021 (a) the Company must 
secure additional capital in the form of new equity for a cumulative amount equal to or greater than C$8 
million on or before September 30, 2021 (“2021 Funding Covenant”) and; (b) measured at the end of each 
fiscal quarter maintaining the Company’s Alberta Energy liability management ratio above 2.0/1.0 (“LMR 
Covenant”); and (c) net debt to total proved reserves ratio not to exceed 0.75:1.0 as at December 31, 2021; 
and (d) a C$2.2 million principal payment on or before August 31, 2021 and a C$2.2 million principal 
payment on or before September 30, 2021, (together, the “2021 Principal Payments”). The 2021 Principal 
Payment deadline was subsequently extended to December 31, 2021. Pursuant to the 2021 Restructuring, 
the PIK Interest and Penalty Interest payments terminate when the loan balance is below C$20 million, and 
the loan interest rate reduces to 10% when the loan balance is below C$15 million.
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13	 CURRENT AND LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

(a)	S ubordinated debt (Continued)

Additionally, payments or distributions to any related party are subject to consent of the SubLender unless 
the following conditions are satisfied: the loan balance is equal to or less than C$15 million; or if the loan 
balance is less than C$17.5 million, but greater than C$15 million, the Debt to Trailing EBITDA Ratio shall be 
less than 3.5:1.0 at such time, and, in either case, any payment or distribution shall only be permitted where 
no pending event of default or event of default has occurred (collectively, the “Insider Repayment 
Restrictions”).

On November 30, 2021, the Company paid an aggregate of C$4.38 million, comprised of the 2021 Principal 
Payments and all accrued interest as of the same date and the lender confirmed the loan interest would 
revert to 12% and no further PIK interest would be incurred. As at December 31, 2021 the Company was in 
compliance with all covenants associated with the SubDebt.

On March 11, 2022, the Company and SubLender agreed to restructure the loan agreement (the “2022 
Restructuring”). Under the terms of the 2022 Restructuring, financial covenants in respect of net debt to 
total proved reserves and net debt to TTM EBITDA have been waived for the remainder of the loan term. The 
Company is obligated to make a principal payment of C$2.5 million on or before June 30, 2022, a principal 
payment of C$2.5 million on or before December 31, 2022 and a principal payment of C$1.0 million on or 
before March 31, 2023. The Company made principal payments of C$5.0 million before June 20, 2022, 
satisfying the 2022 principal payment requirements pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with all remaining covenants associated with the 
SubDebt.

(b)	S hareholder loans

On December 23, 2019, Jixing advanced C$0.675 million to the Company (the “2019 Shareholder Loan”). 
The full proceeds of the 2019 Shareholder Loan were applied to amounts due in respect of the Contract (refer 
to Note 12). The 2019 Shareholder Loan had an initial term of two years, is unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
carries no covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole discretion. In calculating the C$0.6 
million fair value of the 2019 Shareholder Loan as at December 31, 2019, the Company applied an effective 
interest rate of 5.97%, comprised of 4% base plus 1.97% Canadian Dealer Offered Rate (“CDOR”). The 
residual of C$0.07 million was recorded to Contributed Surplus (refer to Note 16). On April 27, 2021, the 
Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 Shareholder Loan to December 23, 2022, and 
on December 31, 2021 the Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 Shareholder Loan to 
December 23, 2023. On March 11, 2023, the Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 
Shareholder Loan to December 23, 2024.

On June 2, 2020, a JX director advanced C$2 million to the Company (the “2020 Shareholder Loan”). The 
proceeds of the 2020 Shareholder Loan were used for working capital and general corporate purposes. The 
2020 Shareholder Loan had an initial term of two years, is unsecured, non-interest bearing, carries no 
covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole discretion. In calculating the C$1.85 million 
fair value of the 2020 Shareholder Loan as at June 2, 2020, the Company assumed an effective interest rate 
of 4% per annum base plus one month CDOR, over the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan. On this basis the 
effective rate was 4.28% per annum, comprised of 4% base plus 0.28% CDOR. The residual of C$0.16 
million was recorded to Contributed Surplus (refer to Note 16). On December 31, 2021, the Company and 
director agreed to extend the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan to June 2, 2023. On March 11, 2023, the 
Company and director agreed to extend the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan to June 2, 2024.
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13	 CURRENT AND LONG-TERM DEBT (Continued)

(b)	S hareholder loans (Continued)

On September 1, 2021, the Company and a JX director arranged a loan facility for up to C$3 million (the “2021 
Shareholder Loan”). C$1.5 million was advanced to the Company on the same day, the remaining C$1.5 
million was advanced to the Company on October 27, 2021. The 2021 Shareholder Loan matured on 
December 31, 2021, subject to the Insider Repayment Restrictions. The 2021 Shareholder Loan is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, carries no covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole 
discretion subject to the Insider Repayment Restrictions. As at December 31, 2022, the 2021 Shareholder 
Loan was substantially repaid, with C$0.002 million remaining. On January 31, 2023, the remaining balance 
of the 2021 Shareholder Loan was paid in full.

14	 DECOMMISSIONING LIABILITIES

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Balance, beginning of period 2,421,363 1,947,832 
Liabilities settled — (119,002)
Liabilities incurred — 86,876 
Change in estimate (181,021) 473,197 
Accretion expense (Note 22) 74,503 32,460 

Balance, end of period 2,314,845 2,421,363 

Current 706,300 170,526 
Long term 1,608,545 2,250,837 

The total future decommissioning obligations were estimated based on the Company’s net ownership interest in 
petroleum and natural gas assets including well sites, gathering systems and facilities, the estimated costs to 
abandon and reclaim the petroleum and natural gas assets and the estimated timing of the costs to be incurred in 
future periods. As at December 31, 2022, the Company estimated the total undiscounted amount of cash flows 
required to settle its decommissioning obligations to be approximately C$2.6 million (2021: C$5.0 million) which 
will be incurred between 2023 and 2078. The majority of these costs will be incurred by 2050. As at December 31, 
2022, an average risk free rate of 3.3% (2021–2.0%) and an inflation rate of 3.3% (2021: 2.0%) were used to 
calculate the decommissioning obligations.
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15	OT HER LIABILITIES

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Accrued compensation per Phantom Unit Plan1 634,935 506,386 
Other payables 20,829 92,464 

Total 655,764 598,850 

(1)	 In December 2019, the directors agreed that upon ceasing to be a member of the Board the cash redemption value of their Phantom Units 

would be paid by the Company not less than 366 days after the Director Termination Date. As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the 

Phantom Unit Plan amounts owing are held as other liabilities. Refer to Note 20 for additional disclosures in respect of the Phantom Unit 

Plan.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, other payables are primarily comprised of office renovation 
and rent inducement expenditures.

16	S HARE CAPITAL

(a)	 Authorized:

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares.

(b)	 Issued:

Common 
Shares Amount

C$

At January 1, 2021 361,886,520 213,426,683 
Shares issued for cash 36,000,000 4,608,100 
Share issuance costs (64,452)
Allocation to contributed surplus for shares issued above market value (2,048,000)

At December 31, 2021 397,886,520 215,922,331 

At January 1, 2022 397,886,520 215,922,331 
Shares issued for cash 52,000,000 7,233,985 
Share issue costs (47,843)
Allocation to contributed surplus for shares issued above market value (3,305,584)

At December 31, 2022 449,886,520 219,802,889 

On November 18, 2022, the Company entered into a private placement subscription agreement to issue 10 
million common shares at a price of HK$1.11 per common share for gross proceeds of HK$11.1 million. As 
at March 30, 2023, the subscription proceeds have not been received and are expected in April 2023. Upon 
receipt, the funds will be used to pay outstanding accounts payable from the exploration well drilled in 
Basing in quarter four of 2023.
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16	S HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(b)	 Issued: (Continued)

On May 5, 2022, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with 大連永力石油化工有限公司 (Dalian 
Yongli Petrochemical Ltd.*) (“Dalian”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally agreed to allot and 
issue, and Dalian has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 17 million common shares at a price of HK$1.00 
per common share. As Dalian is a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, the 
subscription agreement and the transaction contemplated thereunder constitutes a connected transaction of 
the Company under the Listing Rules and is subject to reporting, announcement and Independent 
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. On July 18, 2022 the Company 
completed the placing issuing 17 million common shares for gross proceeds of HK$17 million (C$2.75million). 
At closing, the market price of the Company’s common shares was HK$0.52. The HK$0.48 per common 
share in excess of market value totaling HK$8.16 million (C$1.35 million) was allocated to contributed 
surplus. Share issuance costs of C$0.04 were incurred in respect of this placing. Costs of C$47k were 
incurred in respect of the closing. The proceeds were applied towards the Company’s subordinated debt 
and for general operating costs as detailed in the Company’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2022 
under the heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

On April 29, 2022, the Company completed a private placement issuing 35 million common shares at a price 
of HK$0.80 per common share for gross proceeds of HK$28 million (C$4.48 million). At closing, the market 
price of the Company’s common shares was HK$0.45 per common share. The HK$0.35 per common share 
in excess of market value totaling HK$12.3 million (C$1.96 million) was allocated to contributed surplus. No 
costs were incurred in respect of this placing. All proceeds were applied towards the Company’s 
subordinated debt as detailed in the Company’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2022 under the 
heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

On December 3, 2021, the Company completed a private placement issuing 16 million common shares at a 
price of HK$0.80 per common share for gross proceeds of HK$12.8 million (C$2.05 million). At closing, the 
market price of the Company’s common shares was HK$0.43 per common share. The HK$0.37 per common 
share in excess of market value totaling HK$6.0 million (C$0.96 million) was allocated to contributed surplus. 
No costs were incurred in respect of this placing. Net proceeds were applied towards the Company’s 
subordinated debt as detailed in the Company’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2022 under the 
heading “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

On June 8, 2021 the Company entered into a subscription agreement with Dalian (as subsequently amended 
as detailed in the Company’s announcement on October 28, 2021) pursuant to which the Company 
conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Dalian conditionally agreed to subscribe for 55 million common 
shares at a minimum price of HK$0.80 per common share. As Dalian is a connected person (as defined in 
the Listing Rules) of the Company, the subscription agreement and the transactions contemplated 
thereunder constitute connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and 
are subject to reporting, announcement and Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under 
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Independent Shareholders approval was obtained at a special meeting of 
shareholders on October 15, 2021. On December 13, 2021, the Company completed the first tranche of the 
Dalian subscription agreement issuing 20 million common shares at a price of HK$0.80 per common share 
for gross proceeds of HK$16 million (C$2.56 million). At closing, the market price of the Company’s common 
shares was HK$0.46 per common share. The HK$0.34 per common share in excess of market value totaling 
HK$6.8 million (C$1.09 million) was allocated to contributed surplus. C$65k of costs were incurred in respect 
of this placing. Net proceeds were applied towards the Company’s subordinated debt as detailed in the 
Company’s MD&A for the year ended December 31, 2022 under the heading “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources”.

*	 For identification purpose only
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16	S HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(c)	 Warrants:

On August 13, 2018, the Company issued 8 million warrants to the lender of the subordinated debt facility 
for total consideration of C$0.75 million. The warrants have an exercise price of HK$3.16 per warrant and a 
term of 5 years. Pursuant to the 2020 Restructuring (see Note 13 of the audited financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2021), the Company agreed to re-price the 8 million share purchase warrants 
previously issued to the lender. This re-pricing is subject to the Stock Exchange and Shareholder approval 
which was obtained on August 15, 2022. The new exercise price of HK$0.58 was calculated based on the 
average price of the Common Shares on the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately 
preceding August 15, 2022.

As part of the repayment of the SubDebt (note 29), the warrants were forfeited unexercised.

(d)	S tock options and share-based expenses:

The Company has a stock option plan which was approved and adopted by the shareholders of the 
Company by ordinary resolution passed on June 8, 2018 (the “Option Plan”). The Option Plan is a rolling 
plan and provides that the number of common shares issuable under the Option Plan, together with all of the 
Company’s other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, may not exceed 
10% of the total number of issued and outstanding common shares, on a non-diluted basis, as of the date 
on which the Option Plan is approved by the shareholders. The exercise price of each option equals the 
volume-weighted average market price for the five days preceding the issue date of the Company’s stock on 
the date of grant and the option’s maximum term is ten years. Options granted vest 1/3 on each of the first, 
second and third anniversaries from the date of grant.

Number of Exercise
HK$ except number of options amounts Options Price

At January 1, 2021 and January 1, 2022 3,780,000 $0.52
Granted 800,200 $0.48

At December 31, 2022 4,580,200 $0.51
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16	S HARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(d)	S tock options and share-based expenses:

The average trading price of the Company’s common shares was HK$0.49 per share for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. The following table summarizes stock options outstanding and exercisable at 
December 31, 2022:

Exercise
Price 

Amount
Outstanding 

at Period 
End

Remaining
Contractual

Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price 

Amount
Exercisable 

at Period 
End

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price 
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

$0.52 3,780,000 2.37 years $0.52 2,494,800 $0.52
$0.48 800,200 4.9 years $0.48 — —

$0.51 4,580,200 2.37 years $0.51 2,494,800 $0.52

The fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2022 was estimated on the date of 
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions and 
resulting values:

Year ended 
December 31, 

2022

Exercise price per option HK$0.48 
Risk-free interest rate 4.10%
Estimated hold period prior to exercise 5
Expected volatility 228.0%
Forfeiture rate — 
Dividend per share — 
Fair value per option HK$0.48
HK$ : C$ foreign exchange rate 0.171
Fair value per option C$0.08

(e)	 Contributed surplus:

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, contributed surplus is comprised of the difference between the deemed 
fair value and gross value of the Shareholder Loans (refer to Note 13) at the date of initial recognition, share-
based expenses incurred during the year and the allocation of shares issued during the year in excess of 
market value.
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17	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer (chief operating decision maker) reviews the financial information in order 
to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance. No operating 
segment identified by the Chief Executive Officer has been aggregated in arriving at the reporting segments of the 
Company. For management’s purpose, the Company has only one reportable operating segment, which is the oil 
and gas division. The division is principally engaged in oil and gas production, development, exploration and 
natural gas trading in western Canada for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

The Company’s resources are integrated and as a result, no discrete operating segment financial information is 
available. Since this is the only reportable and operating segment of the Company, no further analysis thereof is 
presented. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the revenue of the Company is generated from oil 
and gas production, natural gas trading and other income comprised of over-riding royalty payments and income 
generated from sources outside normal operations including rental income and subsidies.

Revenue summary

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Commodity sales from production
Natural gas, natural gas liquids and condensate 24,015,824 19,391,638 
Crude oil 2,786,281 2,088,646 

Total commodity sales from production 26,802,105 21,480,284 

Trading revenue (loss)
Natural gas trading revenue 382,804 196,184 
Natural gas trading cost (230,613) (207,301)

Total trading revenue (loss) 152,191 (11,117)

Other income

Total other income 77,414 48,392 

The Company sells its products pursuant to variable-price contracts. The transaction price for variable price 
contracts is based on the commodity price, adjusted for quality, location or other factors, whereby each 
component of the pricing formula can be either fixed or variable, depending on the contract terms. Commodity 
prices are based on market indices that are determined on a monthly, weekly or daily basis. The contracts 
generally have a term of one year or less, whereby delivery takes place throughout the contract period. Revenues 
are typically collected on the 25th day of the month following production.

Trading revenue is realized when the Company purchases natural gas on the open market to meet its forward sale 
obligations. It is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of the costs incurred to 
purchase the natural gas.
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17	 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue summary (Continued)

Other income is comprised of over-riding royalty payments and income generated from sources outside normal 
operations including rental income and subsidies. Over-riding royalty payments are periodically received from 
arm’s length entities, whereby the Company receives a portion of oil and natural gas revenues generated from 
wells in which it holds a royalty interest. For the year ended December 31, 2022, other income was primarily 
comprised of over-riding royalties.

Information about major customers

During the year ended December 31, 2022 the Company had five active customers (2021: four active customers), 
of which three customers exceeded 10% of the Company’s revenues (2021: one customer). The Company’s 
largest customer accounted for 61% of revenues totaling C$16.5 million (2021: 80%, C$17 million), the second 
largest customer accounted for 19% of revenues totaling C$5.2 million (2021: Nil).

Geographical information

The Company’s revenue from external customers and non-current assets are all located in Canada.

Timing of revenue recognition

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, all of the Company’s revenues and commodity sales from 
production is recognized at a point in time.

18	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND WRITE-OFFS

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

E&E write-offs 780,739 277,890 
E&E impairment — — 
PP&E (recovery) impairment (17,459) (4,590,560)

Total 763,280 (4,312,670)

Impairment is assessed based on the recoverable amount compared with the asset’s carrying amount to measure 
the amount of the impairment. In addition, where a non-financial asset does not generate largely independent 
cash inflows, the Company is required to perform its test at cash generating unit (“CGU”), which is the smallest 
identifiable grouping of assets that generates largely independent cash inflows. E&E write-offs consist of land 
lease expires incurred during the period.
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18	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND WRITE-OFFS (Continued)

2022 PP&E impairment (recovery)

At December 31, 2022, the Company identified indicators of impairment and/or impairment recovery in its PP&E 
assets in the Basing, Voyager and Dawson CGU’s attributable to changes in commodity prices and well 
performance. The recoverable amount of the Basing, Voyager and Dawson CGU’s was estimated based upon the 
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. In each case, fair value less costs of disposal was 
used and the recoverable amount is within the Level 3 hierarchy of IFRS 13. The Company calculated the 
recoverable amount of the Basing and Voyager CGU’s based on forecasted cash flows from proved plus probable 
reserves using a 12% and 14% before-tax discount rate, respectively, with escalated prices and future 
development costs as obtained from the independent reserve report. Based on the assessment, the carrying 
amount of the Company’s Basing CGU was higher than its recoverable amount and the Company recognized an 
impairment loss of C$7.6 million as at December 31, 2022. At December 31, 2022, the carrying amount of the 
Dawson CGU was lower than its recoverable amount. No impairment recovery was recorded for the Dawson CGU 
as there were no prior period impairments remaining for Dawson. The carrying amount of the Voyager CGU was 
higher than its recoverable amount and the Company recognized an impairment loss of C$0.7 million at December 
31, 2022.

The Company utilized the following benchmark prices to determine the forecast prices in the FVLCD calculations:

As at December 31, 2022
Edmonton Oil AECO Gas

(C$/Bbl) (C$/mmbtu)

2023 99.27 3.51 
2024 93.19 3.68 
2025 90.62 3.45 
2026 90.84 3.50 
2027 92.24 3.55 
2028 94.08 3.62 
2029 95.96 3.69 
2030 97.88 3.77 
2031 99.84 3.84 
2032 101.35 3.91 
2033 103.38 4.00 
2034(1) +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr

(1)	 Approximate percentage change in each year thereafter after to the end of the reserve life.
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18	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND WRITE-OFFS (Continued)

2022 PP&E impairment (recovery) (Continued)

The following table summarizes the recoverable amount and impairment of the Basing CGU at December 31, 
2022 and demonstrates the sensitivity of the estimated recoverable amount with respect to reasonably possible 
changes in key assumptions inherent in the estimate:

C$
Recoverable

Amount
Impairment
(Recovery)

1%
Change in
Discount 

Rate

C$2.50/bbl
Change in 

Oil and  
NGL Price

C$0.25/mcf
Change in
Gas Price

Basing CGU 33,529,184 7,592,607 1,600,000 300,000 4,100,000 

The estimated recoverable amount of the Voyager and Dawson CGUs were not materially impacted from these 
possible changes in key assumptions.

On March 31 and June 30, 2022, the Company identified indicators of impairment recovery of its PP&E assets in 
the Basing CGU, attributable to changes in commodity prices. The recoverable amount of the Basing CGU was 
estimated based upon the higher of value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. Fair value less costs of 
disposal was used, and the recoverable amount is within the Level 3 hierarchy of IFRS 13. The Company 
calculated the recoverable amount of the Basing CGU based on forecasted cash flows from proved plus probable 
reserves using a 10% before-tax discount rate, with escalated prices and future development costs as obtained 
from the independent reserve report. Based on the assessment, the carrying amount of the Company’s Basing 
CGU million was lower than its recoverable amount, and the Company recognized an impairment recovery of 
C$8.3 million as at June 30, 2022, of which C$4.0 million was recognized at March 31, 2022 and the balance at 
June 30, 2022.

The Company utilized the following benchmark prices to determine the forecast prices in the fair value less costs 
of disposal calculations:

As at June 30, 2022

Edmonton Oil AECO Gas
(C$/Bbl) (C$/mmbtu)

Remainder 2022 131.21 5.81 
2023 110.13 4.45 
2024 95.00 4.06 
2025 91.34 3.73 
2026 93.17 3.81 
2027 95.03 3.89 
2028 96.94 3.98 
2029 98.88 4.06 
2030 100.86 4.15 
2031 102.87 4.24
2032(1) +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr

(1)	 Approximate percentage change in each year thereafter after to the end of the reserve life.
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18	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND WRITE-OFFS (Continued)

2022 PP&E impairment (recovery) (Continued)

The following table summarizes the recoverable amount and impairment recovery of the Basing CGU at June 30, 
2022 and demonstrates the sensitivity of the estimated recoverable amount with respect to reasonably possible 
changes in key assumptions inherent in the estimate:

C$
Recoverable

Amount
Impairment
(Recovery)

1%
Change in
Discount 

Rate

C$2.50/bbl
Change in 

Oil and  
NGL Price

C$0.25/mcf
Change in
Gas Price

Basing CGU 52,285,656 (8,288,615) 2,000,000 200,000 4,300,000 

2021 PP&E impairment (recovery)

At December 31, 2021, the Company identified indicators of impairment and/or impairment recovery in its PP&E 
assets in the Basing, Voyager and Dawson CGU’s attributable to changes in commodity prices and well 
performance. The recoverable amount of the Basing, Voyager and Dawson CGU’s was estimated based upon the 
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. In each case, fair value less costs of disposal was 
used and the recoverable amount is within the Level 3 hierarchy of IFRS 13. The Company calculated the 
recoverable amount of the Basing and Voyager CGU’s based on forecasted cash flows from proved plus probable 
reserves using a 10% and 12% before-tax discount rate, respectively, with escalated prices and future 
development costs as obtained from the independent reserve report. Based on the assessment, the carrying 
amount of the Company’s Basing CGU million was lower than its recoverable amount and the Company 
recognized an impairment recovery of C$4.9 million as at December 31, 2021. At December 31, 2021, the 
carrying amount of the Dawson CGU was lower than its recoverable amount and the Company recognized an 
impairment recovery of C$0.15 million. The carrying amount of the Voyager CGU was higher than its recoverable 
amount and the Company recognized an impairment loss of C$0.5 million at December 31, 2021.
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18	 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND WRITE-OFFS (Continued)

2021 PP&E impairment (recovery) (Continued)

The Company utilized the following benchmark prices to determine the forecast prices in the FVLCD calculations:

As at December 31, 2021
Edmonton Oil AECO Gas

(C$/Bbl) (C$/mmbtu)

2022	 86.82 3.31
2023	 80.73 2.96
2024	 78.01 2.80
2025	 79.57 2.86
2026	 81.16 2.92
2027	 82.78 2.98
2028	 84.44 3.04
2029	 86.13 3.11
2030	 87.85 3.17
2031	 89.60 3.24
2032	 91.40 3.30
2033	 93.23 3.37
2034	 95.09 3.44
2035	 96.99 3.51
2036	 98.93 3.58
2037(1) +2.0%/yr +2.0%/yr

The following table summarizes the recoverable amount and impairment recovery of the Basing CGU at December 
31, 2021 and demonstrates the sensitivity of the estimated recoverable amount with respect to reasonably 
possible changes in key assumptions inherent in the estimate:

C$
Recoverable

Amount Impairment

1%
Change in

Discount 
Rate

C$2.50/bbl
Change in 

Oil and 
NGL Price

C$0.25/mcf
Change in
Gas Price

Basing CGU 40,869,952 (4,910,578) 1,460,000 350,000 4,600,000 

The estimated recoverable amount of the Voyager and Dawson CGUs were not materially impacted from these 
possible changes in key assumptions.
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19	 PERSONNEL COSTS, REMUNERATION POLICY AND AUDITORS’ 
REMUNERATION

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Salaries, wages and other benefits (net of recoveries) 1,494,318 1,674,062 
Retirement benefits contribution 27,046 21,762 

Total 1,521,364 1,695,824 

The Company’s remuneration and bonus policies are determined by the performance of individual employees. 
The emolument of the executives are recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company, having 
regard to the Company’s operating results, the executives’ duties and responsibilities within the Company and 
comparable market statistics.

During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, no salary expenditures qualified for recovery from Jixing 
pursuant to the Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression Agreements as disclosed in Note 26b.

Phantom Unit Plan for independent non-executive directors

The Company has in place a phantom unit plan for its independent non-executive directors effective March 10, 
2017 and applied retrospectively started from February 26, 2016 (the “Phantom Unit Plan”). In order for the 
eligible directors to receive the phantom units issued under the Phantom Unit Plan (the “Phantom Units”), they 
need to complete a participation form prior to the commencement of each fee period (i.e. twelve-month period 
commencing January 1 and ending on December 31). Since 2016, all independent non-executive directors 
agreed to receive 60% of their C$100,000 annual fee (“Independent Directors’ Fee”) in the form of phantom 
units, and the remainder in cash. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Independent Directors 
Fee was paid quarterly as C$10,000 in cash and C$15,000 under the Phantom Unit Plan (the “Phantom Fee”), 
with each independent non-executive director annually receiving C$40,000 in cash and C$60,000 in Phantom 
Units.

Under the terms of the Phantom Unit Plan, the Company calculates the Phantom Units dividing the Phantom Fee 
by the weighted average-trading price of the Company’s common shares for the five days preceding each quarter 
end multiplied by the number of Phantom Units awarded during the quarter. For the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021, total compensation accrued for each director under the Phantom Unit Plan is based on the total 
number of units awarded in the preceding quarters multiplied by the weighted average-trading price of the 
Company’s common shares for the five days preceding the period end.
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19	 PERSONNEL COSTS, REMUNERATION POLICY AND AUDITORS’ 
REMUNERATION (Continued)

Phantom Unit Plan for independent non-executive directors (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred C$0.13 million of directors’ compensation per 
the Phantom Unit Plan (2021: C$0.33 million). As at December 31, 2022, the total accrued compensation for 
independent non-executive directors per the Phantom Unit Plan was C$0.63 million (2021: C$0.59 million).

In December 2019, the directors agreed that upon ceasing to be a member of the Board (the “Director 
Termination Date”), the cash redemption value of their Phantom Units is calculated as the number of units 
redeemed multiplied by the trading price of the Company’s shares at the Director Termination Date. The directors 
agreed that this value would be paid by the Company not less than 366 days after the Director Termination Date. 
During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company paid C$.01 million to a former director pursuant to the 
Phantom Unit Plan.

Auditors’ remuneration

Auditors’ remuneration incurred during the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Audit services 415,700 382,200 
Non-audit services 13,076 — 
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20	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong) and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as 
follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2022:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement

Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Share-based Total
C$ Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments Emoluments

Executive directors
Pingzai Wang1 — 336,000 — — 20,000 356,000 
Yongtan Liu2 — — — — — — 

Independent non-executive  
directors

Richard Orman3 40,000 — — — 38,821 78,822 
Larry Smith3 40,000 — — — 50,906 90,906 
Peter Robertson3 40,000 — — — 38,821 78,822 

Total 120,000 336,000 — — 148,548 604,548 

(1)	 Pingzai Wang was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company on March 4, 2020, and appointed as executive director of the 

Company on July 1, 2020. The amounts disclosed above for Mr. Wang are total of all emoluments he received during the year ended 

December 31, 2022.

(2)	 Yongtan Liu does not receive any emoluments from the Company for his services. Refer to Note 26 for additional disclosures in respect of 

transactions with Mr. Liu and his affiliated entities.

(3)	 Each of the independent non-executive directors’ compensation is C$0.1 million per year, C$0.04 million paid in cash quarterly (C$10,000 

per quarter), and C$0.06 million paid in Phantom Units quarterly (C$15,000 per quarter) for total gross compensation of C$0.3 million for the 

three independent non-executive directors. The directors’ fees reflect the adjustment for the fair value of the Phantom Unit component as 

described in Note 19. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred C$0.13 million of directors’ compensation per the 

Phantom Unit Plan as a result of the increase in the trading price of the Company’s common shares. After giving effect to this expense, the 

Company incurred total independent non-executive directors’ compensation expense of C$0.25 million for the year ended December 31, 

2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, there was no amount paid or payable by the Company to the directors 
(except the directors’ compensation per the Phantom Unit Plan) or any of the five highest paid individuals as set 
out in Note 21 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or as compensation for loss of office. 
There was no arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 
year ended December 31, 2022.
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20	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Year Ended December 31, 2021:

Salaries,
allowances Retirement

Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme Share-based Total
C$ Fees in kind bonuses contributions payments Emoluments

Executive directors
Pingzai Wang1 — 330,000 — — 46,667 376,667
Yongtan Liu2 — — — — — —

Independent non-executive 
directors

Richard Orm an3 130,242 — — — — 130,242
Larry Smith3, 4 73,274 — — — — 73,274
Peter Roberts on3 130,242 — — — — 130,242

Total 333,758 330,000 — — 46,667 710,425

(1)	 Pingzai Wang was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company on March 4, 2020, and appointed as executive director of the 

Company on July 1, 2020. The amounts disclosed above for Mr. Wang are total of all emoluments he received during the year ended 

December 31, 2021.

(2)	 Yongtan Liu does not receive any emoluments from the Company for his services. Refer to Note 26 for additional disclosures in respect of 

transactions with Mr. Liu and his affiliated entities.

(3)	 Each of the independent non-executive directors’ compensation is C$0.1 million per year, C$0.04 million paid in cash quarterly (C$10,000 

per quarter), and C$0.06 million paid in Phantom Units quarterly (C$15,000 per quarter) for total gross compensation of C$0.3 million for the 

three independent non-executive directors. The directors’ fees reflect the adjustment for the fair value of the Phantom Unit component as 

described in Note 19. During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company incurred C$0.33 million of directors’ compensation per the 

Phantom Unit Plan as a result of the increase in the trading price of the Company’s common shares. After giving effect to this recovery, the 

Company incurred total independent non-executive directors’ compensation expense of C$0.45 million for the year ended December 31, 

2021.

(4)	 Larry Smith was appointed independent non-executive director of the Company on December 4, 2020.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, there was no amount paid or payable by the Company to the directors 
(except the directors’ compensation per the Phantom Unit Plan) or any of the five highest paid individuals as set 
out in Note 21 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company or as compensation for loss of office. 
There was no arrangement under which a director has waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the 
year ended December 31, 2021.
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21	 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, Pingzai Wang is a director of the Company as at December 
31, 2022 and 2021. His emoluments are disclosed in Note 20, the aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the 
other four individuals for each respective year is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Salaries and other emoluments 937,330 696,780 
Share-based compensation 50,400 70,933 
Bonus 32,836 36,623 

Total 1,020,566 804,336 

The emoluments of the above four individuals with the highest annual emoluments are within the following bands:

Year ended December 31,

Hong Kong dollars 2022 2021

Nil–1,000,000 1 2
1,000,001–1,500,000 — — 
1,500,001–2,000,000 2 1
2,000,001–2,500,000 1 1
2,500,001–3,000,000 — — 
3,500,001–4,000,000 — — 
4,500,001–5,000,000 — — 
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22	 FINANCE EXPENSES

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Interest expense and financing costs:
Subordinated debt (Note 13) 2,060,794 3,887,522 
Right of use assets and leases (Note 11) 289,854 295,333 
Commitment charges 78,612 128,774 
Capital payables (Note 12) 131,430 191,325 
Other financing costs and bank charges 7,258 28,397 

Accretion expenses:
Decommissioning liabilities (Note 14) 74,503 32,460 
Shareholder loans (Note 13) 99,005 (26,283)

Amortization of debt issuance costs 515,777 516,457 
Loss on foreign exchange (75) 607

Total finance expenses 3,257,158 5,054,592 

(1)	 For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, commitment charges are primarily comprised of costs associated with the Company’s 

PSG facility (Note 27).

23	 INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes differs from the result that would have been obtained by applying the combined 
federal and provincial tax rates to the loss before income taxes. The difference results from the following items:

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

Loss before income taxes (3,579,321) (4,808,815)
Combined Federal and Provincial tax rate 23.0% 23.0%

Expected tax benefit (823,244) (1,106,027)

Increase in taxes resulting from:
Non deductible expenses 78,236 27,305 
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 745,007 (24,873)
Change in enacted tax rate — 1,103,595 

Income tax expense — — 

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the blended statutory tax rate was 23% (2021: 23%). In the second 
quarter of 2019, the Alberta corporate income tax rate was reduced from 12 percent to eight percent over a four 
year period. The rate was reduced from 12% to 11% effective July 1, 2019 and will be further reduced by 1% on 
January 1 for each of the next three years until it reaches 8% on January 1, 2022.
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23	 INCOME TAXES (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized for the following deductible temporary differences:

Year ended December 31,

C$ 2022 2021

PP&E and E&E assets 87,576,361 81,728,141 
Decommissioning obligations 2,314,845 2,421,363 
Non-capital losses and other 37,939,556 38,988,671 
Lease liabilities 592,121 2,743,606 
Debt and other 1,132,759 — 
Share issue costs 314,924 746,791 

Total 129,870,564 126,628,572 

At December 31, 2022, the Company has approximately C$127 million of tax deductions, which include loss carry 
forwards of approximately C$38 million that will begin to expire in 2037.

24	 LOSS PER SHARE

Year ended December 31,

C$ except share amounts 2022 2021

Loss and comprehensive loss (3,579,321) (4,808,815)
Weighted average number of common shares 429,349,534 364,100,219 

Income (loss) per share — basic and diluted (0.01) (0.01)

There were 4.58 million (2021: 3.78 million) options and 8 million warrants excluded from the weighted-average 
share calculations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 because they were anti-dilutive.

25	 DIVIDEND

The Board did not approve the payment of a dividend for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

26	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)	T ransactions with key management personnel

Key management compensation for the year ended December 31, 2022 totaled C$1.02 million (2021: 
C$1.02 million).
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26	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)	T ransactions with directors

Directors’ Fees and Phantom Unit Plan
Each of the independent non-executive directors’ compensation is C$0.1 million per year, C$0.04 million 
paid in cash quarterly (C$10,000 per quarter), and C$0.06 million paid in Phantom Units quarterly (C$15,000 
per quarter) for total gross compensation of C$0.3 million for the three independent non-executive directors. 
The directors’ fees reflect the adjustment for the fair value of the Phantom Unit component as described in 
Note 19. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred C$0.13 million of directors’ 
compensation per the Phantom Unit Plan as a result of the decrease in the trading price of the Company’s 
common shares. After giving effect to this cost, the Company incurred total independent non-executive 
directors’ compensation expense of C$0.13 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 (2021—C$0.5 
million). As at December 31, 2022, the accrued compensation for independent non-executive directors per 
the Phantom Unit Plan was C$0.6 million (2021: C$0.5 million).

Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression Agreements
On May 9, 2019, the Company entered into a gas handling agreement with Jixing Energy (Canada) Ltd. 
(“Jixing”) (collectively the “Jixing Gas Handling Agreement”). Jixing is a private Canadian company 
controlled by Yongtan Liu, who was appointed as director and Chairman of the Company on December 18, 
2019. Under the terms of the Jixing Gas Handling Agreement, the Company will transport its gas from the 
Voyager area through Jixing’s gas gathering system. The agreement has a term of May 9, 2019 to December 
31, 2044, however the Company’s obligations commenced with the commissioning of production operations 
at Voyager on June 29, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred total costs of 
C$3.9 million in respect of this agreement (2021: C$3.4 million).

On November 1, 2019, the Company and Jixing entered into a gas compression agreement (the “Jixing 
Voyager Compression Agreement”). The agreement has a term of November 1, 2019 to December 31, 
2026, however the Company’s obligations commenced with the commissioning of production operations at 
Voyager on June 29, 2020. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company incurred total costs of 
C$2.3 million in respect of this agreement (2021—C$2.3 million).

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has a total balance owing to Jixing of C$2.6 million (2021—C$4.89 
million). Pursuant to the 2022 Restructuring of the Company’s debt (see Note 13), any payment made to a 
related party is subject to the Insider Payment Restrictions and prohibited unless the loan balance is equal 
to or less than C$15 million; or if the loan balance is less than C$17.5 million, but greater than C$15 million, 
the Debt to Trailing EBITDA Ratio requirement from the 2021 Restructuring was waived, and the Company 
repaid C$3 million during the year.

Under the terms of the Jixing Gas Handling and Jixing Voyager Compression Agreements the Company will 
pay the following tariffs to Jixing annually from 2022 to 2044:

Monthly Monthly Total Total
C$ Gas Handling Compression Monthly Annual

2023 405,150 146,000 551,150 6,613,800 
2024 501,875 146,000 647,875 7,774,500 
2025 618,219 146,000 764,219 9,170,625 
2026 765,740 146,000 911,740 10,940,875 
2027–2044 433,438 — 433,438 5,201,250 
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26	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)	T ransactions with directors (Continued)

Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression Agreements (Continued)
Pursuant to the Jixing Gas Handling and Voyager Compression Agreements, past costs incurred by the 
Company in respect of the Voyager gas gathering system and pipeline projects will be repaid by Jixing, 
along with annual charges of overhead and administrative costs incurred by the Company on behalf of 
Jixing. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has not recovered administrative 
costs per the contracts.

Prior to December 18, 2019, Jixing was not a related party to the Company, the terms of the agreements 
were determined through arm’s length negotiations, giving reference to the prevailing market rates quoted 
on normal commercial terms by providers of similar services in the same or nearby geographical regions.

Shareholder Loans
On December 23, 2019, Jixing advanced C$0.675 million to the Company (the “2019 Shareholder Loan”). 
The full proceeds of the 2019 Shareholder Loan were applied to amounts due in respect of the Contract (refer 
to Note 12). The 2019 Shareholder Loan had an initial term of two years, is unsecured, non-interest bearing, 
carries no covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole discretion. In calculating the C$0.6 
million fair value of the 2019 Shareholder Loan as at December 31, 2019, the Company applied an effective 
interest rate of 5.97%, comprised of 4% base plus 1.97% Canadian Dealer Offered Rate (“CDOR”). The 
residual of C$0.07 million was recorded to Contributed Surplus (refer to Note 16). On April 27, 2021, the 
Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 Shareholder Loan to December 23, 2022, and 
on December 31, 2021 the Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 Shareholder Loan to 
December 23, 2023. On March 11, 2023, the Company and Jixing agreed to extend the term of the 2019 
Shareholder Loan to December 31, 2025.

On June 2, 2020, a JX director advanced C$2 million to the Company (the “2020 Shareholder Loan”). The 
proceeds of the 2020 Shareholder Loan were used for working capital and general corporate purposes. The 
2020 Shareholder Loan had an initial term of two years, is unsecured, non-interest bearing, carries no 
covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole discretion. In calculating the C$1.85 million 
fair value of the 2020 Shareholder Loan as at June 2, 2020, the Company assumed an effective interest rate 
of 4% per annum base plus one month CDOR, over the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan. On this basis the 
effective rate was 4.28% per annum, comprised of 4% base plus 0.28% CDOR. The residual of C$0.16 
million was recorded to Contributed Surplus (refer to Note 16). On December 31, 2021, the Company and 
director agreed to extend the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan to June 2, 2023. On March 11, 2023, the 
Company and director agreed to extend the term of the 2020 Shareholder Loan to December 31, 2025.

On September 1, 2021, the Company and a JX director arranged a loan facility for up to C$3 million (the “2021 
Shareholder Loan”). C$1.5 million was advanced to the Company on the same day, the remaining C$1.5 
million was advanced to the Company on October 27, 2021. The 2021 Shareholder Loan matured on 
December 31, 2021, subject to the Insider Repayment Restrictions. The 2021 Shareholder Loan is 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, carries no covenants, and is repayable at any time at the Company’s sole 
discretion subject to the Insider Repayment Restrictions. As at December 31, 2022, the 2021 Shareholder 
Loan was substantially repaid, with C$0.002 million remaining. On January 31, 2023, the remaining balance 
of the 2021 Shareholder Loan was paid in full.
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27	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Overview

The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity and market risk from its use of financial instruments. This note 
presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the risks, the Company’s objectives, policies and 
processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Company’s management of capital.

The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the Company, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and the 
Company’s activities.

(a)	 Credit risk
The Company’s credit risk on cash arises from possible default of the counterparty. The Company limits its 
exposure to counterparty credit risk on cash by only dealing with financial institutions with high credit ratings.

Credit risk on trade and other receivables is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or 
counter-party to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the 
Company’s receivables from purchasers of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas and joint venture 
partners. The Company seeks to manage its credit risk on trade and other receivables by trading with third 
party customers it considers to be creditworthy. As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s accounts 
receivables consisted of C$2.6 million (2021: C$2.1 million) due from purchasers of the Company’s crude oil 
and natural gas and C$2k (2021: C$0.3 million) of other receivables.

Receivables from purchasers of the Company’s crude oil and natural gas when outstanding are normally 
collected on the 25th day of the month following production. The carrying amount of accounts receivable 
and cash balances represents the maximum credit exposure. In determining whether amounts past due are 
collectible, the Company will assess the nature of the past due amounts as well as the credit worthiness and 
past payment history of the counterparty. The Company has determined that no allowance for impairment 
was necessary as at December 31, 2022. The Company has also not written off any receivables during the 
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 as trade accounts receivables were collected in full. There are 
no material financial assets that the Company considers past due and at risk of collection. As at December 
31, 2022 and 2021, all of the trade receivables were less than 30 days old.

(b)	 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become 
due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, to the extent possible, that it will have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions. The Company will 
attempt to match its payment cycle with collection of crude oil and natural gas revenues on the 25th of each 
month. The Company prepares annual budgets and updates forecasts for operating, financing and investing 
activities on an ongoing basis to ensure it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due (see 
Note 3).
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27	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Overview (Continued)

(b)	 Liquidity risk (Continued)
The current challenging economic climate may lead to adverse changes in cash flow, working capital levels 
or debt balances, which may also have a direct impact on the Company’s results and financial position. 
These and other factors may adversely affect the Company’s liquidity and the Company’s ability to generate 
profits in the future. The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 
2022:

C$
Carrying
amount Total

1 year or 
less 1–2 years 2–5 years 5+ years

Accounts payable and acc. 
liabilities 20,882,800 20,882,800 20,882,800 — — — 

Other liabilities 655,764 655,764 — 655,764 — — 
Lease liabilities 1,730,474 1,981,753 1,027,040 759,540 195,173 — 
Shareholder loans1 2,623,699 2,675,000 2,675,000 — — — 
Subordinated debt2 15,513,731 15,750,000 15,750,000 — — — 

Total 41,406,469 41,945,317 40,334,840 1,415,304 195,173 — 

(1)	 Gross value of shareholder loans as per Note 13

(2)	 Subordinated debt plus accrued and unpaid interest as per Note 13 which matures on May 15, 2023. See subsequent event note 29 

for details of repayment.

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2021:

C$ 
Carrying
amount Total

1 year or 
less 1–2 years 2–5 years 5+ years 

Accounts payable and acc. 
liabilities 17,144,921 17,144,921 17,144,921 — — — 

Other liabilities 598,850 598,850 — 598,850 — — 
Leas e liabilities 2,448,273 2,901,726 1,039,105 1,013,041 849,580 — 
Shareholder loans 1 5,507,007 5,675,000 3,000,000 2,675,000 — —
Subordinated debt2 19,847,954 20,550,000 5,000,000 15,550,000 — —

Total 45,547,005 46,870,497 26,184,026 19,836,891 849,580 —

(1)	 Gross value of shareholder loan as per Note 13

(2)	 Subordinated debt plus accrued and unpaid interest as per Note 13 which matures on May 15, 2023
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27	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Overview (Continued)

(c)	 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market metrics, such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates that will affect the Company’s valuation of financial instruments, the debt levels of the 
Company, as well as its profit and cash flow from operations. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.

Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
commodity prices. Commodity prices for crude oil and natural gas are impacted by not only the relationship 
between the Canadian and United States dollar but also world economic events that dictate the levels of 
supply and demand. The Company has taken advantage of the low price environment and purchased from 
the market to fulfill the committed forward contracts for natural gas, saving operating costs and arbitraging 
from the price difference. The Company did not enter into any financial derivatives for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Interest rate risk
As at December 31, 2022, the Company’s debts are comprised of lease liabilities, shareholder’s loans, 
SubDebt and amounts owing under the Contract (refer to Note 12), which all carry a fixed interest rate. As at 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has no variable rate borrowings. As such, a one percent 
change in prevailing interest rates would not change the Company’s net income (loss) for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Foreign currency risk
The Company manages foreign exchange risk by monitoring foreign exchange rates and evaluating their 
effects on using Canadian versus United States or Hong Kong vendors as well as timing of transactions. The 
Company recognizes a foreign exchange gain/loss based on the revaluation of monetary items held in 
United States Dollars (“USD”) or Hong Kong Dollars (“HKD”) and the value changes with the fluctuation in 
the USD/CAD and HKD/CAD exchange rates. As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company’s overall 
net exposure to foreign exchange risk is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

Expressed in C$ 2022 2021

HKD Cash and cash equivalents 1,493 46,957 
HKD Trade and other receivables — — 
HKD Trade and other payables (403,806) (375,155)
USD Trade and other payables (28,788) — 

Overall net exposure (431,101) (328,198)

Changes in the HKD/CAD foreign exchange rate of less than 10% would not materially change the 
Company’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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27	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Overview (Continued)

(d)	 Capital management
The Company’s general policy is to maintain an appropriate capital base in order to manage its business in 
the most effective manner with the goal of increasing the value of its assets and thus its underlying share 
value. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial flexibility in order to 
preserve its ability to meet financial obligations; to maintain a capital structure that allows the Company to 
favor the financing of its growth strategy using internally-generated cash flow and its debt capacity; and to 
optimize the use of its capital to provide an appropriate investment return to its shareholders.

The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying crude oil and natural gas assets. The Company 
considers its capital structure to include shareholders’ equity, shareholder loans, subordinated debt, other 
liabilities and working capital. To assess capital and operating efficiency and financial strength, the 
Company continually monitors its net debt.

The Company has not paid nor declared any dividends since its inception.

As part of its capital management process, the Company prepares budgets and forecasts, which are used 
by management and the Board of Directors to direct and monitor the strategy and ongoing operations and 
liquidity of the Company. Budgets and forecasts are subject to significant judgment and estimates relating 
to activity levels, future cash flows and the timing thereof and other factors which may or may not be within 
the control of the Company.

The following represents the capital structure of the Company:

As at As at

C$
December 31, 

2022
December 31, 

2021

Long term debt (excluding current portion as per Note 13) — 17,354,961
Other liabilities 655,764 598,850
Long term lease liabilities (current portion included 

in net working capital deficit) 861,879 1,635,918
Net working capital deficit 36,967,968 22,739,899

Net debt 38,485,611 42,329,628
Shareholders’ equity 8,677,550 5,013,809

Total 47,163,161 47,343,437
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27	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Overview (Continued)

(e)	 Performance services guarantee (“PSG”) facility
On April 25, 2018, the Company obtained a PSG facility from Economic Development Canada (“EDC”) 
totaling C$4.4 million. On July 30, 2020 the aggregate PSG was reduced to C$1.85 million. On October 17, 
2022, the aggregate PSG was reduced to C$1.55 million. Under the terms of the PSG facility, EDC will 
guarantee qualifying letters of credit (“L/C”) on behalf of the Company. Previously, these L/C’s were cash 
collateralized, following approval by the EDC the requirement of the Company to hold cash to underwrite the 
L/C is relieved for the duration of the PSG approval. Under the terms of the PSG facility, the L/C guarantee 
period is the lesser of one year or the term of the L/C if less than 12 months. The guarantee can be renewed 
annually for long term L/C’s subject to subsequent approval by the EDC. As at December 31, 2022, the 
Company has PSG coverage for the following L/C’s:

Amount Expiry

C$1,100,000 March 16, 2023
C$408,158 December 30, 2023

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred fees totaling C$0.1 million in 
relation to the PSG facility.

The PSG facility has a 12 month term and must be renewed annually. The current term expires on September 
30, 2023. If the facility is not approved for renewal, the PSG coverage will terminate at the expiry of the 
existing L/C’s and the Company will seek alternative insurance arrangements to guarantee the L/C’s or cash 
collateralize them.

On March 16, 2023, the L/C for C$1,100,000 was reduced to C$710,000 in accordance with the contract.



JX Energy Ltd.
Annual Report 2022 155

For the year ended December 31, 2022
(Expressed in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to the Financial Statements

28	 COMMITMENTS

Commitments and contingencies exist under various agreements and operations in the normal course of the 
Company’s business. The following table outlines the Company’s commitments to third parties as at December 
31, 2022:

Less than After 
C$ Total 1 year 1–2 years 2–5 years 5 years

Transportation commitment 13,671,635 3,492,055 3,492,055 6,687,525 — 
Jixing agreements2 122,921,050 6,613,800 7,774,500 25,312,750 83,220,000 
PSG facility1 1,508,158 1,508,158 — — — 

Total 138,100,843 11,614,013 11,266,555 32,000,276 83,220,000 

(1)	 The PSG facility commitment will only be due if the facility is not renewed and the L/C’s are cash collateralized by the Company (see Note 

27).

(2)	 The transportation commitment reflects the transfer of 47 MMcfd/d effective April 1, 2022 as detailed below.

Transportation Commitment:

The Company entered into a take or pay firm service transportation agreement with committed transportation 
volumes as below:

Description
Volume

(MMcf/d) Effective date Expiring date Duration

JX FT-R with NGTL 61.45 2018-12-01 2026-11-30 5 years

The firm service transportation agreements cover the period from November 1, 2013 to November 30, 2026 (the 
firm service fee varies and is subject to review by the counter-party on an annual basis). The amounts presented 
in the Commitments table above for the transportation service commitment fee is based on fixed transportation 
capacity as per these agreements and management’s best estimate of future transportation charges. On April 1, 
2022 the Company transferred 47 MMcf/d of its FT-R obligations to another issuer.
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29	SUBS EQUENT EVENT

SubDebt Repayment and New Long-term Debt

The Company obtained new long-term debt through a combination of a shareholder loan from Jixing for US$8 
million, and US$3.5 million from CIMC Leasing USA, Inc. (the “CIMC Loan”). As a condition of the shareholder 
loan and CIMC Loan, on March 27, 2023 the Company repaid the outstanding SubDebt balance of C$15.75 
million plus interest of C$115,958.91.

The shareholder loan will have a term of 48 months and bare interest of 9.25% per annum. The Company will be 
required to make monthly interest and principal payments of US$200,031.36.

The CIMC Loan will have a term of 48 months, bare interest of 9.25% per annum and is secured by the fixed 
assets owned by the Company, excluding its Oil and Gas assets, and a personal guarantee from Mr. Yongtan Liu, 
the Company’s Chairman. The Company will be required to make monthly interest and principal payments of 
US$87,513.72.

The CIMC Loan will be senior to all other debt and equity payments, including the Jixing Gas Handling and Jixing 
Voyager Compression Agreements.

Mr. Liu and/or interests under his control, have loans with CIMC Capital (China), the parent company of CIMC 
Leasing USA, Inc. In the event that there is a default with the existing loans with CIMC Capital (China), it will 
trigger a default of the CIMC Loan and shareholder loan from Jixing, and the outstanding balances will 
immediately become due.
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